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JM AB (publ) has its registered office in Stockholm
Company reg. no. 556045-2103

financial calendar
24 April 2001: Annual General Meeting 

24 April 2001: Interim report for the period January–March 2001
16 August 2001: Interim report for the period January–June 2001

23 October 2001: Interim report for the period January–September 2001
February 2002: Year-end report for 2001

Welcome to JM’s Annual General Meeting

TIME AND PLACE
JM’s Annual General Meeting will be held at 5:00 p.m.on Tuesday,24 April 2001,
at JM’s head office,Telegrafgatan 4, Frösunda, Solna.

NOTIFICATION, ETC.
Shareholders who wish to participate in the meeting:
– must be entered in the register of shareholders maintained by VPC AB 

(the Swedish Securities Register Center) by Thursday, 12 April 2001, and
– must have informed the Company of their intention to participate by 4:00 p.m. on

Wednesday, 18 April 2001.

E-mail: maylis.ahlstedt@jm.se
Fax: +46-8-782 86 12
Telephone: +46-8-782 87 00
Mail: JM AB, SE-169 82 Stockholm

In order to participate in the Meeting, owners of shares registered in the name of a
trustee must have their shares temporarily registered in their own name well in
advance of 12 April 2001.

DIVIDEND
The Board of Directors proposes that the shareholders receive a dividend of SEK 10
per share.The proposed record date is Friday, 27 April 2001. Provided that the
Meeting decides in favour of the proposal, dividends will be paid by VPC on Thursday,
3 May 2001.

Cover: Stockholm’s largest hotel,Nordic Hotel, saw 
the light of day in 2000.The hotel,owned by JM, is an
easy walk from Stockholm Central and the Arlanda
Express terminal.

In Gröndal, south of Stockholm, JM and its subsidiary
Borätt are building spectacular warehouse apartments
with a view of the water and a ceiling height of five
meters.
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A LEADING PROJECT DEVELOPER OF RESIDENTIAL
AND COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE

JM is a leading project developer of residential and commercial real
estate. JM acquires both undeveloped and developed land and trans-
forms it into attractive real estate projects through construction, reno-
vation or extension.The focus of project development is on housing
production,a segment in which JM is the market-leader in both Sweden
and Norway. At year-end 2000,the Group had around 2,300 employees.
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Key events

JM sells JM Maskin-
service including all
storage units, machin-
ery and equipment
sheds to Cramo for
MSEK 75. JM signs a
long-term collabora-
tion agreement under
which Cramo will pro-
vide for the JM Group’s
machinery needs in
Sweden.

JM acquires 45,000
square meters of land
in the Kungsholmen
area of Stockholm
from Scancem for
MSEK 295. Building
rights for around 300
units.

JM purchases the
Lustgården 6 property
on western Kungs-
holmen from the City
of Stockholm for
MSEK 262.The prop-
erty contains around
35,000 square meters
of floor space.

JM acquires land in
Gustavsberg in the
municipality of Värmdö
through an exchange
transaction with
Gyllenforsen.The
acquisition includes
1,550 hectares of land,
700 apartments,
50,000 square meters
of commercial space
and more than 1,000
building rights.The ex-
changed assets are val-
ued at around MSEK
350.

The subsidiary JM
Danmark acquires
building rights for
18,700 square meters
near the waterfront in
central Copenhagen,
where 170 apartments
are planned.
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JM sells the Träsk-
floden 15 property by
Jarlaplan in Stockholm
for a price of MSEK
401.

Groundbreaking for
the first “smart” multi-
family dwelling, 126
apartments on the
Vallgossen block of
Kungsholmen in
Stockholm.

JM’s real estate port-
folio in Gothenburg is
divested.
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JM, Peab and Wihlborgs
form a property develop-
ment company with the
intention of acquiring and
developing the Kranen
area of Malmö. Building
rights for around 225,000
square meters, corre-
sponding to approximately
1,200 residential units.
The total purchase price
is MSEK 337.5.

The world’s first FSC cer-
tified multifamily dwelling
is inaugurated. FSC certifi-
cation is a guarantee that
the raw materials come
from responsibly managed
forests.The project is a
unique collaboration
between JM/Seniorgården
and the World Wildlife
Fund,WWF.

Inauguration of Europe’s
first Smart Home on
the island of Värmdö
outside Stockholm.

JM acquires two water-
front properties in
Lomma harbour from
Wihlborgs. 700 resi-
dential units are
planned and the pur-
chase price amounts
to MSEK 100.

Skanska divests its
shareholding in JM.

JM wins an award for
the “Best Annual
Report of 1999” in a
competition arranged
by SEB, the OM Stock-
holm Stock Exchange
and the financial news-
paper Finanstidningen.
JM’s annual report is
chosen as one of the
five best in the “Large
Corporations” category.

JM Danmark acquires
building rights for
41,000 square meters
in Copenhagen. 350
residential units are
planned.The purchase
complements JM’s ear-
lier acquisition of
building rights for 170
units in the same area.

GROUP 
SUMMARY 2000 1999

Net sales (MSEK) 6,849 5,825

Profit after
financial items (MSEK) 1,209 634

Return on equity (%) 24 15

Earnings per share (SEK) 25.40 13.30

Dividend per share (SEK) 10.00* 6.75

Visible equity ratio (%) 33 28

Debt/equity ratio (times) 1.4 1.8

Number of shareholders 3,597 3,412

Average number of employees 2,163 2,143

* As proposed by the Board.

• Earnings per share increased by 91 per cent to
SEK 25.40 (13.30).

• Profit after financial items was MSEK 1,209
(634).

• Return on shareholders’ equity was 24.4 (14.8)
per cent.

• Profit in project development rose by 92 per
cent to MSEK 637 (332).The operating margin
strengthened to 10.3 (6.5) per cent.

• Gains on the sale of management properties
amounted to MSEK 535 (330).

• Interest-bearing loans totalled MSEK 5,610
(6,014) with an average interest rate of 5.8 (5.9)
per cent at year-end.

• Interest-bearing net debt amounted to MSEK
5,117 (5,588).

Financial summary
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JM had its best year ever in 2000, when
both profit and sales reached levels that
surpassed even our own very high ex-
pectations. Consequently, there is much
to celebrate in this annual report – for
both the shareholders and the employees.

This exceptional growth in earnings
was the result of a renewal process that
began several years ago. In reality it has
been more of a transformation in which
JM has departed from its traditional role
as building contractor and property man-
ager and evolved into a successful proj-
ect developer of residential and commer-
cial properties. Our greatest challenge in
the next few years will be to consolidate
and advance this position. We are well
equipped for this task.

faster pace

The near 100 percent increase in operat-
ing profit during 2000 was ample proof
that our focus on project development
was the right move. Our realignment has
contributed to a faster pace in both trans-
actions and other operations.

In 2000 we launched a new organiza-
tion with five business units, four of
which are focused exclusively on project
development. The fifth is responsible for
divesting our fully developed properties
and identifying new opportunities for
project development.

new targets show higher aims 

In 2000 more than every second new
tenant-owned apartment in Sweden was
developed by JM, which says quite a lot

about our strong market position. Dur-
ing the year we set new targets that
clearly demonstrate our higher aims and
scope for further improvement in earn-
ings. According to these targets, we will
produce 4,500 residential units per year
by 2003. At the same time, we will
achieve a minimum operating margin of
12 per cent in project development. In
2000 the corresponding figure was 3,000
units and the margin reached an unprece-
dented 10.3 per cent, which indicates that
the new targets are entirely within reach.

One prerequisite for this increase in
activity is an abundant supply of devel-
opable projects. Our portfolio now in-
cludes building rights for 27,000 resi-
dential units and around 200,000 square
meters pertaining to commercial space.

residential market
in sweden

We anticipate continued favourable devel-
opment in the Stockholm market. Out-
side this region, our strategy is to pur-
sue residential project development pri-
marily in university and college towns.
In 2000 we noted steep price and de-
mand curves in Uppsala, Gothenburg
and Malmö, locations where JM has a
prominent position with regard to ongo-
ing and planned projects.

In a somewhat longer perspective, we
see attractive market potential in many
parts of the Mälardalen region. Changes
in infrastructure – mainly through im-
proved communications – are making it
possible for more people to live within

reasonable commuting distance from
Stockholm.

strong housing market
in stockholm

As earlier, JM has its main market in the
Stockholm region, where around half of
all residential development is concen-
trated. We noted continued strong de-
mand for all of our projects during the
year. Prices for tenant-owned apartments
rose by more than 20 per cent despite
stagnating price growth in the second
half of the year. This slowing was trig-
gered by a tendency towards restraint on
the stock exchange that had an impact
on spectacular high-price properties
rather than our offering of modern and
attractively located housing. Other con-
tributing factors were a temporary
surge in the supply of tenant-owned
apartments due to the formation of new
tenant-owner cooperatives and a higher
capital gains tax from year-end.

commercial projects only in stock-
holm’s most preferred locations 

Although the 1990s were something of a
“lost” decade with regard to develop-
ment of new commercial space, the new
millennium is offering a wealth of oppor-
tunities in this segment, a renaissance
that JM was quick in responding to. We
are directing our energies towards the
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“More than every second new tenant-owned
apartment in Sweden was developed by JM”
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Stockholm market, where we are involved
in a few major hotel and office projects
on Vasagatan. Our acquisitions by Sergels
Torg and on Kungsholmen and new devel-
opment in Solna are further examples of
this focus.

Commercial projects are associated
with greater risk than residential proj-
ects. Since demand in this segment fluc-
tuates more sharply as a result of higher
sensitivity to the business cycle, we pri-
oritize projects that can be commenced
within the next few years. We concen-
trate on office properties and strive for
highly flexible architecture and design.

fully developed properties
used as barter

One condition for JM’s focus as a pure-
play project developer has been to sell
off our fully developed properties in
order to free up capital for reinvestment
in new projects. The book value of our
portfolio of developable residential proj-
ects has thus risen from MSEK 400 to
SEK 3 billion over the past five years.
The pace of development is high and we
estimate that the average development
process takes three to five years.

Today virtually all of JM’s fully devel-
oped properties are located in the Stock-
holm area, and most of these will also be
divested. Fully developed and newly
built properties serve as valuable “barter”
in procuring interesting projects, both
in Stockholm and other prioritized mar-
kets. For this purpose, JM will continue
to maintain a small real estate portfolio,
primarily to monitor the market from
the inside and to use as barter in ongoing
exchange transactions.

a leading residential 
developer in norway

JM’s international operations have con-
tinued to show positive development. In
Norway, we are concentrating our opera-
tions in the Oslo area, where we were
happy to note growth in both volume
and profitability. Through the acquisi-
tion of two existing companies in Nor-

way, JM has also secured a position
among the leading residential developers
in the Norwegian market. Housing pri-
ces in Norway stagnated towards the
end of 2000, but have now recovered and
we see excellent market potential for the
next few years.

Instead of acquiring companies in
Denmark we have built up our own orga-
nization – JM Danmark A/S – and our
first project will be ready for occupancy
in 2001. According to our assessments,
the real estate market in Copenhagen is
lagging slightly behind Stockholm and
Oslo, creating scope for strong future
expansion and profitability.

For many years, operations in Belgium
have consisted mainly of assignments for
Swedish clients. In 2000 we sold our
first commercial development project in
Brussels, which was acquired in 1999,
and will complete the first of our own
residential projects in 2001.

In 2000, international operations
accounted for 11 per cent of JM’s sales.
Operations in Portugal were wound up
during 2000.

sharp rise in interest rates 
the most serious threat

Both profit and sales growth show that

JM has been successful in meeting cus-
tomer requirements in our prioritized
markets. Demand for high-quality hous-
ing in attractive locations remains in-
tense, a situation we believe will persist
into the foreseeable future.

The most serious threat to price devel-
opment and demand is a significant rise
in interest rates in Sweden, though this
appears unlikely. For one thing, we ap-
pear to be moving towards an economic
weakening, albeit from a high level, and
for the other, the Swedish economy is
now closely tied to an international
economy that is intent on low inflation
and interest rates. 

smart homes

The general market conditions for resi-
dential project development are good.
But it is vital that we stay at the cutting
edge when it comes to identifying emerg-
ing needs and innovating the homes of
the future.

One example of this is so-called Smart
Homes, where we use state-of-the-art
technology to provide our customers
with living environments that offer
greater safety, security and comfort. In a
project with six detached houses on the
island of Värmdö outside Stockholm, we

During the year, JM refurbished the Glaucus property – two historical office buildings in the Gamla Stan
area of Stockholm – in close collaboration with the Stockholm City Museum.
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have developed and integrated smart
control systems that minimize operating
expenses for energy, water, heating and
ventilation in collaboration with E2Home,
a joint venture between Electrolux and
Ericsson. We are continuing in this vein
in the Vallgossen project on Kungshol-
men, where we are testing applications
for new technology in a select number of
apartments. We have also established a
partnership with Alleato – owned jointly
by Ericsson and Skandia – to break new
ground in this field with an emphasis on
assisted living. It should be noted that so
far, this type of housing accounts for only
a small share of our development. Some
of the solutions currently under develop-
ment are expected to be standard fea-
tures in new housing in a few years, and
the experience we gather now can also be
used in our commercial projects.

In this context, it is easy to draw a
parallel to standard equipment in cars.
Nowadays, who would buy a new car
without air conditioning, a mileage com-
puter and central locking? Yet these fea-
tures were viewed as luxuries a few
years ago.

rising demand for 
concept housing

At the same time, we are seeing other
exciting housing trends such as the emer-
gence of concept housing, where cus-
tomers seek community living adapted 
to their lifestyle, age or recreational inter-
ests. Security and safety will be given
higher priority in the homes of the future.

Demand is strong for JM’s senior hous-
ing, where buyers must be at least 55
years old, and we plan to introduce the
senior living concept in Norway during
2001.

foreign ownership at close to
20 per cent

JM’s ownership structure changed dur-
ing the year when Skanska, JM’s princi-
pal owner since 1987, sold its entire
holding. One consequence of this was
that foreign ownership in JM was close

to 20 per cent at year-end. All large
Swedish institutions now have JM shares
in their portfolios.

For several years JM has pursued an
offensive dividend policy in which half
of earnings after tax is distributed to
the shareholders. Together with gains on
the sale of properties, our outstanding
profit in 2000 strengthened the cash
flow and provided the means for JM to
supplement the high dividend with a
repurchase of shares, which will be pro-
posed to the Annual General Meeting.

a healthy environment is
part of our everyday work

A serious commitment to the environ-
ment has always been a top priority at
JM. We adopted our first environmental
policy as early as 1994, which attracted a
great deal of attention at that time.
Today environmental activities are a 
natural part of our everyday work.

In 2000 we adopted a new quality and
environmental policy and group-wide
quality and environmental objectives as
a step towards certification according to
ISO 9001 and 14001.

JM is the only company in the indus-
try to be represented in the Robur Envi-
ronmental Fund. Furthermore, in 2000
we qualified for the US-based fund Port-
folio 21, despite the fact that we have no
operations in the USA.

One of our goals is to ensure that
every customer and project is a good ref-
erence. Satisfied customers strengthen
our brand, which also benefits our share-
holders in the long term. The only way to
attain this goal is by consistently working
to improve our quality, environmental
commitment and ethical performance.

outlook and expectations

JM has a sizeable stock of building rights
and an excellent reputation among play-
ers in the market. Thanks to our distinc-
tive profile, we are often asked to collab-
orate in new development projects. In
2001 we will reinforce our profile by
intensifying our customer and market

focus throughout the organization and
by continuing to build our brand. JM is
synonymous with rigorous standards,
high quality and a healthy environment.
With the help of new media, we will
maximize the value of our brand and
further highlight JM’s identity as a cus-
tomer-driven developer of residential
and commercial projects.

We anticipate favourable market devel-
opment and continued strong demand in
our prioritized markets. Against this back-
ground, we have every reason to look to
the future with confidence. We antici-
pate further improvement in profit dur-
ing 2001.

Stockholm, March 2001

Carl Eric Stålberg, President and CEO

6 L E T T E R  T O  T H E  S H A R E H O L D E R S

0

6

12

18

24

30

0099989796

SEK

Earnings per share

0

100

200

300

400

0099989796

MSEK

Profit after tax
5-year rolling average

0

5

10

15

0099989796

%

Return on equity, 
5-year rolling average
Coupon rate + 3.5% risk 
premium, 5-year rolling average

Return on equity
5-year rolling average

0

2

4

6

8

10

00**999897*96

SEK

* Of which, SEK 1.00 referred
to an extraordinary dividend

** As proposed by the Board 

Dividend per share



JM AB  Annual Report 2000

L E T T E R  T O  T H E  S H A R E H O L D E R S 7

In September, Europe’s first Smart Home was inaugurated on the island of Värmdö outside Stockholm.The project was a collaborative effort between JM and
E2Home, a joint venture between Electrolux and Ericsson.The idea is to create safer, more convenient and more comfortable homes for JM’s customers by inte-
grating cutting-edge IT solutions with attractive architecture and environmental consideration.



Today JM’s operations are focused on res-
idential and commercial project develop-
ment, as opposed to traditional construc-
tion and property management. Project
development is a continuous process of
acquiring, developing, divesting and once
again acquiring new projects. Successful
project development demands efficient
utilization of the Group’s balance sheet.
From a stock market perspective, it is
crucial that capital is continuously allo-
cated in an optimal manner and the
dynamics of project development require
a clear focus on cash flows. Steadily
increasing cash flows over time create a
strong platform for strategic invest-
ments and sustainable dividend and
value growth for JM’s shareholders. 

business concept

“To create attractive living and working
environments that satisfy individual
needs both today and in the future.”

The essence of this business concept is to
prioritize quality and a holistic approach
to living and working environments. At
the same time, JM must always balance
cutting-edge innovation with the creation
of environments that will retain high
attractiveness even in a very long-term
perspective.

strategy

JM’s strategy is to establish a distinctive
niche as a developer of residential proj-
ects, and to a more selective extent, also
commercial projects. Operations will be

conducted only in markets with good
growth potential, such as metropolitan
areas and university/college towns in
Sweden, Norway and Denmark. A lim-
ited portfolio of fully developed proper-
ties will be maintained to support proj-
ect development by functioning as barter
in JM’s ongoing acquisitions. A high rate
of turnover will be maintained in this
portfolio.

Value-enhancing growth – housing
JM is Sweden’s leading residential proj-
ect developer, with a market share of
over 50 per cent for production of
tenant-owned apartments. Through the
acquisition of Byggholt as and AS Pro-
sjektfinans in Norway, JM has also be-
come one of the leading residential proj-
ect developers in Norway. In Denmark,
the company has secured a favourable
position for expansion.

JM intends to continue expanding
and consolidating the Group’s position
in its existing markets. In a longer per-
spective, JM will focus on building up
the necessary competence to penetrate
new markets. Volume growth will take
place both organically and via acquisi-
tions. Expansion into new markets will
be achieved with limited application of
JM’s own production resources and only
through projects in the form of total
commitments. One fundamental princi-
ple is to grow without compromizing
healthy profitability and market-leading
positions.

JM’s focus on high quality and envi-

ronmentally sound living and working
environments, like its emphasis on cus-
tomer benefit, is a strategic cornerstone.
The trend is shifting from collective liv-
ing to a more individual approach. Today
there is a growing interest in housing
concepts in which the home, surround-
ing environment and recreational activi-
ties are adapted for customers with simi-
lar lifestyles, values and needs. 

JM’s operations will be increasingly
oriented towards meeting this demand, not
least with regard to assisted and senior
living. Smart Homes is another area where
JM is a forerunner. The goal is to combine
creative design with IT and other modern
technology to create homes that offer a
higher quality of life. JM’s first Smart
Homes were completed on Värmdö in the
autumn of 2000. In general, JM’s oper-
ations should be fuelled by an ambition
to innovate new concepts and solutions.

Selective development of commercial
projects
Recent years’ rising demand for commer-
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Value growth
in focus

Acquisition

Sale/Lease

Project conception

Planning

Design

FinancingConstruction

Occupancy

Management

JM’s expertise in development of residential and com-
mercial properties extends through all phases of proj-
ects that often take several years to complete.

JM’s strongpoints
• A focus on growth markets – metropolitan

areas and university/college towns.
• An extensive portfolio of attractively located

properties for future residential and com-
mercial development.

• A strongly market-driven corporate culture.
• A focus on quality and the environment.
• A solid financial base.



cial space in the greater Stockholm area
has forced up prices for commercial prop-
erties and created new opportunities for
profitable commercial development proj-
ects. JM was one of the first companies in
many years to initiate new construction
of commercial properties in the Stock-
holm area. JM’s strategy is to pursue com-
mercial project development, but to be
highly selective in its choice of projects.

The criteria for commercial project
development are a balanced and foresee-
able risk scenario, a short value added
process and potential for a rapid sale. In
addition, the future buyer should prefer-
ably be identified already at the invest-
ment stage. Responsibility for the proj-
ects is kept intact until sale in order to
ensure the best possible yield in present
value terms.

Higher turnover in the slimmed down
real estate portfolio
JM’s strategy is to maintain a high rate of
turnover and exchanges in the portfolio
of fully developed properties. Because
capital is needed for reinvestment in res-
idential and commercial development

projects, at the same time that property
management is not consistent with JM’s
strategic focus, JM will continue to
reduce its holdings of fully developed
properties. Nonetheless, a limited port-
folio of management properties is needed
to facilitate exchanges for new develop-
ment properties. Experience shows that
certain attractive development proper-
ties could only have been obtained
through exchange transactions.

So far, JM has chosen to concentrate is
real estate portfolio in the Stockholm
region, which is considered to be the
most lucrative market in the Nordic
region with very strong demand.

financial and 
non-financial goals

JM’s goal is to give the shareholders a
higher return than other companies with
similar operations and risk profiles. In
traditional terms, return is defined as
dividends and value growth on invested
capital. In 2000, the financial goals were
supplemented with additional goals
aimed at effectively exploiting the poten-
tial of the existing portfolio of building

rights, stimulating growth in project
development and ensuring that JM
achieves an optimal asset structure. 

Yield target
As earlier, JM’s yield target is a 15 per
cent return after tax on visible equity
over a business cycle. In 2000, return on
visible equity was 24 per cent and the
five-year average was 14 per cent.

Growth target
In order to ensure growth in JM’s proj-
ect development, a decision was made in
2000 to raise the number of annual
housing starts to 4,500 by 2003 and to
achieve an operating margin of more
than 12 per cent in project development.
These goals were then broken down for
the respective business units. JM’s
ambition is to continue growing in a
long-term perspective, but sets targets
only for a few years ahead with respect
to the company’s investment cycles.

Dividend target
Average share dividends over the course
of a business cycle should correspond to
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Project development demands
effective cash flows

Value creation at JM is linked to a high rate of
commencement, completion and sale of real
estate projects.The projects JM undertakes are
often capital-intensive and long-term,extending
for 3–5 years and sometimes considerably
longer when it comes to large-scale housing
projects.This has sharpened the focus on cash
flow.

It is crucial that internal responsibility, risk-
weighting, control structures and organizational
interfaces accentuate the generation of cash
flows and thereby maximize value growth in the
Group.

JM’s new organization is also designed to sup-
port and stimulate an optimal cash flow approach.

With a focus on the yield in present value, the
sale of properties must be timely.The best tactic
may not be to await higher real estate prices
before making a sale. If an oversized portfolio
has been accumulated, this exposes JM to a
market risk that is inconsistent with the strate-
gic focus “project development of properties”

(in contrast to property management).
Since the sale of management properties has a
strong impact on cash flow, it is vital to continu-
ously assess the alternative yield generated by 
a sale and reinvestment in new projects.

In a commercial development project, for
example, a number of decisions are made with 

a strong impact on cash flow:
• Acquisition decision (decision to a property)
• Building decision (decision to commence

building)
• Price decision (decision on rental rates)
• Sales decision (decision to sell a property) 

Value   

Time

Acquisition
decision

Building decision

Price decision

Sales decision

Concept & Planning 

Construction

Management

VALUE CHAIN
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50 per cent of consolidated profit after
tax. The combined dividend and planned
repurchase of shares in 2001 will pro-
vide the shareholders with a distribution
of capital widely exceeding that stated
in the dividend policy.

Capital structure
JM’s ambition, over time, is to achieve an
optimal composition of assets and capi-
tal structure. As a result of the sharper

focus on project development, the Group
is in the process of rebalancing its asset
structure. The balance sheet will be
given a more project-oriented character
and the proportion of fully developed
properties will be cut back dramatically
to a book value of SEK 2 billion. Activity
in the balance sheet will also increase
markedly.

Taking into account that project
development demands effective alloca-

tion of capital in a partially cyclical mar-
ket, a dynamic approach to gearing and
interest coverage is needed. JM continu-
ously monitors the composition of assets,
risks, forecastability and controllability
of future cash flows, including interest
risks. JM’s assessment is that the current
visible equity ratio target of 30 per cent
represents an appropriate degree of
financial stability. In pace with higher
balance sheet turnover, adjusted equity
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By the shore of Lake Mälaren in western Stockholm, JM’s subsidiary Borätt has built some 100 apartments on the Karpdammen block of Hässelby Strand,within
walking distance from a shopping center, a beach, a small boat marina and a recreational area.
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will also fall to the level of visible
equity, increasing JM’s financial leverage
based on market values. However, cer-
tain surplus value will always be main-
tained as a consequence of the ongoing
generation of value added. To the extent
that the interest coverage and visible
equity ratios are assessed to exceed the
optimal capital structure, capital will
be distributed to the shareholders in an
appropriate manner.

President and CEO

Legal Affairs/Land 
Development

Finance/Treasury

Human Resources

Group Staffs
Corporate 

Communications

Business 
Support

Stockholm North

Stockholm South

JM Stombyggnad AB

International

Norway

Denmark

Belgium

Stockholm 
Residential

Sweden Business Development/
Real Estate

Transaction & Analysis

JM Seniorfastigheter AB

Property Management

AB Borätt

Seniorgården AB

Stockholm Inner city

Stockholm Central

Stockholm 
Commercial 

Western

Eastern

Uppland

Mälardalen

Central

SouthernJM Inredning AB New Business Concepts

Project Dev. Real Estate

Contracting Stockholm

AB Projektgaranti

 Infrastructure

O.Timblads Målerifirma AB

Business
Units

Regions

JM’s organization is divided into Group Staffs,Business Units and Regions. A decentralized organisation with clearly delegated profit and marketing responsibility
has given the JM Group a strongly business-driven corporate culture.

ORGANIZATION

FINANCIAL AND NON-FINANCIAL GOALS

Outcome
Target 00 99 98 97 96

Return on equity (%)* 15 14 13 12 12 11
Coupon rate +3.5%** 9 10 11 12 12
Dividend as a % of profit after tax (%) 50 39*** 50 45 30 42
Equity/assets ratio (%) 30 33 28 27 30 25
Project development margin (%) 12.0 10.3 6.5 4.7 3.0 3.1
Production of building rights (number) 4,500 3,000 2,300 2,100 1,700 2,000
Fully developed management
properties (MSEK) 2,000 4,286 5,628 6,832 6,602 7,192

* Based on the rolling five-year average
** Coupon rate (5-year) + 3.5% risk premium, rolling five-year average

*** As proposed by the Board
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JM develops land and improves existing
properties for new uses. Today, JM con-
trols projects for around 27,000 residen-
tial units, of which 9,000 are held via
conditional acquisitions. JM works with
two real estate concepts: development
properties and management properties.
Management properties are divided into
fully developed properties, properties
under construction and properties for
further development.

value growth for
development properties 

Active project development
Development land is defined as undevel-
oped land and related building permits.
The degree of value appreciation is con-
siderable. Aside from macroeconomic
factors such as interest rates, the key vari-
ables that effect value appreciation are:
• General development in the region
• The planning process
The main forces behind general develop-
ment are the business cycle and regional

expansion, while the planning process is
dependent on an active property owner’s
ability to draw up and implement plans
for new construction and uses in coop-
eration with the local authorities.

Experience and expertise
JM has considerable experience and skill
in both residential and commercial proj-
ect development, and is a forerunner in
terms of customer-orientation and qual-
ity/environmental work. Based on this
expertise, in recent years JM has acquired
substantial building rights in the greater
Stockholm area. These acquisitions have
shown substantial value appreciation,
where one contributing factor has been
the general economic upswing in the past
4–5 years. Development has been particu-
larly robust in the Stockholm area. Through
active involvement in the planning pro-
cess, JM has exerted its influence towards
utilization of building rights, approval of
new detail plans by the local authorities
and procurement of building permits.

Value theory – how is land value created?
In a sense, land and building rights serve
as the “options” of the real estate market.
In periods when market rents provide
little or no return on construction in-
vestments, the building rights have no
fundamental value. Conversely, when
market rents are high the building rights
assume a corresponding high value. This
effect arises in that the market value is
essentially a residual value between the
value of the finished property and the
production cost. 

Small variations in market rents can
therefore alter the market value by 100
per cent or more, as illustrated by a
hypothetical office project.

Rental rate (SEK) 1,800/sq.m. 1,700/sq.m.
Operation and
maintenance –250/sq.m. –250/sq.m.

Operating net 1,550/sq.m. 1,450/sq.m.
Direct yield requirement 7% 7%
Value of
finished building 22,143/sq.m. 20,714/sq.m.
Less production
costs –16,000/sq.m. –16,000/sq.m.
Development risk1) –3,800/sq.m. –3,500/sq.m.

Residual land value 2,343/sq.m. 1,214/sq.m.

1) Development risk = risks associated with market devel-
opment,planning issues, environmental considerations
and production costs.

This example shows that an increase of
SEK 100 in the rental rate affects the
land value by around SEK 1,100 per 
square meter, or close to a doubling.

Similar effects can be observed on the
stock exchange, where minor fluctua-
tions in the price of an underlying share
can have a dramatic impact on the
option value. The diagram at right shows
that market rents for commercial space,
or sales prices for tenant-owned apart-
ments, must exceed a certain critical
level for new production to be viable.
Below this critical level the land value is
low, while it increases rapidly in pace
with rising rents/sales prices when the
critical level has been passed. Office
rents and prices for tenant-owned apart-
ments in Stockholm have risen sharply in
recent years, which has led to consider-
able appreciation in land values in many

Core competency in
project development

Definitions
PROPERTY  TYPE
Management properties

Development properties

Note: A schedule of JM’s management properties and a selection of development properties is found
on pages 89–97.

DEFINITION
• Fully developed properties

• Properties under construction

• Properties for further development 

• Development land with related residential building rights

• Development land with related commercial building rights

• Developed properties for residential projects or further
development into management properties



JM AB  Annual Report 2000

J M ’ S  C O R E  B U S I N E S S  13

areas. In the rest of the country, both
rents and prices for tenant-owned apart-
ments are lower, for which reason land
values are significantly lower than in the
Stockholm region.

Actual development of land value
The fact that land prices fluctuate dra-
matically over time can be illustrated by
the trend in Stockholm over the past 15
years. Building rights for office space in
attractive suburban locations had a
value of around SEK 1,000 per square
meter in 1985, after which they rose rap-
idly to SEK 10,000–15,000 per square
meter in 1989 and then plummeted to
SEK 1,000–2,000 per square meter in
1993, only to quickly bounce back to the
current level of SEK 4,000–8,000 per
square meter. Price movements have
been less pronounced for residential
properties than for commercial space
due to stable demand for housing in
Stockholm and virtually no vacancies.
Land values have varied from a sharp
increase in the 1980s to falling prices in
1991– 93, followed by surge to current
prices in the range of SEK 2,000–9,000
per square meter depending on location
and attractiveness.

How JM creates value in the planning
process
Project developers like JM can actively
influence future land uses through col-
laboration with the affected municipali-
ties, which have the authority to deter-
mine the type and nature of structures
that are built. JM’s expertise and active

participation in the planning process
have enabled the company to raise the
land value of its properties.

During the planning process, the land
value rises successively as building
opportunities take form and uncertain-
ties are eliminated in collaboration
between JM and the affected municipal-
ity. The value impact factors to be dealt
with are land use, scope, timetable and
allocation of costs. The full land value is
attained when the detail plan has been
approved and a building permit has been
obtained. Detail planning can be roughly
divided into four stages:
• Program
• Consultation
• Exhibition
• Approval
The program stage is where ideas,
assumptions and goals are worked out
between JM, the municipality and other
authorities. At the consultation stage,
the general public, residents and special
interest groups are also allowed to air
their views. The program and consulta-
tion stages are a mutually dependent
process in which the basis for decision is
reinforced with input and feedback from
the local area in question. In a develop-
ment agreement, the allocation of costs
between the municipality and developer
is handled parallel to the detail planning
process in a development agreement.

Value appreciation during the planning
process can be substantial when a piece of
raw land is transformed into finished
building rights for office space or housing.

value growth for 
management properties

Properties for further development or
under construction
Properties for further development con-
sist of existing buildings where JM uses
demolition, conversion or extension to
change usage, increase utilization, im-
prove accessibility or in some other way
enhance the value of the property.

During the project process, proper-
ties of this type will show sharply fluctu-
ating rental revenues and operating nets.
During the most intensive construction
activity the property may be evacuated,
thus reducing rental revenues to zero.
On the other hand, the property may
have substantial rental flows during the
planning and design phase.

When the design and content of a proj-
ect has been defined and production has
been or will soon be started, the prop-
erty is reclassified to the category of
properties under construction.

The construction phase can vary from
a few months up to 2–3 years, depending
on the scope of the project. Since certain
projects are carried out while the ten-
ants remain in the building, rental rev-
enues do not always fall to zero during
the most intensive building phase. In
order to provide an accurate picture of
JM’s aggregate real estate portfolio, it is
important to report properties for fur-
ther development or under construction
separately from both management prop-
erties, which generate stable rental
flows, and development land, which nor-
mally provides no rental revenues at all.
This provides a truer picture of JM’s
aggregate real estate holdings.

Rental revenues

   Time

Construction phase

Rental phase

Management phase

Properties for further development

Planning and
design phase

Value of 
finished building

Rental ratesCritical rental rate

Land value +/- 0

Level of
production costs

Residual value/land value

Land value

Detail planning

Development land

General planning

Planning
phase

Building permitDetail planGeneral planRaw land 

Planning and design

Construction



The Swedish economy maintained its
positive momentum during the year,
though there are indications of slightly
weaker growth. The three metropolitan
areas are experiencing the most robust
development, with a few local markets in
the rest of the country showing moderate
growth. An analysis by the National Board
of Housing, Building and Planning identi-
fied Stockholm, Uppsala, Växjö, Malmö,
Gothenburg and Umeå as growth regions
with a projected increase in the number
of households and a pressing need for new
housing in the next ten years. More than
half of the country’s municipalities are
undergoing depopulation as young people
move to the major cities or university
towns in search of education and work.

In 2000, the population of Stockholm
County increased by 21,000, while pop-
ulation growth for the entire country
was 22,000. There is every indication
that the population influx to the greater
Stockholm area will continue, further
intensifying the need for housing.

rising demand for housing

During the year, rising demand for hous-
ing was noted in several regions aside
from the metropolitan areas, such as
Södermanland, Småland and along the
West coast. More municipalities are not-
ing a housing shortage than one year ago,
and more anticipate rising demand for
several years to come. Judging by the
municipalities’ projections, housing con-
struction will increase in the next few
years. However, production of housing is

still highly concentrated in the metro-
politan areas and certain other large
cities. In many municipalities, construc-
tion is either limited to single-family
homes or non-existent.

According to the Federation of Swedish
Building Contractors, total construction
investments will increase by 10 per cent
in 2001 and 13 per cent in 2002. The
number of housing starts (multifamily
and single-family dwellings) in 2000 was
around 18,000 and is expected to reach
22,000 in 2001. Nonetheless, this level
falls far short of the projected long-term
requirement of 25,000–40,000 per year.  

Production of housing in Stockholm is
very low in relation to demand. Over the
past five years, the population has grown by
100,000, whereas only 19,000 residential
units were built during the same period.

So far, the population influx has been
managed through densification and per-
manent residence in holiday/summer cot-
tages, but this market is now saturated.
However, the number of housing starts
has increased compared with the preced-
ing year, and in 2000 around 5,000 units
were started in newly built structures.
Since the utility value system has made
new production of rental units unprof-
itable, virtually all construction of resi-
dential apartments consists of tenant-
owner cooperatives. This applies to the
metropolitan areas in general and Stock-
holm in particular.

The current residential rental market
in Stockholm is characterized by a signifi-
cant imbalance between supply and de-
mand, with virtually no vacancies. This
shortage forced up prices for both tenant-
owned units and single-family homes dur-
ing the year.

The supply of tenant-owned apartments
in the greater Stockholm area increased
during the year mainly through the pub-
lic housing companies’ sale of rental units,
though this increase was essentially lim-
ited to inner-city Stockholm, where the
strongest demand has been noted. In the
City of Stockholm, 60 per cent of all resi-
dential properties sold in 1999 were pur-
chased by tenant-owner cooperatives, and
this share was unchanged in the first half
of 2000. However, in inner-city Stockholm,
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a full 75 per cent of  residential properties
were sold to housing cooperatives in both
1999 and the first half of 2000. The corre-
sponding figure in 1997 was only 30 per
cent. Tenant-owner cooperatives have
thus become the dominant buyers of
inner-city properties.

prices for 
tenant-owned apartments

Prices for tenant-owned apartments in
Sweden are continuing to rise and are
significantly higher today than at year-
end 1999. Average price growth for the
country is 37 per cent, with the sharpest
increase in the metropolitan areas. In the
greater Stockholm area, where prices
have risen by a total of 28 per cent, the
southern suburbs have noted the highest
growth. Prices in Årsta and Hammarby-
höjden were on par with inner city levels
as they were just a year ago. 

The market is expected to remain strong.
There is still room for price growth in
the major cities due to powerful demand,
low interest rates and a limited supply.

The diagram at right shows the trend
for housing prices over the past five years
in different areas of Stockholm. In all
areas, prices have more than doubled

during the period. The highest relative
price growth has taken place in the north-
ern and western suburbs, which noted
strong development during the past year.
The diagram shows the average price for
sold apartments. 
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In the Långbro Park area of
Älvsjö, south of Stockholm, JM
will build close to 650 residential
units on the former hospital
campus. Newly produced hous-
ing will be integrated with apart-
ments in existing turn-of-the-
century buildings. The entire
development is scheduled for
completion in 2007. The picture
shows the former gatekeeper’s
cottage – a natural entrance to
the park.



In the city of Vellinge in southwestern Skåne, JM’s subsidiary Seniorgården has built around twenty residential units for the Apelgården tenant-owner cooperative,
which offers secure, functional and attractive homes for seniors over 55 years.The project received the municipality of Vellinge’s urban design award for 2000.

16 M A R K E T  O V E R V I E W

JM AB  Annual Report 2000



In 2000 the Swedish real estate market
remained expansive in the metropolitan
areas and regional centers. The greater
Stockholm area in particular has noted
dramatically rising rents and declining
vacancies.

The market in the Stockholm region is
characterized by keen demand for com-
mercial space. The gap between the
absolute peak rents and market rental
rates has widened, indicating that rents
are still on the rise. Even in Stockholm’s
outlying areas, primarily the northern
suburbs, rents have increased as com-
mercial tenants leave the city for less
pricey outlying areas offering better
scope for expansion. Strong demand will
continue to fuel this trend, with rising
rents in the inner city and attractive
peripheral locations such as Liljeholmen,
Alviks Strand, the Globen area, Frö-

sunda, Solna and Marievik.
This trend is being amplified as new

projects raise the status of areas previ-
ously considered less desirable – such as
Vasagatan, Garnisonen, Frösunda, Alvik,
Liljeholmen, etc. However, the market is
showing some hesitancy with regard to
the past year’s setbacks for IT, Internet
and technology companies. Demand for
office space may lessen as these indus-
tries undergo restructuring, thereby
inhibiting rental growth. 

low vacancies

Vacancies within the city limits have
fallen sharply over the past few years
and are currently around 2–5 per cent,
depending on the location. Including
only directly rentable space, vacancies
continued to decrease in 2000 and are
now close to zero in the inner city. This
exceptionally low vacancy rate can be

expected to force large tenants to seek
premises in nearby peripheral areas
where development and new construc-
tion are currently in progress.

The direct yield requirement for com-
mercial properties in downtown Stock-
holm stabilized at 5.5 per cent in 1999,
the lowest level since 1990 when it was
around 3.5 per cent. Since then, the dra-
matic increase in rental rates has
boosted the direct yield requirement
from the lowest levels. North of Stock-
holm, the direct yield requirement in
preferred locations, such as Kista and
attractive parts of Solna, has climbed to
6.5–7 per cent. In normal locations, the
current direct yield requirement is
7–7.5, compared with 5–5.5 per cent in
1989.
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The market for commercial space 
in the Stockholm region during 2000

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

5,000

MalmöGothenburgStockholm

0099989796959493929190898887868584838281

SEK/sq. m.

Nominal rents for offices in 
preferred locations, 2000 prices

Source: NewSec

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

5,000

5,500

Desirable
peripheral 

areas

Rest of
inner city

DowntownGolden
Triangle

97 98 99 00

SEK/sq. m.

Peak rent

*

*
*

* * * *

*
*

*

*

*

*
**

* *
*

*

*

Market rental spread in Stockholm

Source: NewSec

Excellent communications, functional and aesthet-
ically appealing offices. JM’s portfolio of office
properties in Mörby Center north of Stockholm
is an attractive alternative to the City.
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Flexible commercial premises, well equipped for future IT and computer technology and with an attractive billboard location facing the E4 motorway. When
completed, the Frösunda office and residential community in Solna will contain 2,500 apartments and 6,000 workplaces. In the initial phase, JM’s office properties
contain a total floor space of 30,000 square meters.
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new commercial space 

In 2000, production of new commercial
space in the greater Stockholm area
reached the highest level in many years.
Demand for modern offices has grown in
pace with a shortage of space in pre-
ferred locations and rising rents in cen-
tral Stockholm. This, in combination
with lower nominal interest rates, has
given many players an incentive to begin
investing in construction again. This
new production has been concentrated
in nearby suburbs such as Solna, Frö-
sunda, Kista and Marievik/Liljeholmen.

Annual production of new office
space averaged at around 150,000–
200,000 square meters during the
1980s, with a peak level of around
300,000 square meters in 1989, but had
dropped below 50,000 square meters by
the mid-1990s. In the past few years,
production has increased considerably
and according to a study by NewSec,
total available space in the Stockholm
region is expected to increase by nearly
300,000 square meters annually during
the period 2000–2005. Seen in a long-
term perspective, this is roughly equiva-
lent to annual growth during the 1970s
and 80s. JM holds 200,000 square meters
for development of commercial space on
prime sites in the inner city and nearby
suburbs. 

fewer and 
larger players

Although new construction is nearing
the level seen in the late 1980s, the major
difference today is that the speculative
element is limited. Today the players in
the market are both fewer and larger, and
the leverage ratio is significantly lower.
Leases have already been signed for
most of the commercial space scheduled
for completion in 2001, a clear indica-
tion that demand is still strong. Further-
more, the economic conditions today are
considerably better today than ten years
ago. In 1991 the economy was flagging,
with negative GNP growth and high

inflation, which severely inhibited de-
mand for commercial space. And though
economy is currently showing signs of
slowing, GNP growth remains strong,
with forecasts in the range of 2.5–3 per
cent annually in the next few years, and
inflation is low. On the whole, these fac-
tors should create favourable conditions
for new construction in the Stockholm
region in the near future.

The total area covered in applications
for building permits is still marginal in
relation to the existing stock of commer-
cial space. If this trend persists, demand
will continue to exceed growth in supply.

After 2001 production of commercial
space will outpace growth in demand,
causing a marginal increase in the va-
cancy rate which will nonetheless remain
very low.

cyclical 
real estate market

The real estate market is cyclical and
highly dependent on domestic and
regional growth. Studies by NewSec
indicate a close correlation between
domestic GNP growth and total return
on downtown real estate over the past
20 years. Total return is defined as the
sum of the year’s operating net and value
appreciation/depreciation.

Based on forecasts of positive GNP
development and the above correlation
between GNP growth and total return,
the total return on downtown real

estate is expected to increase further in
the next few years. Although the rate of
growth for both GNP and total return is
expected to slow, the relative level will
remain high. The main unknown vari-
ables are the volume of new construc-
tion and the balance between supply and
demand in the market for commercial
space. However, the number of players for
large-scale projects in central locations is
very limited, which should reduce the
risk for overproduction and ensure a bet-
ter balance between supply and demand.
Aside from JM, the dominant players in
commercial project development are
Skanska, NCC and a few real estate
companies.  
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fully developed properties

At year-end 2000, JM’s portfolio of fully
developed properties included 92 prop-
erties with around 455,000 square
meters of rentable space and a combined
book value of MSEK 4,286. The portfo-
lio was further concentrated after major
sales in 1999 and 2000, and today con-
sists primarily of commercial properties
with modern and flexible offices in
inner-city Stockholm and its northern
suburbs. A full 91 per cent of the market
value and 87 per cent of the total
rentable space are found in the Stock-
holm region. 

At year-end, 98 per cent of the com-
mercial space was leased, corresponding
to a vacancy rate of less than 2 per cent

in rental value. Rising demand for space
has resulted in exceptionally low vacan-
cies, and a rate of 3–4 per cent is consid-
ered to represent normal turnover in a
real estate portfolio. 

Of JM’s total rental revenue, around
55 per cent is attributable to office prop-
erties. The age structure (when the prop-

erties were built or renovated) of the port-
folio is illustrated in the diagram below.

Aside from the submarkets described in
the following paragraph, the portfolio
includes residential properties in the
Stockholm region with 47,000 square
meters of floor space and fully devel-
oped properties in the rest of Sweden,
primarily office properties in Uppsala.
Total floor space outside Stockholm
amounts to 58,000 square meters.

Vasagatan – a top location for commuters
Interest in properties near Stockholm
Central and Vasagatan has increased
markedly in recent years, with the area’s
growing popularity fuelled by the new
Arlanda Line and significantly better
connections to the rest of the Mälar-
dalen region. Motivated by efficient com-
munications and a housing shortage in
Stockholm, more people are buying homes
within commuting distance from Stock-
holm, which is increasing the attractive-
ness of offices close to the central station.
JM currently owns 6 properties in the
area and will have around 65,000 square
meters of total rentable space there after
completion of the Kortbyrån 17 and Penn-
fäktaren 10 projects on Vasagatan. In
2000, rental growth in the inner city
remained strong with keen demand for
office space around Vasagatan and
Sergels Torg, where rental rates of more
than SEK 4,500 have been noted.

Frösunda – a new urban community
In Solna, by the E4 motorway’s northern
entrance to Stockholm and the edge of
National City Park, the new Frösunda
district is taking shape less than 10 min-
utes from the city center. When com-
pleted, Frösunda will include 2,500 resi-
dential units and 6,000 workplaces, of
which JM’s office properties contain
30,000 square meters of BTA (built total
area) in the first phase. The billboard
location towards the E4 motorway is
excellent, communications are good and
the offices are flexible, innovatively
designed and built with a high quality.
Aside from JM, Canon and Compaq
have also chosen to base their Swedish
headquarters here. Rental rates for
offices in Frösunda are around SEK
2,500 per square meter.

Mörby – an attractive peripheral area
During the 1980s, JM built nine office
properties in Mörby with a combined
57,000 square meters of space. The port-
folio is well concentrated along the E18
motorway and is directly adjacent to the

High quality portfolio 
in the Stockholm region
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Mörby Shopping Center and the subway.
The properties are efficiently planned
with high standards and strong demand.
Rental rates in Mörby have risen sharply
in the past few years and leases are cur-
rently being signed at around SEK 2,600
per square meter. 

properties under construction 
or for further development 

Management properties under construc-
tion or for further development are de-
fined as properties where JM uses demo-
lition, conversion or extension to change
usage, increase utilization, improve acces-
sibility or otherwise enhance the value of
the property. 

JM has 14 management properties
under construction or for further devel-
opment. In terms of value, these are con-
centrated in the Stockholm region where
JM pursues projects in attractive down-
town or peripheral locations. Examples
of these include hotel construction on
Vasagatan, the Adam och Eva block and
extension of the Frösunda area in Solna.
These projects account for a significant
portion of Stockholm’s planned growth
in the next few years.

In the rest of Sweden, the portfolio
mainly consists of office projects in Upp-
sala and Lund. 

development properties
Development properties consist of unde-
veloped land with accompanying build-
ing rights and developed rental proper-
ties to be sold after further development.
JM continuously invests in developable
land and properties for future produc-
tion. Through acquisitions, exchanges
and sales, JM is able to continuously real-
ize the values of fully developed proper-
ties for reinvestment in new projects.
JM’s development properties are found
throughout Sweden, with an emphasis
on Stockholm, as well as in Norway and
Denmark. The majority of development
properties are intended for housing pro-
duction, and the key criteria for develop-
ment land is that it is centrally located,

close to the water or picturesque natural
environments and offers good access to
communications. The total number of
properties at year-end was around 360,
with accompanying building rights for
around 18,000 residential units and
190,000 square meters of office space. In
addition, another approx. 9,000 residen-
tial building rights are held through con-
ditional acquisitions where payment has
not yet been made. The majority of office
building rights are located in the greater
Stockholm area. 

JM takes an active approach to develop-
ment properties. The above diagram
shows how the number of residential
building rights at various planning stages
in the Stockholm region has changed over
the past three years. At year-end, there
were building permits for around 2,500
units, which is a dramatic increase com-
pared with 1999 when the corresponding
figure was only 650. Most of the increase
pertains to existing building rights for
which permits were obtained during the
year, only one tenth of the increase in
building permits referred to newly ac-
quired building rights.

At year-end, less than half of all build-
ing rights had reached the general plan-
ning stage.

Since raw land is unzoned, it is not
possible to quantify the number of build-
ing rights. JM owns 26 hectares of raw
land in the Stockholm region.

The schedule of real estate holdings
on pages 89–97 shows a selection of JM’s
development properties.
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With 542 rooms, Nordic Hotel is Stockholm’s
largest hotel. The hotel is made up of two adjoin-
ing buildings – Nordic Light and Nordic Sea.The
inspiration for their interiors is reflected by their
names – light and sea.



The majority of JM’s properties are
located in inner-city Stockholm and
desirable peripheral areas. JM strives to
create attractive living and working envi-
ronments, and relies on strong local
familiarity and business sense to focus

on properties in the “right” locations. In
Stockholm, JM’s portfolio is character-
ized by central and/or waterfront areas
with good access to communications.

The aerial photo at right shows JM’s
concentration and position in the Stock-

holm region. Below is a list of the proper-
ties shown in the photo. For additional
information, see the schedule of real
estate on pages 89–97.

No. Property Address Municipality
Fully developed properties

1 Boken 13 Gamla Brogatan 36 Stockholm
2 Boken 16 Vasagatan 42, 44 Stockholm
3 Glaucus 4 and 5 Skeppsbron 32 Stockholm
4 Göta Ark 18 Medborgarplatsen 25 Stockholm
5 Kräftan 5 Olof Dalins väg 16–20 Stockholm
6 Lagern 12 Klara N. Kyrkogata 31 Stockholm
7 Lagern 13 Olof Palmes gata 23 Stockholm
8 Läraren 4 Torsgatan 2 Stockholm
9 Paradiset 23 Nordenflychtsvägen 66 Stockholm

10 Pilen 30 Vasagatan 36 Stockholm
11 Spelbomskan 14 Sandåsgatan 2 Stockholm
12 Bulten 7 Rinkebyvägen 11 Danderyd
13 Sofieberg 6 Berga Backe 6–14 Danderyd
14 Svärdet 8, etc. Svärdvägen Danderyd
15 Svärdet 7 Svärdvägen 31 Danderyd
16 Jakobsberg 2:2719 Vibblabyvägen 97–99 Järfälla
17 Breviks Gård 2, etc. S. Kungsvägen 240 Lidingö
18 Fjällräven 1 Vesslevägen 3–7 Lidingö
19 Oden 20, 21, 22 Lidingö C Lidingö
20 Äpplet 1–5 S. Kungsvägen 228–330, etc. Lidingö
27 Centrum 13 Aniaraplatsen 4–6 Sollentuna
28 Ekplantan 2 Djupdalsvägen 13–15 Sollentuna
32 Träkolet 16 Turebergsvägen 3–7, 11 Sollentuna
33 Hilton 1, part of Telegrafgatan 4 Solna
34 Skogskarlen 1 Pipers väg 2 Solna
35 Gunnebo 15 Salagatan 42–44 Stockholm
36 Holar 1 Skalholtsgatan 2 Stockholm
37 Knarrarnäs 7 Färögatan 9 Stockholm
38 Norrmalm 5:1, part of Björnäsvägen 2 Stockholm
39 Muraren 2 Sturegatan 31 Sundbyberg
40 Degeln 2 Nytorpsvägen 2–34 Täby
42 Stansen 1 Maskinvägen 1–3 Täby
44 Sicklaön 37:13 Finnbodavägen 13 Nacka
45 Sicklaön 37:9 Finnbodavägen 9A–D Nacka
46 Rosteriet 5 Lövholmsvägen 9 Stockholm

No. Property Address Municipality
Properties under construction

80 Barnhuset 6 Barnhusgatan 4 Stockholm
81 Barnängen 4 Barnängsgatan 21 Stockholm
82 Kortbyrån 17 Vasagatan 11 Stockholm
83 Pennfäktaren 10 Vasaplan Stockholm
85 Hilton 1, House 4 Telegrafgatan Solna

Properties for further development
90 Adam & Eva 16 Drottninggatan 56–58, etc. Stockholm
91 Beridarebanan 13 Sergelgatan 11–15, etc. Stockholm
93 Sicklaön 260:1 Sickla Allé 5 Nacka

Development properties
100 Kojan Kungsholms Strand Stockholm
101 Årsta/Liljeholmskajen Årstadal Stockholm
103 Essinge Udde Lilla Essingen Stockholm
104 Hammarby Sjöstad Södermalm Stockholm
106 Vallgossen Kungsholmen Stockholm
107 Lustgården Lindhagens gata Stockholm
108 Karet Liljeholmstorget Stockholm
109 Frösunda Frösundavik Solna
110 Norra Frösunda Frösundavik Solna
111 Skogskarlen, part of Pipers väg 2 Solna
112 Signalen Kolonnvägen Solna
113 Silverdal, phase 1 Sollentunavägen Sollentuna
114 Silverdal, phase 2 Sollentunavägen Sollentuna
116 Daggkåpan Järlasjön Nacka

STÖRRE FASTIGHETSINNEHAV I STORSTOCKHOLM

Major real estate holdings in the Stockholm region

Fully developed properties Properties under construction Properties for further development Development properties
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At year-end 2000, JM appraised the
market value of its real estate portfolio
in association with NewSec. The apprais-
al was based on different principles de-
pending on the type of property to be val-
ued. Below is a description of the various
methods used for the different cate-
gories of real estate.

valuation of jm ’s
management properties 

Fully developed properties
As a basis for valuation of JM’s manage-
ment properties, NewSec has individu-
ally appraised the market position of
each JM-owned property. The valuation

factors are defined from a tenant per-
spective and thus reflect the key parame-
ters for the tenants’ choice of commer-
cial space or housing in each respective
submarket.

For office space, the grounds for assess-
ment included factors such as communi-
cations, amenities and the local environ-
ment, as well as attractiveness with
regard to building standards, mainte-
nance and access to parking.

For a property that is deemed to have
the best position in a market with open
competition, the rental risk is lower than
for properties in less desirable locations.
Consequently, the total yield require-

ment is lower for an attractively situated
property. The market position of a prop-
erty is therefore a sound basis for deter-
mining which yield requirement to apply
for calculation of real estate value. For
each property, NewSec has computed a
direct yield requirement for use in cal-
culating the market value.

The appraised market value of JM’s
portfolio is MSEK 6,352 and the book
value of these properties is MSEK 4,286.
The market positions and market values
in the respective submarkets are shown
in the tables and diagrams on page 26.

Properties under construction or for further
development
The combined market value of JM’s port-
folio in this category at year-end 2000
was appraised at MSEK 3,267. The value
assessment was based on current rental
revenues and future use of the proper-
ties, taking conversion and extension
costs into account. In light of the risks
associated with project properties, a
cautious appraisal is made. The corre-
sponding book value is MSEK 2,159. 

greater stockholm – In terms of value,
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Valuation of JM’s 
real estate portfolio

Two examples of retail properties in JM’s portfolio are the market hall in Uppsala (at left) and Lidingö Center (at right).Both properties were sold in March 2001.
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the key holdings in the greater Stockholm
area are several projects on prime inner-
city or peripheral locations. Among the
most notable is the hotel on Vasagatan
and office buildings in Frösunda, Solna.
These projects are intended for develop-
ment mainly during 2001–2005 and rep-
resent a substantial share of Stockholm’s
planned expansion over the next few
years. The estimated market value of the
project properties in the greater Stock-
holm area is MSEK 3,142.

rest of sweden – Properties in the rest
of Sweden comprise two office buildings
in Lund and two in Uppsala, with an asses-
sed market value of MSEK 125 at year-end.

valuation of jm ’s
development properties

The appraisal was based on an assumed
sales price for the development land at
current spot prices, whereby future
development gains were not taken into
account. The value assessment was
based on the site, attractiveness, scope
and type of building planned, the stage of
the planning process and the time re-
maining before construction begins. The
assessed market value of JM’s develop-
ment properties thus amounts to a total
of MSEK 5,554 (4,453) and the corre-
sponding book value is MSEK 3,105
(2,611). The more than 9,000 residential
units owned through conditional acquisi-
tions were not included in the appraisal.

NewSec has assessed the properties’
locations and attractiveness for planned
use (residential, office, etc.) in four clas-
ses, A–D, where A represents a prime
site. The planning process has been simi-
lary divided into four stages: raw land,

general plan, detail plan and building
permit. These land values are illustrated
in the adjacent diagrams.

residential building rights in the
stockholm region – In the Stockholm
region, JM currently owns development
properties for more than 9,000 residen-
tial units. The market value at year-end
was MSEK 2,527 (2,233). At present,
demand for housing is primarily focused
on central, waterfront and particularly
picturesque locations with good com-
munications. A high proportion of JM’s
development properties meets these cri-
teria and has therefore been classified as
A sites by NewSec.

residential building rights, rest of
sweden and abroad – In the rest of
Sweden and abroad, JM owns develop-
ment properties corresponding to 8,500
residential units, primarily in the Öre-
sund region, Uppsala and Gothenburg.
JM has development properties for resi-
dential construction in additional re-
gional centers such as Västerås, Lin-
köping and Karlstad. Most of JM’s devel-
opment properties abroad are found in
Norway, and in terms of value are con-
centrated in the Oslo region. The market

value of real estate in the rest of Sweden
and abroad was approximately MSEK
1,464 (764) at year-end.

commercial building rights – In the
Stockholm region, JM has development
properties for around 125,000 square
meters of office space. The market value
at year-end was MSEK 269 (223). Devel-
opment properties in the rest of Sweden
correspond to 60,000 square meters of
office space with a value of MSEK 107
(98). JM also holds building rights for
future acquisitions, which were not
included in the value appraisal.

Some of the development properties
have existing buildings that generate
income and are planned to be renovated
or demolished in the future. Valuation
of these buildings is based on the cur-
rent rental revenue and future use tak-
ing costs for conversion and extension
into account. With regard to the risks
associated with these buildings, a cau-
tious market appraisal is made. The
combined market value of these build-
ings is MSEK 1,187 (1,134). 

MARKET VALUE OF JM’S REAL ESTATE PORTFOLIO PER 31 DEC. 2000

Book Market
Management properties, MSEK values values
Fully developed properties 4,286 6,352
Properties under construction 1,522 2,438
Properties for further development 637 829

Total 6,445 9,619

Development properties, MSEK
Total 3,105 5,554
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COMMERCIAL SPACE IN 
THE NORTHERN STOCKHOLM REGION
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Market position – management properties 
In the diagrams below, the market posi-
tions of the properties are divided into
five classes where desirable properties in
preferred locations are placed in the
dark green band and less desirable prop-
erties are placed in the red band.

The properties in the green band are

assessed to have better potential for
growth in operating nets than those in the
red band, based on stronger competitive-
ness in their respective submarkets. Each
number represents a property. For more
details about these properties, see the
schedule of real estate on pages 89–95.
The figures in the respective tables refer

only to fully developed properties in the
greater Stockholm area. Fully developed
properties in the rest of Sweden contain
around 58,000 square meters of space,
and have a market value of around MSEK
570 and a direct yield of around 8 per
cent.
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Rentable space 36,000 sq. m.

Rental revenue in 2001 (forecast) MSEK 37

Direct yield* 5.6%

Market value MSEK 430

Rentable space 67,000 sq. m.

Rental revenue in 2001 (forecast) MSEK 137

Direct yield* 6.2%

Market value MSEK 1,720

Rentable space 232,000 sq. m.

Rental revenue in 2001 (forecast) MSEK 310

Direct yield* 7.1%

Market value MSEK 3,410

Rentable space 61,000 sq. m.

Rental revenue in 2001 (forecast) MSEK 29

Direct yield* 8.5%

Market value MSEK 220

Fully developed properties Fully developed properties

Fully developed properties Fully developed properties

* The average direct yield on the market value of fully developed properties in JM’s portfolio was 6.9 per cent.

RESIDENTIAL PROPERTIES IN
THE GREATER STOCKHOLM AREA

COMMERCIAL SPACE IN
THE SOUTHERN STOCKHOLM REGION

COMMERCIAL SPACE WITHIN 
THE STOCKHOLM CITY LIMITS
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Kajkanten: “Living here is just
plain fun!”

Kajkanten is the name JM’s project on the site of the
former Eriksberg shipyard in Gothenburg, three 7-
storey apartment complexes on the shore of the
Götaälv river. Across the water, the city stretches
into the horizon.

Anna Lagerås-Jensen and her husband Morgan
live at the top of one building.Entering the spacious
front hall, the visitor is captivated by the light, the
view and the feeling of openness.

“Even though we moved from a fantastic apart-
ment in downtown Stockholm, we don’t miss city
life at all. This living environment is completely

unique.You can hear the sound of fishing boats and
trains, the air is fresh and the light is fabulous.At
night,when you see all the streetlights and colours,
it feels very continental to sit out on the terrace”,
says Anna.

The were enchanted the minute they set foot in
this tenant-owned apartment,which is flooded with
light from four directions and has three terraces
with a combined area of 60 square meters. The
floor plan is open.

“Every detail is carefully planned.The materials
are of a good quality, the ceilings are high and the
craftsmanship is excellent.You don’t have to rely on
a lot of decor when the architecture is so beautiful”,
says Anna.

“And look! Isn’t it amazing?”, she exclaims, and
shows how you can see the city from three windows
in the dining room.You don’t notice that the view
towards the water is partly blocked by another
building, since the windows are so ingeniously placed.

Anna and Morgan plan to stay here and are
already dreaming of spending their autumn years
out on the terrace, looking down on the river with
boats and people strolling along the quay.

Both have stressful jobs and their new home has
become an oasis of calm. Buying a summer cottage
just doesn’t seem necessary any more.Anna says that
every minute she spends at home is time well spent.

“And of course we’re proud of our home,which
is always nice.Living here is just plain fun!”



economic 
market factors

JM’s operations are dependent on the
general economic climate, which affects
demand for housing and commercial
premises, as well as vacancy and rental
rates. The Group has a strategic focus on
metropolitan and growth areas in Swe-
den and the other Nordic countries. A
high proportion of project development
and the entire portfolio of management
properties are concentrated in Stock-
holm, where the general economic con-
ditions are expected to remain favour-
able. JM focuses on residential project
development, and is thus strategically
well poised for the period of low infla-
tion that is expected to persist for some
time. The Group is in the process of
adjusting its balance sheet to a lower
proportion of fully developed manage-
ment properties, as a consequence of the
focus on project development.

residential properties

JM’s housing production consists mainly
of tenant-owned apartments for future
sale. The commercial risks are primarily
associated with JM’s project develop-
ment, i.e. when JM acquires undevel-
oped or developed land and improves it
through new construction, conversion
or extension. Most of the development
projects involve production of housing
for sale to tenant-owner cooperatives
formed by JM. The lead times from proj-
ect conception to final sale and occu-
pancy are long. The eventual price that

JM commands for finished tenant-owned
apartments depends on local demand
for housing, their location and attrac-
tiveness and the current rate of interest.

A number of risks can be identified in
residential project development. Plan-
ning risk (what, when and how much can
be built), interest risk (in projects and
sales), market risk (location, cost, design,
demand), implementation risk (the abil-
ity to carry out a project at the forecast-
ed cost) and political risk (zoning, infra-
structure, laws and regulations). Over
the years, JM has proven its ability to
manage these risks in a value-enhancing
manner.

Policy-makers have imposed rent con-
trols on newly produced housing, limit-
ing the scope to obtain reasonable cost
coverage for building costs and causing a
sharp decrease in the number of new
apartments. Since rented apartments
account for only a very small proportion
of JM’s production and real estate port-
folio, this had a marginal impact.  

commercial properties

There are no comparable restrictions on
commercial properties, where rents are
free to fluctuate with the business cycle.
In other respects, the risks mentioned
above for residential properties also
apply here. JM’s commercial project devel-
opment is concentrated in the Stockholm
region, where the prevailing economic
climate is decisive for assessing opportu-
nities and risks. 

Since the leases in JM’s management

properties run for an average of four
years, around 25 per cent of the rented
portfolio is renegotiated every year, de-
laying the effects of both rising and fal-
ling market rents. The current trend is par-
ticularly favourable in Stockholm, where
JM’s management properties are located.
Apart from dependency on the economic
cycle, one critical success factor is the
ability to focus strategically and consis-
tently on project development of the right
properties in the right locations. This
requires both good local familiarity and
business sense, something JM prioritizes.

competitive scenario 

JM’s chief competitors in project devel-
opment are Skanska, NCC and Peab.
These companies are increasingly adopt-
ing the model JM has successfully
applied for many years, primarily in resi-
dential development. However, this tactic
is difficult to copy and relies on a num-
ber of factors that interact effectively
within JM – its corporate culture, agility,
expertise in acquisitions, decision-mak-
ing structure, holistic approach to proj-
ects, quality profile and sales. Ongoing
efforts are made to uphold strong com-
petitiveness. The pursuit of continuous
improvement permeates all parts of the
company.

major residential 
projects in stockholm

In recent years, the Group has increased
the volume of development properties
for future projects. These large acquisi-
tions have primarily taken place in Stock-
holm and are associated with both sig-
nificant potential and a theoretical in-
crease in risk. However, from a risk stand-
point it should be noted that a high pro-
portion of the properties are classified
as project properties which generate
operating surpluses that cover part of the
financing cost. The large-scale projects
on Lilla Essingen, Lidingö, Långbro and
Liljeholmskajen in Årstadal extend over
6–9 years, and the exact pace of devel-
opment can be adapted to the assessed
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Continued good opportunities
and limited risk



market risk. From a risk perspective, the
projects in question should be seen as a
larger number of sub-projects in which
decisions regarding housing starts are
made continuously. A certain share of
residential units are sold before con-
struction is started, adapted to the
assessed sales risk. The potential of these
projects is mainly dependent on the
number of apartments and the market
price on the date of sale. Interest risk in
the current investments is limited in
that a portion of the related financing car-
ries fixed interest during the project
period and the variable portion is con-
tinuously monitored according to cer-
tain fixed limits.

general interest rates

The interest expense on the Group’s sub-
stantial net borrowing is naturally affect-
ed by general interest rates. Furthermore,
the interest rate determines the yield
requirement for real estate valuation
and therefore also the assessed market
value of the Group’s assets in the form
of management and development prop-
erties. The sales prices for JM’s products,
residential and commercial properties,
are similarly affected. Demand for these
products, particularly housing, is also
linked to the general interest rate, which
thus represents both a risk and an oppor-
tunity. The general assessment is that
interest rates will remain low.

consumer wealth 
and spending power

Price development for housing is affect-
ed by consumer wealth and spending
power. The generally robust economy
with rising stock prices has fuelled price
development in recent years. Sustained,
dramatic decreases in stock prices affect
the housing market at a certain delay,
with a stronger relative impact on high-
priced housing in metropolitan areas. At
the same time, a sizeable group of house-
holds has sufficient regular income to
afford JM’s housing without any major
sacrifices, even at the current prices for

preferred locations in Stockholm. Growth
in spending power and an ongoing popu-
lation influx to the major Nordic cities
are expected to generate stable price
growth for housing even in the event of
temporary setbacks in wealth attribut-
able to the stock market.

cost structure

Effective cost control is vital in project
development. JM’s primary volume is
attributable to residential project devel-
opment in Sweden. In 2000 the cost for
this amounted to around MSEK 3,400,
broken down as follows:

Direct salaries/wages and direct mate-
rial make up 10 and 12 per cent of JM’s
project costs, respectively. The general
trend for salaries/wages and material
costs in the industry have a stronger
impact on JM, since these are the main
cost components in subcontracting.

Because JM has limited production re-
sources, there is a strong dependency on
cost development among subcontractors.
In order to minimize risk exposure with
regard to strategic expertise and depend-
ency on certain types of subcontracting,
JM established JM Stombyggnad AB and
JM Inredning AB a few years ago and re-
cently acquired Lindqvist Rör AB. JM

Entreprenad and JM Anläggning are also
increasingly active in JM’s project devel-
opment. Since resources are generally
secured well ahead of time, JM has an
effectively controlled cost situation.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS FOR VARIOUS
COST CATEGORIES IN RESIDENTIAL

PROJECT DEVELOPMENT

Category Change Effect
Salaries/wages +/– 10% +/– MSEK 34
Materials +/– 10% +/– MSEK 41
Land +/– 10% +/– MSEK 51
Builder’s expenses +/– 10% +/– MSEK 24
Planning and design +/– 10% +/– MSEK 20
Overhead expenses +/– 10% +/– MSEK 75
Subcontracting +/– 10% +/– MSEK95

site lease rents

Of the Group’s 105 management prop-
erties, 88 are owned with freeholds and
17 with site leaseholds. Total site lease
rents in 2000 amounted to MSEK 23
(20). Current site lease rents are shown
in the schedule of real estate on pages
89–97.

property tax

A new general tax assessment of rental
properties was carried out in 2000. Res-
idential property tax was decreased
from 1.3 to 1.2 per cent, based on the
lower of 1999 and 2000 tax assessment
values. For commercial and industrial
properties, the tax rates were un-
changed at 1.0 and 0.5 per cent, respec-
tively. The coefficient for commercial
properties in the Stockholm area and
certain large municipalities was 1.04 on
the new tax assessment values. In the
rest of the country, the coefficient was
0.96. 
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Salaries/wages, 10%

Materials, 12%

Land, 15%

Builder's expenses, 7%

Planning and design, 6%

Overhead expenses, 22%

Subcontracting, 28%

Cost structure

RENEGOTIATION OF 
SITE LEASE RENTS 2001–2005 *

Present Share of
Renego- site lease total site
tiation rent, MSEK lease rents, %
2001 0 0
2002 3.4 29
2003 3.2 28
2004 1.1 9
2005 and later 3.9 34

Total 11.6 100

* For current property holdings

Land refers to the acquisition cost for land. Builder’s
expenses refer to costs that are not directly related to
contracting, such as municipal connection fees or regis-
tration of titles. Planning and design refers mainly to
costs for technical consultants. Overhead expenses refer
to incidental costs for setting up the building site and rents
for leased fixed assets, such as machinery and equipment.
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JM’s property tax rose by MSEK 6 to
MSEK 43 (37) due to the substantial
increase in tax assessment values for
commercial space in rental properties in
the Stockholm area.

The tax rate for residential properties
in 2001 was reduced from 1.2 per cent
to 0.7 per cent. The coefficient for resi-

dential properties will be 1.24 in the
Stockholm region, 1.18 in the Gothen-
burg region and major regional centers
and 1.09 in the rest of the country. For
commercial properties, the property tax
rate will be unchanged at 1 per cent,
with a coefficient of 1.19 in the Stock-
holm region, 1.10 in the Gothenburg

region and major regional centers and
1.01 in the rest of the country. Property
tax will thus increase significantly in
2001 as well. In commercial leases JM is
compensated for most of the property
tax, although the tax limits the scope for
rent adjustments in renegotiation of
rental terms.

Major potential in the portfolio 
of residential building rights 
In the past few years JM has acquired a large num-
ber of building rights for residential project devel-
opment, in most cases at attractive prices relative
to current market valuations.At year-end 2000,
these building rights amounted to around 27,000.

JM has good potential,with limited risk,to attain
a substantial yield on the underlying value of the
building rights. Around 9,000 of the building rights
(of which 3,500 are in Stockholm,2,500 in the rest
of Sweden and 3,000 in Norway) are conditional
acquisitions where payment has not yet taken
place. As a result,these building rights are not
included in the book value in the balance sheet.

One way to reflect the dynamics of the build-
ing rights portfolio is by carrying out a sensitivity
analysis in which all anticipated cash flows from
the portfolio,are calculated at net present value.
Below are a number of simplified assumptions
designed to illustrate the net present value of JM’s
building rights portfolio at a number of assumed
sales prices:27,000 building rights evenly utilized
in development projects over a period of 7 years
(3,000 last year).The initial investment is excluded
since the purpose of the analysis is to illustrate
the value of the portfolio.However, investments
not yet paid of around MSEK 1,000 for condi-
tional acquisitions or deferred payments are
included in the analysis as a constant outgoing

cash flow during the period.From a general valua-
tion perspective, it should be noted that the mar-
ket value of development properties includes
approx.MSEK 1,000 in land and properties that
can be sold without appreciably reducing the
number of building rights.

JM’s normal residential unit is assumed to be
85 square meters, the tax rate is set at 28 per
cent and the discounted interest rate at 7 per
cent.The calculation is not indexed for inflation
and is not a forecast.

The table shows the assumed income and proj-
ect expenses per square meter of apartment space
excluding VAT.If a specific income/project expense
per square meter is applied to the entire building
rights portfolio, a value is created (expressed as

present value).The analysis shows a strong lever-
age effect in value creation depending on the
company’s ability to effectively manage both
income and expenses, and not least the general
trend for housing prices during the period. A
price or cost change of SEK 1,000 per square
meter corresponds to around MSEK 1,300,or
SEK 40 per share according to the grounds for
this assumption.The dynamics of JM’s building
rights portfolio are thus considerable.One of the
key success factors for the foreseeable future has
already been secured,namely the acquisition of
attractive development properties.For obvious
reasons, it is vital to continuously obtain new
building rights to ensure long-term sustainable
growth in residential project development.

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS: PRESENT VALUE IN MSEK 
OF JM’S RESIDENTIAL BUILDING RIGHTS

Income/
sq.m. SEK 15,000 SEK 16,000 SEK 17,000 SEK 18,000 SEK 19,000

Expenses/
sq. m.

SEK 11,000 5,000 6,200 7,500 8,800 10,100

SEK 12,000 3,700 5,000 6,200 7,500 8,800

SEK 13,000 2,400 3,700 5,000 6,200 7,500

SEK 14,000 1,100 2,400 3,700 5,000 6,200
0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

0099989796

MSEK

Development properties
(book value)

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

00999897969594939291

Population growth in the greater Stockholm area

No. of housing starts

Source: Statistics Sweden, SCB

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

00999897969594939291

Population growth in the greater Oslo area

No. of housing starts

Source: Statistics Norway, SCB

Population growth and housing starts for multifamily
dwellings in the greater Stockholm area

Population growth and housing starts for multifamily
dwellings in the greater Oslo area

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

00999897969594939291

Population growth in the greater Copenhagen area

No. of housing starts

Source: Statistics Denmark

Population growth and housing starts for multifamily
dwellings in the greater Copenhagen area



JM AB  Annual Report 2000

O P P O R T U N I T I E S  A N D  R I S K S 31

On Lilla Essingen in Stockholm, the Essinge Udde residential project is taking form with attractive lakeside apartments in an urban setting. When completed,
the area will include more than 700 residential units and around 5,000 square meters of commercial space.

exchange rates

The Group’s foreign exchange effects
related to the investment in Norwegian
Byggholt have been eliminated. The in-
vestment of MSEK 128 has been hedged
in the consolidated balance sheet against

corresponding borrowing in Norwegian
kroner. The loan is amortized in pace
with depreciation of goodwill. Other-
wise, the Group’s balance sheet expo-
sure is limited. Flows in foreign cur-
rency are virtually non-existent. In light
of JM’s market situation, currency expo-

sure and strategy, Swedish kronor are
judged to be the basic currency for JM
in the next few years. With the new
business system AS 2000 (with SAP’s
R/3) there will be adequate administra-
tive capacity for a changeover to Euro.
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The JM share is listed on the OM Stock-
holm Stock Exchange. The share capital
amounts to SEK 132,964,000, divided
among 33,241,000 shares with a par value
of SEK 4 each. The shares are of two
types: class A shares, which carry 10 votes
each, and class B shares, which carry 1
vote each. Trading takes place in class B
shares. In October 2000, in connection
with the sale of Skanska’s shares in JM,
917,000 class A shares were converted to
class B shares, reducing the number of
class A shares to 333,000. At the Annual
General Meeting for 2001, a change in the
Articles of Association will be proposed.
If the proposal is accepted, all shares will
carry the same number of votes.

trading volume

Close to 22 million JM shares were

traded in 2000. The share price rose by
more than 27 per cent during the year,
compared with an increase of just over
30 per cent for the construction and
civil engineering index. The Affärs-
världen General Index fell more than 12
per cent. The highest price paid for the
share was SEK 238 and the lowest was
SEK 143.

ownership structure

JM had 3,579 shareholders per 31
December 2000, most of whom were pri-
vate persons with smaller holdings. Insti-
tutional ownership of JM shares at year-
end 2000 amounted to around 94 per
cent. The number of shareholders with
holdings of more than 100,000 shares
increased from 45 at year-end 1999 to 72
at the end of 2000. Foreign ownership

rose markedly to 18.5 (3.8) per cent, a
trend that has continued into 2001.

dividend policy

Over time, the dividend should reflect
the earnings trend in ongoing operations
and correspond to an average 50 per cent
of consolidated profit after tax over a
business cycle. Gains on the sale of
properties are a natural part of JM’s
project development operations, and are
included in calculation of dividends.
Over the past five years through 1999,
the average dividend has been equiva-
lent to around 36 per cent of the Group’s
profit after tax.

repurchase 
of shares

JM prioritizes active management of the
balance sheet. The strong cash flow gen-
erated by a rising project volume and
sales of fully developed properties has
provided scope to redistribute funds to
the shareholders. The Board has request-
ed the approval of the Annual General
Meeting to repurchase up to 10 per cent
of the shares in the company. The regu-
lar dividend in combination with the
proposed buy-back would result in the
redistribution of around SEK 1 billion to
JM’s shareholders. 

SHARE DATA

2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Share price as per 31 Dec. (SEK) 209 164 125 118 120
Highest price during the year (SEK) 238 174 163 127 122
Lowest price during the year (SEK) 143 111 105 108 55.5
Average daily trading volume during the year 86,692 37,330 20,139 38,826 30,658
Total trading volume during the year 21,759,592 9,407,118 5,034,817 9,667,830 7,695,050
Direct yield as per 31 Dec. (%) 4.8 4.1 2.6 2.8 1.7
Market capitalization per 31 Dec. (MSEK) 6,947 5,452 4,155 3,853 3,918
Source: SIX Findata

Number of shares as per 31 Dec. 33,241,000 33,241,000 33,241,000 32,653,000 32,653,000
Profit after tax (SEK) 25.40 13.30 7.25 10.95 4.75
Ordinary dividend (SEK) 10.00* 6.75 3.25 2.25 2.00
Extra dividend (SEK) – – – 1.00 –
Dividend as a % of profit after tax 39 50 45 30 42

P/E ratio per 31 Dec. 8 12 17 11 25
Highest P/E during the year 9 13 22 12 26
Lowest P/E ratio during the year 6 8 15 10 12
Source: JM

* As proposed by the Board

Significantly
higher dividend
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CHANGES IN THE SHARE CAPITAL 1980–2000

New Bonus Par Share
issue, issue, Share No. of value/ capital,

Year MSEK MSEK split shares share MSEK
1980 200,000 SEK 100 20.0
1981 5.0 5:1 1,250,000 SEK 20 25.0
1982 42.2 3,358,000 SEK 20 67.2
1985 18.0 4,258,000 SEK 20 85.2
1989 5:1 21,290,000 SEK 4 85.2
1995 45.4 32,653,000 SEK 4 130.6
1998* 2.4 33,241,000 SEK 4 133.0
* Conversion of debenture loan

DISTRIBUTION BY CLASS OF SHARES,31 DEC.2000

Number of % of share % of 
Class shares capital votes
A 333,000 1.0 9.2
B 32,908,000 99.0 90.8

Total 33,241,000 100.0 100.0

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE PER 31 DEC.2000

No. of % of Total no. % of
Size of share- share- of shares share
holding holders holders owned capital
1–500 2,879 80.4 339,534 1.0
501–1,000 218 6.1 180,614 0.5
1,001–2,000 133 3.7 219,401 0.7
2,001–5,000 96 2.7 346,310 1.0
5,001–10,000 72 2.0 546,152 1.6
10,001–20,000 46 1.3 647,299 2.0
20,001–50,000 39 1.1 1,299,295 3.9
50,001–100,000 24 0.7 1,825,807 5.5
100,001– 72 2.0 27,836,588 83.8

Total 3,579 100.0 33,241,000 100.0

The number of shareholders on 31 December 2000 was 3,579.

LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS PER 28 FEB.2001 

No. of % of
Shareholder shares shares
SEB – mutual funds and foundations 4,920,895 14.8
Nordea – mutual funds* 3,650,900 11.0
FöreningsSparbanken – mutual funds 1,957,500 5.9
AMF Pension and mutual funds 1,763,000 5.3
Stefan Persson Placering AB 1,212,000 3.6
Skandia 1,184,300 3.6
SHB – mutual funds 1,044,100 3.1
Alecta (former SPP) 730,048 2.2
The Swedish Metal Workers’ Union 669,924 2.0
Third National Pension Fund 610,000 1.8
Foreign shareholder 6,252,026 18.8
Other shareholders 9,246,307 27.9
Total 33,241,000 100.0

* Nordea’s holdings include 2.5% in Luxembourg funds.

STOCKBROKERS WHO CONTINUOUSLY MONITOR JM

ABG Securities, Alfred Berg Fondkommission, Aragon Fondkommission, ArosMaizels,
CAI Cheuvreux Nordic, D. Carnegie, Danske Securities, E. Öhman J:or Fondkommission,
Enskilda Securities, Erik Penser Fondkommission, Handelsbanken Markets, Nordiska
Fondkommission, Swedbank Markets, Hagströmer & Qviberg Fondkommission.
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The business unit’s primary task is to
seek and acquire suitable development
properties in order to plan, design, build
and sell housing. The unit operates in
the greater Stockholm area and is orga-
nized in four regions – North, South,
Central and Inner City.

The subsidiaries JM Stombyggnad AB
and JM Inredning AB belong to this
business unit. 

The business unit’s production starts
increased to 1,400 (1,000) residential
units during the year.

the market

Demand for housing in the greater
Stockholm area has grown dramatically,
while the supply has increased slowly.
For several consecutive years the annual
population influx has been around 20,000
residents, whereas the number of hous-
ing starts has been only about 4,000–
5,000 per year. The result is that housing
prices have been forced up to excep-
tional levels. 

There are no indications of a change in
the balance of supply and demand in the
next few years. 

profit 

Profit in Stockholm Residential amount-
ed to MSEK 378 (180), an improvement
of 110 per cent compared with the pre-
ceding year,  and included gains of MSEK
41 (–) on the sale of project-related prop-
erties.  

The operating margin was 13.9 (10.9)
per cent and return on capital employed

was 22.6 (14.3) per cent. Net sales total-
led MSEK 2,421 (1,658), which represents
an increase of 46 per cent. The increased
order backlog is attributable to a large
volume of scheduled project starts.

building rights 
and project status

The planning processes and project status
are proceeding according to plan, with
strong demand and housing sales at excel-
lent prices directly after completion.
There is a keen demand for advance op-
tions on housing not yet completed. Sales
of tenant-owned apartments are handled
primarily by JM’s own real estate agents.

investments
Properties were sold during the year for
a combined value of MSEK 789, corre-
sponding to around 2,000 residential units.
At year-end, the business unit held
building rights for around 12,500 (12,000)
residential units, of which around 4,000
within 5 km from downtown Stockholm.
The book value of the building rights
portfolio is MSEK 2,020 (1,904).

The year’s most significant acquisi-
tion took place in central Gustavsberg
and could provide more than 1,000
building rights. The acquisition was car-

ried out in the form of an exchange
transaction with Gyllenforsen Fastig-
heter and included 1,550 hectares of
land, 700 existing residential units and
some 50,000 square meters of commer-
cial space. The acquisition price was
approximately MSEK 350. Around 400
of the existing units were sold during
the year.

completed
projects

Projects completed during the year in-
clude Kista Ängar in Kista with 230 units,
Snötäcket in Björkhagen with 50 units
and Edsbacka in Sollentuna with around
100 units.

On Värmdö, 45 residential units in
Farsta Slottsvik and a project with 17
units in Värmdövik were completed.
Twenty residential units were completed
on Vendelsö in Haninge and 34 in Salt-
sjöbaden, Nacka.

In the Segeltorp area of Huddinge, 12
residential units were completed in the
final phase of a 400-unit project carried
out in 1999.

ongoing and 
planned projects

Notable projects launched during the
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PROFIT IN SUMMARY

MSEK 2000 1999
Net sales 2,421 1,658
Costs for production
and management -1,958 -1,396
Selling and administrative 
expenses -126 -82
Gross profit 337 180
Gains on the sale of properties 41 –
Profit in Business Unit
Stockholm Residential 378 180

Key ratios
Margin (%) 13.9 10.9
Capital employed* 1,671 1,263
Return on capital
employed (%) 22.6 14.3
Order bookings 4,210 1,958
Order backlog
(31 December) 3,268 1,357
No. of employees
(31 December) 589 441

* Average

Strong volume 
and earnings growth

KEY STATISTICS 

Number 2000 1999
Acquired building rights 2,000 2,100
Housing starts 1,400 1,000
Building rights portfolio 12,500 12,000
Book value of development
properties (MSEK) 2,020 1,904
Properties sold 655 797



JM AB  Annual Report 2000

B U S I N E S S  U N I T  S T O C K H O L M  R E S I D E N T I A L 35

year included two blocks with around
300 residential units in Hammarby Sjö-
stad, 70 units in the Essinge Udde section
of Lilla Essingen, where an office complex
is being converted into attractive water-
front apartments in the initial phase, 70
units on the former campus of Långbro
Hospital, and Sickla Strand in Nacka,
where 200 residential units were started.

Other projects that commenced in
2000 were Mälarklippan in Gröndal, with
130 residential units and the 126-unit
Vallgossen development on central Kungs-
holmen – a project with a prominent IT

profile in association with Ericsson and
Electrolux. In the Hagaberg area of Åkers-
berga, construction of 200 single-family
houses was started with an initial phase
of 25 units.

In Värmdövik, the highly publicized
Smart Homes project is underway and
the first phase was completed during
the autumn. A total of 130 single-family
houses, including six Smart Homes, will
be built in Värmdövik.

On western Kungsholmen in Stock-
holm, two properties will be developed
(part of the Lustgården and Kojan blocks)

and are planned to contain more than
500 residential units. Another major
project is Silverdal in the Margreteborg
section of Sollentuna, were some 250
apartments are planned.

Several projects at the planning stage
are scheduled to commence in 2001. The
significant new construction projects
include Liljeholmskajen with 2,500 resi-
dential units, Essinge Udde with more
than 700 units, Bolinder Strand in Jär-
fälla with 600 units and Långbro Park
with 650 units. In northern Frösunda,
650 units are planned.

Sweden’s first homes with structurally integrated solar panels are being built by JM in the Hammarby Sjöstad area of southern Stockholm. The project is called
Hammarby Sjö and includes more than 160 residential units. Occupancy is scheduled for autumn/winter 2001.
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Centralvägen: “JM’s slogan 
‘Room for enjoyment’ is a
perfect description”

“It’s essential to have a sense of well being.Time is
so scare, and if you spend your days rushing about
at work it becomes even more valuable.That’s why
it’s so nice to wake up every morning and say ‘I
love my home!’”.

Helena Lindman is enthusiastic about her new
tenant-owned apartment in an older residential
community on Lidingö. She and her husband Tor-
björn Karlsson looked at several detached homes,
row houses and downtown apartments, but didn’t

think they were interested in a tenant-owned
apartment outside the city limits. Surprisingly, it
turned out to be the optimal solution.

Here, Helena’s 5-year-old son Gabriel can go
out by himself, meet other children, play hockey,
check on his rabbit or pet the neighbour’s dog.She
feels it’s an excellent environment for children.

“When you come from the countryside, it’s
hard to see you child grow up in the city. Here we
have the kind of contact with our neighbours you
always dream of. Everyone knows each other and
tries to help out when they can.We actually all get
together once a month for dinner.”

The building contains five tenant-owned apart-

ments and the units on the top floor have a view all
the way to the Globen Arena south of Stockholm.
Helena and Torbjörn live on the ground floor,which
provides more of a detached home feeling. In the
summer they can step down from their back porch
onto the lawn, where the bushes are bustling with
small birds and squirrels busy gathering acorns.

“I would have to say that JM’s slogan ‘Room for
enjoyment’ is a perfect description. We’re de-
lighted with everything – the floor plan, the mate-
rials and the attention to detail. The kitchen is
especially nice, and that’s saying a lot coming from
someone who’s used to first-rate kitchens”, says
Helena.
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The business unit’s core activity is com-
mercial project development within
Stockholm County. Project development
is carried out primarily with the appli-
cation of JM’s own resources. The busi-
ness unit is also active as a builder and
civil engineering contractor through JM
Entreprenad and JM Anläggning, in ad-
dition to the subsidiaries AB Projekt-
garanti, which operates as a construc-
tion management company, and the sub-
sidiary O. Timblads Målerifirma AB, a
painting firm.

All units are strategic resources for
JM’s own project development and have
both internal and external clients. The
dominant internal assignments are com-
pletion of Nordic Hotel, ongoing exten-
sion of offices in Frösunda and remodel-
ling of offices in Mörby Center and
Gamla Stan.

The major external assignments are
construction of offices and housing on
the Jericho block on behalf of Diligentia
and on the Hägern Mindre block on
behalf of Tornet. Other external assign-
ments include rebuilding of Terminal 5
at Arlanda Airport and remodelling of
the Södersjukhuset for Locum. As JM’s
project volume increases, a higher propor-
tion of contracting resources are used
internally.

market

Investments in office and commercial
space in the greater Stockholm area have
shown favourable development over the
past 2–3 years. Demand for office space

in prime locations remains intense and
the vacancy rate in the inner city and
surrounding areas is expected to remain
low. Rents soared in 2000, with rates for
prime downtown locations in the so-
called “Golden Triangle” climbing to
more than SEK 4,500 per square meter,
while rents in the rest of downtown are
now in the range of SEK 3,500–4,500 per
square meter. In areas like Mörby Center
and Frösunda, leases have been signed
with rents of SEK 2,500–3,000 per square
meter.

The business unit has few competitors
in development of large-scale projects in
central locations. The dominant players
aside from JM, NCC and Skanska are a
number of large real estate companies.

profit

The business unit’s profit in 2000 amount-
ed to MSEK 146 (87). Return on capital
employed was 7.7 (7.4) per cent. Net
sales amounted to MSEK 1,626 (1,470),
an increase of 11 per cent. Net sales
include rental revenue of MSEK 104 (72)
from management properties. Other net
sales are attributable to contracting
operations, including production related
to management properties under con-
struction. The business unit’s profit
includes an operating net of MSEK 65
(42) from property management (see
also p. 43 Business Development/Real
Estate). Project development has not yet
resulted in any sales. This will not take
place to a significant extent until 2002.

investments

In the Frösunda area of Solna, by JM’s new
head office, construction of an addition-
al 10,000 square meters of office space
has been started and is scheduled for
completion in the third quarter of 2001.

During the year, remodelling of 4,600
square meters in JM’s portfolio in Mörby
and 2,600 square meters on the Glaucus
block in Gamla Stan was completed. In
the first half of 2001, small-scale re-
modelling of 2,600 square meters of
office and residential space will be com-
pleted on the Barnhuset block.

On Vasagatan, near Stockholm Central
Station and the Arlanda Express Termi-
nal, the business unit has completed
total renovation and remodelling of the
former Norrmalm police station and
extension of a low-rise on the neigh-
bouring block, the so-called Mercedes
building. Together these two structures
make up Stockholm’s largest hotel, Nordic
Hotel, with 542 rooms. The hotel opened
in January 2001. The Mercedes building
also contains some 12,000 square meters
of office space, for which leases were
signed during the year at rental rates of
SEK 4,000–5,000 per square meter. 

The period’s investments in existing
properties totalled MSEK 417.

Substantial values in 
commercial project development

PROFIT IN SUMMARY

MSEK 2000 1999
Net sales 1,626 1,470
Cost for production
and management -1,410 -1,305
Selling and administrative
expenses -102 -78
Gross profit 114 87
Gains on the sale of properties 2 –
Gains on the sale of operations 30 –
Profit in Business Unit
Stockholm Commercial 146 87

Key ratios
Margin (%) 7.0 5.9
Capital employed* 1,900 1,178
Return on capital 
employed (%) 7.7 7.4
Order bookings 1,928 1,314
Order backlog
(31 December) 1,310 623
No. of employees
(31 December) 704 944

* Average
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sales

JM sold two undeveloped industrial sites
during the year, Veddesta 2:71 in Jär-
fälla and Sotaren 2 in Täby, generating a
capital gain of MSEK 2.2.

During the year, JM sold its machine
service operations to Cramo AB with a
capital gain of MSEK 30.

planned projects

The business unit has building rights for
future development of more than 200,000
square meters of commercial space. The
major projects are located in:

Downtown Stockholm 40,000 sq.m.

Western Kungsholmen,Stockholm 35,000 sq.m.

Liljeholmen,Stockholm 12,000 sq.m.

Södermalm,Stockholm 12,000 sq.m.

Northern Frösunda, Solna 50,000 sq.m.

Bergshamra, Solna 14,000 sq.m.

Silverdal, Sollentuna 50,000 sq.m.

Stockholm’s political leaders are taking
decisive action to revitalise and refur-
bish the city by increasing the intersper-
sion of housing, hotels and pedestrian
areas. As a result, some of the building
rights may be utilized for housing
instead of office space.

In the city center, by Hötorget, JM is
playing an active role in this urban
renewal. On the Adam och Eva and

Beridarebanan blocks, housing and of-
fices will be built in existing structures
and the facades and shopping streets
will be renovated. Detail plans are being
drawn up in close collaboration with
representatives from the City and are
expected to be completed by year-end
2001. The tenants will remain in the
buildings during the renovation and
remodelling process, which is scheduled
for completion in 2003.

During the year, JM signed an agree-
ment with the City of Stockholm to
acquire the Lustgården 6 property on
Western Kungsholmen for MSEK 262,
with occupancy and payment in the
third quarter of 2001. Detail plans are
expected to be completed in the second
quarter of 2002. The project includes
35,000 square meters of office and resi-
dential space. 

By Liljeholmstorget, detail planning
of a mixed-use residential, office and
retail complex is nearing completion. In
addition, connections and depots for
buses, subway and streetcar lines will
be upgraded. Construction of the office
building is scheduled to commence at
year-end 2001.

On Södermalm, in the old Barnängen
factory and later Norstedts Tryckeri,
JM will launch a large-scale renovation

project in 2001. The factory, part of
which is a listed historical site, will be
transformed into modern and func-
tional office facilities.  

In northern Frösunda, Solna, detail
planning is underway for the final stage of
the Frösunda area. JM is responsible for
implementing all office and residential
construction, as well as the surrounding
streets, parks, etc. In order to enhance
the area’s attractiveness, there are plans
to build a small lake. Commencement of
the office building is scheduled for 2002,
when the current extension of JM’s head
office has been completed.

In Bergshamra, Solna, JM started
extension of an another new office com-
plex in 2001. The complex will be situ-
ated adjacent to the existing Brunns-
viken office currently leased from JM
by AssiDomän.

The first detail plan for the Silverdal
development was approved in Decem-
ber. Silverdal will be a complement to
Kista and will offer both attractive
housing and innovatively designed office
facilities. The project will be a joint
venture (50/50) between JM and Skan-
ska. JM’s share of the commercial space
amounts to around 500,000 square
meters. Construction is scheduled to
begin in 2001.

Close to both the Arlanda Line and the Central Station, just around the corner from Stockholm’s pulsating nightlife, Nordic Hotel is an attractive alternative for
business travellers. The hotel is a member of the exclusive global consortium Design Hotels, distinguished by creative architecture and design.
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The mosque: “Our cooperation
with JM was successful”

For 20 years there was talk of building a mosque for
Stockholm’s Muslim population.Many locations were
considered, but the final choice fell to Kapellgränd
by Medborgarplatsen on Södermalm,where a listed
historical building was transformed into a Muslim
sanctuary.

“When I first saw the building I wondered how it
was possible.The floor was full of holes and was
otherwise littered with old bolts and bits of metal
debris.But we concentrated on the end results and
had no problem getting the builder to understand

what we wanted.Our cooperation with JM was suc-
cessful”, says Mostafa Kharraki, Project Leader for
the Muslim congregation.

Around 1,600 people can fit into the vast prayer
hall at once.The old cable ducts in the basement
were converted into washing rooms, where wor-
shipers can purify themselves before prayer.The
building also houses a library, meeting rooms and
lecture halls, a café and a shop. A minaret and dome
were added on to the existing structure.

“We were more than satisfied with all of this,but
because of the building’s historical status there
were many things that could not be changed. For
example we were not allowed to build the minaret

higher, alter certain stairways or remove the iron
girders in the ceiling of the prayer hall.”

The project took a year to complete and was
financed with donations and gifts.For the Muslims of
Stockholm,the mosque has brought many changes.

“Earlier,when we gathered in basements and cel-
lars, no one was interested in our activities. Now,
many people come to look – members of parlia-
ment,police groups,pensioners and school children.
Everyone is curious about Islam and the building
itself.The mosque is like a bridge between us and
the Swedes.And we feel more accepted now that
we have a place of our own,in the middle of the cap-
ital city”, says Mostafa Kharraki.
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Business Unit Sweden conducts project
development in desirable areas of growth
markets, with a focus on housing and, to
a lesser extent, also commercial proper-
ties. The unit takes responsibility for
the entire value chain from project con-
ception and land acquisition to planning,
design, production and sales. Activities
are concentrated in major cities outside
the Stockholm region, in university/col-
lege towns and regional centers from
Uppsala southwards.

The business unit is organized in six
regions:
• uppland region: Uppsala, Norrtälje,

Sigtuna, Vallentuna and Upplands-
Väsby.

• mälardalen region: Västerås,
Strängnäs and Eskilstuna.

• central region: Karlstad and
Örebro.

• eastern region: Linköping, Norr-
köping, Jönköping and Nyköping.

• western region: the greater Gothen-
burg area.

• southern region: the Malmö/Lund
area, Helsingborg, Halmstad, Växjö
and Karlskrona.

Until the beginning of 2001 the unit was
also active in Umeå and Östersund, after
which these operations were wound up.

During 2000, construction of around
1,000 (950) residential units was started
in 37 (33) different projects and a com-
bined 4,800 square meters of commer-
cial space were started in two projects.
The excellent market conditions for the
business unit are expected to persist

throughout the next few years and will
be optimized through a strong focus on
customer relations, customer adapta-
tions and selectivity in land acquisitions.

market

Demand for housing was strong through-
out the year in all regions, particularly
university towns, and housing prices
have risen sharply. There is no sign of a
slackening in demand in the foreseeable
future. 

Business Unit Sweden is the market-
leader in development of tenant-owned
apartments and single-family homes in
most of the areas where it is active.
Other significant players in this market
are Skanska and NCC.

profit

In 2000, Business Unit Sweden posted a
profit of MSEK 138 (72), including gains
on the sale of properties amounting to
MSEK 14 (–), an improvement of 92 per
cent compared with the previous year.
The operating margin excluding prop-
erty sales was 6.9 (4.6) per cent and
return on capital employed was 20.4
(21.6) per cent. Net sales totalled MSEK
1,803 (1,562), up 15 per cent on the
year-earlier figure. Volume and earnings
growth were concentrated in the South-
ern, Uppland and Western regions.

PROFIT IN SUMMARY

MSEK 2000 1999
Net sales 1,803 1,562
Cost for production
and management -1,595 -1,420
Selling and administrative
expenses -84 -70
Gross profit 124 72
Gains on the sale of properties 14 –
Profit in Business Unit 138 72
Sweden

Key ratios
Margin (%) 6.9 4.6
Capital employed* 676 333
Return on capital
employed (%) 20.4 21.6
Order bookings 1,616 1,647
Order backlog
(31 December) 1,019 1,105
No. of employees
(31 December) 576 511

* Average

Strong demand in all
growth markets

In Karlstad, JM has built 25 apartments on behalf of the Brandmästaren tenant-owner cooperative. All of
the units are equipped with solar panels and individual water and heating meters (at left). Modern, func-
tional and unique homes. In Växjö, a 150-year old former prison,Kastellet, has been transformed into resi-
dential units (at right).
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portfolio of building rights 
and project status

More than 200 completed residential
apartments are leased in blocks to the
municipalities of Uppsala and Västerås as
assisted living units, and are therefore not
included in the sales statistics. The major
projects are progressing according to plan.

investments

During the year, an agreement was signed
to acquire a development property corre-
sponding to more than 2,200 residential
units. At year-end, the business unit held
building rights for more than 9,000
(8,000) units in attractive areas of the
various regions. The book value of the
unit’s holdings of development land and
project properties is MSEK 622 (400).

In Uppsala, centrally located proper-
ties have been acquired for development
of some 300 tenant-owned apartments
and a number of assisted living units. An
agreement has been signed with AP
Fastigheter for development of approx.
60,000 square meters of commercial
space and a residential tract with around
200 single-family homes in Uppsala.

JM and the municipality of Karlstad
have signed an agreement to develop 250
residential units on the site of the former
airport. In downtown Örebro, by the
Svartån river and with view of the palace,
land has been acquired for around 60
units.

In the Gothenburg area, a number of
properties corresponding to around 550
residential units have been acquired.

On the southern bank of the Nissan in
central Halmstad, land for around 100
residential units was purchased from the
municipality.

In Malmö, the Southern region made

two major acquisitions – the Kranen
area of Malmö’s western harbour for
around 400 residential units and land for
around 700 residential units in Lomma
harbour. In Karlskrona, land for more
than 50 residential units was acquired
by the Lyckebyån river.

completed projects

In 2000, the unit completed 31 projects
including a total of 875 residential units.
In central Helsingborg, the 26-unit Mölle-
backen project was completed and re-
ceived the local cultural board’s environ-
mental award for the best project of 2000.

In Vellinge, the Apelgården senior living
project was completed (24 units) and won
the municipality’s urban design award
for 2000. In Lund, the Villa Sunna senior
living project was completed (62 units).
In Malmö, the Drivbänken project (44
units) was completed in collaboration
with the Building Costs Delegation. In
some of the units, living plant filters are
used for air purification.

In Karlstad, the unit completed the
25-unit Brandmästaren project, the win-
ning proposal in a competition where the
entries were judged for urban design,
energy and environmental solutions and
living costs. A project with 52 assisted

living units was completed in Västerås
and the first phase of a large-scale proj-
ect was completed on northern Älv-
stranden in Gothenburg (90 units).

ongoing and 
planned projects

In Malmö, two projects with a total of 39
residential units are being built as part of
the international housing expo Bo 01.

On northern Älvstranden in Gothen-
burg, JM is building a total of 414 resi-
dential units. A second phase with 69
units was started during the year. In
Marstrand, construction of around 100
units with the character of a seaside vil-
lage has been started.

On Kanberget in Linköping, a five
minute walk from the city center, con-
struction of 180 residential units is
scheduled to begin in 2001.

In Vallentuna, a large-scale project for
700 residential units is being completed
at a rate of 50–100 per year, with some
500 remaining.

In Västerås, the final phase (48 units) of
a project with around 220 units is being
built on Öster Mälarstrand by Lake Mälaren.

In Karlstad, the Kasernhöjden project
is underway with 200 residential units
and office space.

The cry of seagulls and the crash of waves.In the seaside town of Marstrand outside Gothenburg, JM is build-
ing around 100 homes in a traditional maritime style that blends well with the surrounding environment.

KEY STATISTICS 

Number 2000 1999
Acquired building rights 2,200 2,900
Housing starts 1,000 900
Building rights portfolio 9,000 8,000
Book value of development
properties (MSEK) 622 400
Properties sold 677 868
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Skogsbyn: “With JM, the details
make the difference”

Skogsbyn, Swedish for “forest village”, is just what it
sounds like. For Karin and Pär Holman,moving here
brought a wealth of friendly new neighbours and
closeness to a wide range of amenities.In their search
for a home, they spent a year looking at everything
from the countryside around Uppsala to the city cen-
ter,both new homes and real “fixer-uppers”.

“They were all either new homes with no char-
acter or expensive older homes where the need for
renovation would mean even higher costs”, says Pär.

While scouring the Internet for every housing

company he had ever heard of, Pär came across
JM’s Skogsbyn development northwest of Uppsala
and immediately knew that this was the place for
the couple and their new baby daughter Amanda.

The 136 square meter house sits on a lot twice
that size. Because the house is at the periphery of
the development, the forest to the north feels
almost like their own.Through the living room win-
dow and glass door,the natural and indoor environ-
ments almost seems to meld together.

“The floor plan is ingenious and the house is
quite lavishly fitted out, with tile, clinker and oak
parquet flooring. But what we really fell for was the
living room on the second floor. When we saw it

we both said ‘wow!’ and knew we had to have it”,
says Karin.

Here,the architect gave free reign to his imagina-
tion.Three of the room’s four walls are made of
glass, including the door to the balcony which was
built facing to the south in order to catch the
evening sun.The airy and spacious room is bathed
in light and the couple loves spending time there.

The kitchen is also unusually bright and sunny.
Through its glass door you are taken to a small ter-
race only fifteen meters from a shared playground.

“We looked at a lot of new housing develop-
ments, but they were all so uninteresting. With JM,
the details make the difference”, says Pär.



Business Development/Real Estate man-
ages JM’s properties and transacts all
buying and selling of the Group’s man-
agement properties, as well as having
overall responsibility for the Group’s
business development.

The business unit includes two wholly
owned subsidiaries AB Borätt and Senior-
gården AB, which initiate and develop
residential projects. Borätt focuses on
tenant-owned apartments and single-
family homes, while Seniorgården focuses
on senior housing.

Profit in these two subsidiaries is re-
ported in the business units Stockholm
Residential and Sweden.

profit

The business unit’s profit amounted to
MSEK 762 (695), of which gains on the
sale of properties accounted for MSEK
458 (330). The period’s profit in prop-
erty management after planned depreci-
ation and before selling and administra-
tive expenses of MSEK 46 (48) was
MSEK 304 (365). The drop in earnings is
attributable to the sale of several man-
agement properties during 1999 and

2000, which is a natural part of JM’s role
as a project developer. 

These sales are reflected in the book
value of management properties, which
decreased from around SEK 5 billion to
around SEK 3.9 billion attributable to
the business unit during the year. Profit
was charged with depreciation of MSEK
46 (77) and property tax of MSEK 31
(30). Rental revenue totalled MSEK 550
(668) and included interest subsidies of
MSEK 10 (31). 

sales

Today a significant part of JM’s opera-
tions is the sale of fully developed prop-
erties, in which resources are freed up
for new projects in the Group. In 2000,
the business unit sold 59 properties for a
combined value of SEK 2.2 billion. These
sales provided a total capital gain of
MSEK 535, of which MSEK 458 is attri-
butable to the business unit. 

The year’s most significant transactions
were the sale of the Hägern Större prop-
erty on Drottninggatan in Stockholm
(MSEK 385) and the exchange of proper-
ties with Gyllenforsen (MSEK 339). 

Four residential properties were sold  to
tenant-owner cooperatives. Of these
transactions, the sale of the Träskfloden
property by Jarlaplan in Stockholm
(MSEK 401) was the largest. JM’s remain-
ing portfolio of management properties
in Gothenburg and Skåne (MSEK 87) and
the 50%-owned Star Hotell in Sollentuna
(MSEK 95) were also sold during the year.

property management 

Of JM’s total management properties,
91 per cent are located in the Stockholm
area where a limited supply and strong
demand for well situated office space is
generating powerful rental growth in
both the inner city and attractive pe-
ripheral areas. In the area around Vasa-
gatan, where JM owns commercial prop-
erties with a combined 65,000 square
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Major property sales
generate strong profits

PROFIT IN SUMMARY

MSEK 2000 1999
Net sales 550 668
Costs for production
and management -200 -255
Selling and administrative  
expenses -46 -48
Gross profit 304 365
Gains on the sale of properties 458 330
Profit in Business Unit
Development/Real Estate 762 695

Key ratios
Margin (%) 55.3 54.6
Capital employed* 4,776 5,413
Return on capital
employed (%) 16.0 12.8
No. of employees
(31 December) 102 94

* Average

CHANGES IN JM’S PORTFOLIO

Fully developed Rentable space, Book value, Rental revenue
management properties square meters MSEK MSEK
Management properties, 31 Dec. 1999 639,943 6,253 719
Property sales during 2000 -145,671 -1,530 -156
Reclassified as properties for further development -95,375 -1,187 -110
Properties completed in 2000 23,152 470 43
Real estate acquisitions and reclassifications in 2000 32,651 280 27
Change in rental revenue during 2000 45
Fully development management properties 
31 December 2000 454,700 4,286 568
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meters of floor space, leases have been
signed at levels of SEK 4,500–5,100 per
square meter.

Over the past five years, rental rates
in Mörby Center in Danderyd have risen
by 20 per cent annually and leases have
been signed at SEK 2,800 per square
meter. All in all, rent increases in the
identical portfolio during 2000 amount-
ed to around MSEK 45.

Tenant turnover in JM’s properties is
low and the vacancy rate is therefore mar-
ginal. A combination of customer sur-
veys/interviews and extensive tenant
modifications is part of JM’s strategy, and
contributes to this low turnover. The
vacancy rate at year-end corresponded to
nearly 2 per cent of annual rents and 2 per
cent of total floor space. The term of the
leases is illustrated in the above diagram.

Heating, cooling, ventilation and other
functions in JM’s office properties are
controlled and monitored centrally with
the help of advanced IT systems, ensur-
ing high efficiency and low operating
expenses. One key condition for achiev-
ing this is JM’s strategy of developing
and implementing commercial projects
under its own management.

property management – 
total group 

The JM Group’s management properties
are found mainly in the Business Devel-
opment/Real Estate and Stockholm Com-
mercial business units. Total rentable
space in the management properties at
the end of the year amounted to 586,000

square meters. Total rental revenue from
property management amounted to
MSEK 670 (742), including interest sub-
sidies of MSEK 10 (31). 

Profit in property management before
planned depreciation and before selling
and administrative expenses was MSEK
483 (542). The year’s investments in
existing management properties totalled
MSEK 979 (566) and management prop-
erties were acquired for MSEK 59 (753).

ab borätt and seniorgården ab

The percentage of senior citizens is
steadily rising and will make up 25 per
cent of Sweden’s population in the not
too distant future. One consequence of
this is a growing interest in senior and
assisted living. In order to meet this
anticipated demand, JM is focusing on
various types of senior housing.

The subsidiary Seniorgården AB devel-
ops senior housing in attractive locations
with good access to services, amenities
and communications. Seniorgården also
builds assisted living units for people
with a need for extensive service and
care, often around the clock.

AB Borätt develops tenant-owned
apartments and detached houses. Collab-
oration with skilled architects and a high
sensitivity to customer preferences have
characterized Borätt’s housing through-
out its 15-year history. 

business development

JM continuously develops new business
concepts and ideas within the framework
of the company’s core operations. One such
concept is “Smart Homes”, where modern
technology is used to create safer and
more comfortable living by harmonizing
information technology, distinctive archi-
tecture and environmental consideration.

JM’s first Smart Home, in a residential
community on the island of Värmdö, is
equipped with features such as a broad-
band-linked touchscreen computer/TV
on the refrigerator door that can be used
to regulate all of the house’s automated
systems or to get traffic and weather

updates. The house was completed in
September 2000 and another five will be
ready for occupancy in autumn 2001. 

The Smart Homes concept is not just
for the young and technologically savvy
generation, but is also intended to make
life easier for families with children, the
elderly and the physically challenged. JM
is building 126 smart homes on Kungs-
holmen in Stockholm, two of which will
be specially adapted for disabled tenants.

Among other things, these homes will
be equipped with computer-based med-
ical monitoring and a range of security
and safety functions. The project is being
carried out in association with the
Knowledge Foundation, the Vårddal
Foundation, the Interactive Institute and
the Disability Council. The units will be
completed in 2001.

In order to elaborate on the Smart
Homes concept and make even more
attractive homes, JM has launched a col-
laborative effort with the IT company
Alleato, a joint venture between Erics-
son and Skandia. The guiding principles
for their work are customer benefit and
user-friendliness.
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A refrigerator with a touchscreen computer that
provides traffic and weather updates. An alarm
connected to the telephone is activated if the stove
is left on or the front door is left unlocked.The
Smart Home on Värmdö, 25 km outside Stock-
holm, offers technological solutions for greater
security and convenience.
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Sigma: “Now almost everyone
knows where we are”

For Sigma, the advantages of moving to Frösunda
were obvious,with its excellent connections to both
Arlanda Airport and downtown Stockholm.“But the
billboard location facing the motorway has had a
much stronger impact than I imagined. Now almost
everyone knows where we are.There is a lot of
energy in the area,with many large and dynamic com-
panies at close quarters”, says Torbjörn Jansson, Man-
aging Director of Sigma Design & Development AB.

A new urban community is taking shape in Frö-

sunda, where close to 10,000 people will live or
work by the time the project is completed.

Sigma sells consulting services for technical and
administrative systems, for applications such as
banks and trading companies,wireless solutions and
product development.The new 5,000 square meter
office complex is also home to another ten compa-
nies in the Sigma Group.From the start, the compa-
nies took part in planning the property,directly adja-
cent to JM’s new head office,and were able to ensure
that their special design requirements were met.

Since Sigma’s operations require a high degree
of flexibility, many walls can be moved to accom-

modate new work groups and temporary constel-
lations. But despite the ease of rearranging the
premises, rigorous security ensures that the cus-
tomers’ corporate secrets are protected. Even so,
part of the building is open and offers for many
natural meeting places.

“For us, it was a clear advantage that we were
able to influence the design. JM is a highly compe-
tent and professional company with a tangible
focus on quality. Our values are very similar, which
may be why we got along so well. I hope that JM
treats all its customers they way they treated us”,
says Torbjörn Jansson.



The business unit has operations in Nor-
way, Denmark and Belgium. Activities in
Portugal have been wound up. The core
business is to develop attractive residen-
tial properties for future sale. The unit
takes responsibility for the entire project
development chain from acquisition of
development land to planning and de-
sign, production and sale. In Belgium,
core activities have been supplemented
with development of centrally located
commercial real estate projects.

At year-end, the business unit’s hold-
ings of development properties had a
combined book value of MSEK 315
(197). The portfolio of building rights
included development land for a total of

around 5,200 (3,800) residential units.

profit

During the year, the business unit sold
467 fully developed residential units and
5,600 square meters of commercial
space. The unit posted a profit of MSEK
72 (33), an improvement of 188 per cent
that included a capital gain of MSEK 20
on the sale of a fully developed office
property in Brussels. 

Net sales amounted to MSEK 761
(627), an increase of 21 per cent com-
pared with the preceding year. The oper-
ating margin excluding property sales
was 6.8 (5.3) per cent and return on cap-
ital employed was 11.8 (7.6) per cent. 

portfolio of building
rights and project status

norway

Norway is the business unit’s largest and
most expansive market. Operations are
focused on residential project develop-
ment under the brand names Byggholt and
Prosjektfinans, two formerly family-owned
companies acquired by JM three and 1.5
years ago, respectively. Byggholt is active
in the Oslo area, while Prosjektfinans is
based in Tønsberg and operates in Skien
and Bergen. These operations have shown
excellent development in the past few
years. Sales in 2000 amounted to around
MSEK 700 and are expected to increase
substantially in the next few years.

Demand for housing is strong and
prices rose by an average of 10 per cent
during 2000. Despite some uncertainty
about future interest rates, this robust
growth is expected to continue. JM’s
market share is around 6 per cent in the
Oslo region, 15 per cent in Tønsberg and
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PROFIT IN SUMMARY

MSEK 2000 1999
Net sales 761 627
Cost for production
and management -668 -554
Selling and administrative  
expenses -41 -40
Gross profit 52 33
Gains on the sale of properties 20 –
Profit in Business Unit 
International 72 33

Key ratios
Margin (%) 6.8 5.3
Capital employed* 609 433
Return on capital
employed (%) 11.8 7.6
Order bookings 1,020 962
Order backlog
(31 December) 1,006 734
No. of employees
(31 December) 225 209

* Average

Successful 
international expansion

KEY STATISTICS 

Number 2000 1999
Acquired building rights 2,200 1,500
Housing starts 600 400
Building rights portfolio 5,200 3,800
Book value of development
properties (MSEK) 315 197
Properties sold 467 280

JM’s modern and functional office concept is enjoying success in the Belgian market.The property  Avenue
des Arts 21 in central Brussels was sold in November 2000 (at left). In Norway, the subsidiary Byggholt
has built 170 residential units near the water in Drammen outside Oslo (at right).



Skien and 8 per cent in Bergen, with the
best scope for increased market share in
Oslo and Bergen.

During the year, agreements were
signed to acquire land for around 1,300
residential units. At year-end, the port-
folio of building rights corresponded to
3,900 (3,400) residential units with a
book value of MSEK 176. 

In Røyken, land for development of
around 220 residential units was
acquired. An agreement was signed with
NSB Eiendomsutvikling for development
and extension of the Grefsen station
area in Oslo, a project with some 700
residential units overlooking Oslo fjord.

All in all, construction of 450 units
was started in 2000. In Drammen, the
final phases (78 units) of a large-scale
project were started. In the Lommedalen
area of Bærum, construction of 200 units
commenced. In Tønsberg, two small-
scale projects were launched with a total
of 20 units. Two projects with a com-
bined 70 units were started in Bergen.

In Sandvika Center, planning was
started on a project for 320 residential
units to be developed jointly (50/50)
with AF Ragnar Evensen AS.

During the year, more than 400 resi-
dential units were completed in Norway
and around 440 were sold. 

denmark

Since 1999, JM conducts project devel-
opment in Denmark. JM Danmark’s
operations are focused on residential
development in Copenhagen and the sur-
rounding areas. At year-end, the portfo-
lio of building rights corresponded to
around 1,000 (200) residential units in
attractive areas with a book value of
MSEK 60 (28). Sales are expected to
increase considerably in 2001.

During the year, several properties
were acquired along Islands Brygge in
Copenhagen for development of around
520 residential units. Other projects
acquired during the year included Greve
with 90 units and Roskilde with 80 units.

Two projects were started in Copen-

hagen during the year, Amerikakajen and
Windsor, for a total of 62 exclusive resi-
dential units. The goal in Denmark is to
achieve annual production of 250 resi-
dential units within a couple of years.

In 2000, 29 residential units were sold.
The population influx to Copenhagen is
lagging behind that in Oslo and Stock-
holm, but the future looks bright for
operations in Denmark. 

belgium

Since 1998 the Group has conducted
project development in Brussels. Opera-
tions are focused on both residential and
commercial properties and are conducted
through the subsidiary JM Construction,
which was active in construction manage-
ment for many years but has very limited
operations of this type today.

Two properties were acquired during
2000, one 5,100 square meter office com-
plex for further development, rental and
sale and land for construction of 120 resi-
dential units. The book value of the devel-
opment properties amounted to MSEK 78
at year-end. The target is to produce 150
units per year for future sale.

There is a keen demand for high-qual-
ity housing in Brussels. At the beginning
of the year, the subsidiary started the
first phase (75 units) of a residential
project that will include 150 units when
completed. Sales of the units were
started in late December.

A commercial property was sold dur-
ing the year for a capital gain of MSEK
20. It was originally acquired in 1998
and was renovated, modernized and
filled with tenants prior to sale.
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In Copenhagen harbour, JM Danmark is building some 40 high standard residential units with an ocean view.
The Gripsholm project commenced in 2000 and is scheduled for completion at the end of 2001.
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JM’s financing unit is responsible for the
Group’s short and long-term financing,
liquidity management, cash management
and financial risk management. The divi-
sion of responsibility, organization and
control of the Group’s overall financing
operations are regulated by a financial
policy established by the Board of Direc-
tors.

financial policy

The financial policy stipulates the objec-
tives for financing operations, overall re-
sponsibility and specific rules and lim-
its. The objectives are to:
• support operating activities in resi-

dential and commercial project devel-
opment,

• optimise use of capital and cash flow
management,

• control and manage the financial risks
JM is exposed to.

The Group’s financial risks primarily
consist of interest risk, financing risk,
liquidity risk and, to a limited extent,
currency risk. The choice of maturity
and fixed interest spread is influenced
by several factors, such as capital tied up
in ongoing projects, business risks, the
anticipated date of sale for properties,
the term of the leases in management
properties and the Group’s financial
position in general. These factors are
covered in the Board’s established guide-
lines for fixed interest spread and matu-
rity structure with an allowance for
variances within certain limits based on

the current market situation. There are
also rules for dealing with interest risk
in building loans during the construc-
tion period and final financing of tenant-
owner cooperatives.

Cash in hand is kept to a minimum
and surplus liquidity is invested only in
banks defined by JM and Swedish fixed-
income securities without currency
risk. Solvency is maintained through
overdraft facilities and committed lines
of credit.

Currency risk is eliminated as far as
possible with regard to transaction and
balance sheet exposure.

Derivative instruments are used only
for the purpose of hedging risks.

financing strategy

JM’s fundamental financing strategy is
to closely link cash flows from ongoing
projects and management properties to
the company’s management of borrow-
ing and interest risks. This assures the
best control of financial risks.

In order to maintain flexible adminis-
tration and cost-effective debt manage-
ment, the proportion of loans secured by
mortgages deeds is being successively
reduced in favour of borrowing directly
against the balance sheet.

capital and loan structure

JM’s goal is to achieve a visible equity
ratio of 30 per cent over time. This goal
reflects the assessed level of risk in JM’s
project development and the capital cov-
erage required with regard to the Group’s

cash flow structure. The higher equity
ratio of 33 (28) per cent at year-end
2000 compared with the previous year is
largely attributable to increased sales of
management properties. The debt/equity
ratio at year-end was 1.4 (1.8) times and
the interest coverage ratio was 4.6 (2.7)
times. The occupancy rate in the real
estate portfolio, i.e. interest-bearing lia-
bilities in relation to the assessed market
values of the management properties
plus the book values of the development
properties, amounted to 41 (50) per
cent.

The JM Group’s interest-bearing liabili-
ties per 31 December 2000 totalled MSEK
5,610 (6,014), of which MSEK 374 (352)
comprised PRI pension liabilities. The
average rate of interest during the year
was 5.8 (6.0) per cent. The average rate of
interest on interest-bearing loans, ex-
cluding PRI, was 5.9 (6.0) per cent at
year-end. Most of the loans redeemed
during the year had short fixed interest
terms and therefore also low interest
rates. The average interest rate at year-
end had therefore decreased only margin-
ally. In 2001, MSEK 2,272 (43 per cent) of
JM’s loan stock will be restructured. A 1
per cent change in interest rates corre-
sponds to an increase/decrease of MSEK
11 in interest expenses on the portion of
the loan stock restructured in 2001. 

The average fixed interest term at
year-end was 1.6 (1.7) years.

In 2000 JM amortized loans for around

Improved net
financial items 
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MSEK 850 in connection with property
sales. At the same time, new loans were
raised to finance production of commer-
cial properties and acquisitions of devel-
opment and project properties in Swe-
den and in foreign subsidiaries. In order
to increase flexibility in borrowing and in
light of JM’s stronger focus on project
development and resulting volatility in
cash flows, the Group’s overdraft facili-

ties have been increased by MSEK 300
and agreements were signed with credit
institutions for an additional MSEK 750
in committed lines of credit in Sweden
and foreign subsidiaries.

Net financial items improved by
MSEK 47 during 2000 due to lower aver-
age interest on loans and increased capi-
talization of interest expenses related to
commercial project development. Finan-

cial income includes a gain of MSEK 10
on the sale of shares in OM Gruppen.
Disposable liquidity at year-end amounted
to MSEK 2,182 (1,116), of which liquid
assets account for MSEK 446 (390).

Net financial items were charged with
costs for early redemption of loans,
MSEK 4, and for issuance of mortgage
deeds, MSEK 9.

The interest on mortgage bonds fell
by around 1 percentage point in 2000.
Short-term interest rose by 0.50 per-
centage points during the year.

NET FINANCIAL ITEMS
FOR THE JM GROUP

MSEK 2000 1999 1998
Interest income 30 14 16
Interest expense –339 –370 –367   
Net financial items –309 –356 –351

INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES AND AVERAGE INTEREST RATES PER 31 DECEMBER 2000

Year for  Loan amount, Average interest Share of 
conversion of interest MSEK rate, % total loans, %
2001 2,272 5.9 43
2002 1,347 5.9 26
2003 863 5.7 17
2004 519 6.1 10
2005 and later 235 6.1 4
Total 5,236 5.9 100
PRI 2001 374 4.2
Total incl.PRI 5,610      5.8

Exciting architecture and solid craftsmanship. In Sollentuna, north of Stockholm, JM’s subsidiary AB Borätt has built 130 residential units on behalf of the Trollän-
gen tenant-owner cooperative.
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JM’s was rated “best overall investment”
in Image Survey International’s annual
poll of journalists, financial analysts,
institutional investors and directors of
Sweden’s leading companies. Aside from
JM, the questionnaire included NCC,
Hufvudstaden, Drott, Diligentia and
another seven companies in the con-
struction and real estate business.

JM was also ranked highly in Svenska
Dagbladet’s Image Barometer for 2000,
where professional opinion-makers with
knowledge of the construction and real
estate sector in the Stockholm area were
asked to describe their image of JM,
NCC, Skanska, Vasakronan and Peab.
JM was ranked third with regard to atti-
tudes towards the company and third
after Skanska and NCC with regard to
familiarity with the company.

Image and brand have become increas-
ingly important success factors in the
business world. Through its brand, a
company manifests its existence and
communicates the values it stands for. A
well known brand loaded with the right
associations is a valuable asset that can
be capitalized on.

the customer’s
preferred choice

JM has a determined and long-term ap-
proach to building and communicating
its brand. With its brand, JM aims to
interest, involve and activate employees,
customers, shareholders, public offi-
cials, university students and other peo-
ple in the company’s surrounding envi-

ronment. The brand should convey the
values JM stands for – stability, reliabil-
ity, good sense, humanity, quality and
environmental awareness.

The key objective of brand building
and the long-term profiling campaigns
JM carries out every year is to uphold
and amplify the already strong demand
for JM’s housing and commercial space.
JM should be the customer’s preferred
choice.

stronger focus on
market communication

JM’s gross investments in media expo-
sure during 2000 amounted to MSEK
10, the same figure as in the past two
years, while the industry’s total media
investments amounted to around MSEK
80. JM intends to intensify its media
exposure during 2001. The primary tar-
get groups for JM’s market communica-
tion are people with stable incomes from
the age of 35 and up, decision-makers in
the public and business sectors, share-
holders, investors, opinion-makers and
university/college students.

One valuable tool for brand building
is continuous monitoring of market famil-
iarity with JM and attitudes towards the
company. The measurements taken at
JM’s request in the greater Stockholm
area during 2000 – like the above men-
tioned independent surveys by SvD and
Image Survey International – all show
that JM’s market communication has
been successful. The measurements place
JM in third place after Skanska and HSB

with regard to familiarity, and in second
place after Skanska with regard to atti-
tude. In terms of “preferred choice”, JM
was given the top ranking when it comes
to housing.

room for
enjoyment

JM’s slogan “Room for enjoyment” effec-
tively sums up everything the company
stands for. “Room” refers to both homes
and offices. “Enjoyment” means customer
satisfaction, a subjective term that is
defined based on the individual’s own
expectations – which are precisely what
JM’s customer adaptation concept is
design to meet.

One example of customer adaptation
that has contributed strongly to JM’s
brand and image building activities is
the Smart Homes concept – homes
equipped with cutting-edge IT and envi-
ronmental solutions to make life easier
for the residents. JM is first in Sweden
to introduce Smart Homes on a large
scale, and the venture has attracted con-
siderable publicity.

the customers design
their own homes

Another brand building and marketing
measure is JM’s sales organization with
its “home shops” staffed by 55 salesper-
sons and assistants and 20 interior deco-
rating consultants. The shops are equip-
ped with advanced IT tools that allow
customers to visualize their future homes
before they are even built, and to influ-
ence their design and interior decora-
tion.

In 2000, customer-focused and image
enhancing activities were reinforced
with a new web-based customer data-
base that improves the scope for dia-
logue with the customers. During the
year, every project has been given its
own web site with features such as a fur-
nishing tool. In 2001, 3D visualization
will be introduced.

A strong identity
– an ongoing process
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In the past few years, a large number of
new employees have been hired.The
number of employees in the Group at
year-end was 2,265 (2,266). The number
of employees in 1999 included the parts
of painting and machine service opera-
tions that were sold in 2000. JM’s role as
a project developer places increasingly
rigorous demands on the competence of
the employees. As a result, recruitment
has been focused primarily on salaried
employees, the majority with a univer-
sity or college degree.

One third of all salaried employees
are women. The average age is 42 for
salaried employees and 38 for construc-
tion workers.

As a result of anticipated volume
growth and a relatively high number of
pension retirements over the next ten
years, recruitment of new employees is
necessary. 

Although competition for qualified
manpower in the labour market is intensi-
fying, thus far JM has been able to hire
employees with the required competence.
A strong brand, personal responsibility
and good opportunities for development
will continue to provide a solid platform
for recruitment of competent staff.

good opportunities
for development

A focus on project development as the
core business places demands on em-
ployee expertise that differ from those in
a traditional construction or real estate
company. JM sees a clear connection

between the educational level of the
employees and their capacity to create
solutions, productivity and value growth.

As a result, JM has made an effort to
raise the educational level in the com-
pany and today more than 20 per cent of
all salaried employees are university/
college graduates. For several years JM
has conducted a trainee program in
which some 50 civil engineers/university
graduates have participated. The goal is
to give all trainees a supplementary basic
education with practical experience on
building sites and specially tailored the-
ory modules.

entrepreneurship, work
environment and responsibility

JM’s organization is based on a high
degree of decentralization, providing
ample scope for personal initiatives and

development. Determined efforts are
being made to inspire trust and commit-
ment among the employees. Among other
things, this demands a greater aware-
ness and understanding of the company’s
financial goals, for example through
training in entrepreneurship.

JM takes proactive measures to avoid
future occupational injuries. Aside from
the corporate health service, most of the
personnel have access to naprapathy and/
or massage treatments. Training in stress
management is provided both from a
management and individual perspective.

better conditions for
construction workers

The industry has a pressing need for
recruitment of construction workers,
around 100,000 over a ten-year period.

At JM Stombyggnad AB and JM Inred-
ning AB, JM’s project development in
Stockholm employs a total of 325 con-
struction workers. Employee turnover is
very low and the same is true of long-
term sickness absence. 

Construction workers warm up during
working hours, are paid to take part in
specially adapted physical training after
work and are provided with the best pro-
tective equipment on the market.

The construction workers are offered
a number of health and recreational
activities such as training, massage, indi-

Project development
requires continuous learning
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vidual working aids and naprapathy
treatments on the building site.

The corporate health service reports a
distinct difference between personnel
at JM who have taken part in the health
program and the rest of the construction
industry.

university contacts

JM maintains contact with universities as
a channel for staff recruitment. JM par-
ticipates in job fairs and other forums in

collaboration with universities and col-
leges. The company’s own staff con-
tributes as teaching resources and JM
maintains a continuous dialogue with the
universities about the content of various
educational programs. JM offers oppor-
tunities for thesis work and field studies.

competence
development

JM conducts a large number of training
programs under the company’s own

management and in association with
outside resources. One top priority is
leadership development, since managers
are primarily recruited from within the
company.

bonus system

For many years, JM has had a bonus and
incentive system for all employees with
budget responsibility. The amount paid
may not exceed six months’ salary per
year.
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Assistant planning and design leader Susanne Takács and assistant project leader Johanna Berg, both from Region Stockholm
North,attend a course on business law. JM’s employees are offered a wide array of training and educational programs that are
adapted and conducted under the leadership of both JM’s own personnel and external instructors.
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The construction industry has a sub-
stantial impact on the environment. For
example, its players account for 40 per
cent of society’s total energy use. The
major companies are now investing heav-
ily in environmental adaptation of their
operations and the industry is collabo-
rating in environmental issues in an
increasingly structured manner. 

During the year, ambitious efforts
were made by both public authorities
and private businesses to study how the
construction industry can minimize its
environmental impact. One of the most
interesting projects was the environ-
mental review by the The Ecocycle
Council for the Building Sector (ECBS),
the results of which will provide a basis
for drawing up the Council’s new action
program in 2001.

In addition, the environmental work-
ing committee, a special government
secretariat for environmental issues,
carried out a discussion project with the
business sector. Within the project,
Bygga/BO, goals and visions were formu-
lated for the construction industry over
the next 25 years. Here, as in the ECBS
review, it was shown that energy use is
the dominant environmental aspect.

The Swedish parliament previously
conducted a study along the same lines
and in the summer of 2000, this study
culminated in a report called “The envi-
ronment of the future – everyone’s
responsibility”. The proposals in this
report indicate results similar to those in
the other two projects. The process of

compiling the report was carried out by a
large number of public authorities and
did not have the same degree of support
from the business sector as the Bygga/BO
and ECBS studies. The extensive report
gave rise to a multitude of questions and
proposals for new investigations, many of
which the National Housing Board has
been commissioned to carry out.

In order to continuously improve its
environmental performance, JM has col-
laborated in the above projects and in
other contexts with researchers, policy-
makers, public authorities, non-profit
organizations and companies outside the
industry.

Competition
and cooperation

Solhöjden:“Like being in the coun-
try,but in the middle of Spånga”
Dorothée Simon lives in the world’s first FSC cer-
tified multifamily dwelling,where 70 per cent of all
timber products used in construction come from
forests that have been managed to promote biodi-
versity and protect valuable biotopes and sensi-
tive ecosystems.

“As an environmental ‘freak’ I appreciate that,
and I’m also pleased that there is plenty of room
for pre-sorting waste. But the feature that makes
this apartment a complete success is the trees
outside”, says Dorothée.

Stately larches and laburnum surround her
veranda and in the spring the hillside is dotted
with blue anemones, crocuses and other flowers.
The tiny nature reserve outside the building is like
an extension of her living room.

“I used to live on the top floor, so it really feels
as though I’ve moved to the country even though
I’m in the middle of Spånga.We have good public
transportation here, you can get to Stockholm in
around twelve minutes by commuter train.”

The apartment itself has a floor space of 80
square meters.Dorothée chose to leave an open-
ing between the kitchen and living room so she
can hold large meetings at home.Another room
has been made into an office with accommoda-
tions for guests. Otherwise, the tenant-owner
cooperative has a joint guest room that can be
booked when needed.The entrances and stair-
wells are decorated with mosaics.

Seniorgården AB was the contractor and JM
built Solhöjden’s 25 senior living units. Dorothée
is sorry that the construction phase is nearly
completed.

“The crew that worked here was so helpful and
friendly. Nothing was too much trouble for them
and it was a real pleasure to have them around. It’s
too bad they’re finished now. I’m seriously consid-
ering moving to their next project…I certainly
give JM top marks for social skills!” 

The world’s first FSC certified multifamily dwelling,
Solhöjden in Spånga, was inaugurated in August.
The project was carried out in collaboration
between JM/ Seniorgården and the World Wildlife
Fund,WWF.
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JM has a structured, systematic and inte-
grated group-wide quality and environ-
mental management system. It is organ-
ized and reported according to a process-
oriented division of operations, in con-
trast to the financial reporting which is
based on the line organization.

Decisions related to JM’s policy and
overall objectives are made by the
Group’s Quality and Environment Coun-
cil, of which the President is Chairman.
The other members of the Council are
JM’s Quality & Environment Director
and representatives from the various
areas of operation. At the Group level –
within the Business Support staff – there
is also a Quality and Environmental de-
partment with overall responsibility for
quality and environmental work.

Every area of operation has a special
Quality & Environment Council that
formulates its own quality and environ-
mental targets. Each geographic region
has a quality and environmental coordi-
nator who functions as internal auditor
and advisor. The Stockholm Residential
business unit has its own environmental
director who actively pursues develop-
ment issues.

aesthetics and closed cycles

During the year, JM completed the inte-
gration of quality and environmental
activities by adopting a new policy. In
addition, the Group has established new
overall quality and environmental objec-
tives that define how JM will live up to
the stated policy. Based on these objec-

tives, detailed targets will be formulated
by the various areas of operation in 2001.

certifiable system
in 2001

JM’s quality and environmental manage-
ment system, which functions as an
operational control system, is aligned to

Key performance
indicators

QUALITY AND ENVIRONMENTAL
POLICY

JM shall promote long-term quality and en-
vironmental management in all its operations.
The company shall focus on customer needs
and strive for sustainable development of
society.

To accomplish this we shall:
• Preserve and contribute environmental and

aesthetic values to the urban and natural
landscapes

• Produce buildings with a healthy living and
working environment

• Work in a structured and systematic man-
ner that leads to continuous improvement
in environmental and quality performance

• Prevent the production and dispersal of
pollutants and promote resource conser-
vation and closed cycles

• Actively contribute to development of
knowledge and increase employee aware-
ness of quality and environmental issues

• Apply environmental standards that are
more rigorous than the applicable legal
requirements

OVERALL QUALITY AND ENVIRON-
MENTAL OBJECTIVES

• We shall focus on quality, the environment
and ethics so that every customer and proj-
ect is a good reference

• Our projects shall be structured, imple-
mented and managed so as to minimize
energy consumption and its impact on the
environment

• We shall reduce the volume and hazardous-
ness of waste

• We shall use materials and methods that
reduce environmental impact and contribute
to a healthy indoor and working environment
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the various business processes and is
therefore an effective tool for day-to-
day activities and a means for achieving
continuous improvements.

The operational control system de-
fines the framework for supervision of
quality and environmental work through
external audits and environmental indi-
cators. JM has compiled environmental
indicators at the project level since 1997
and these are currently being adapted to

the new quality and environmental tar-
gets.

Contracting, Commercial Project De-
velopment and Property Management
began using the operational control sys-
tem in 2000 and Residential Project
Development in 1999. The goal in 2001
is for these operations to be certifiable
according to the ISO 9001 (quality man-
agement) and ISO 14001 (environmental
management) standards.

Brandmästaren:“We knew that
JM was a reliable company” 
Only thoroughly tested and recyclable building
materials would be used and the energy saving
features would be unconventional. Outside the
buildings, gardening plots, earth cellars and old-
fashioned rainwater pumps were planned.

These were a few of the ideas in JM’s winning
entry to the municipality’s land development
competition for the Brandmästaren area of Karl-
stad. Now the project has been completed and
Åke and Ulla Mandell have moved into one of JM’s
tenant-owned apartments.

“We’re very happy here.We knew that JM was a
reliable company”, says Åke,who was a member of
the local planning commission for several years and
is familiar with the company’s activities in the area.

But it wasn’t only the environmental aspects
that attracted them. Åke was enchanted with the
unique charms of the penthouse, with a view of
the Klarälven river in one direction and Sundsta-
tjärn in the other. Ulla, a registered nurse with a
practical perspective on life, appreciates the fact
that the apartment is suitable for the disabled.
Åke and Ulla live on the third and top floor of the
building and naturally have an elevator – one that
leads straight into their apartment.

“We could continue living here even if our
health fails one day”, says Ulla.

Both feel good about living in a resource-effi-
cient home.One example of innovative thinking is
that outgoing wastewater pre-heats incoming
water by around ten degrees Celsius and a few of
the southward rooftops have solar panels that
heat the water further. In the summer, these two
sources effectively satisfy the area’s hot water
requirements.

Another detail is individual metering of water
and heating consumption,providing an incentive for
the residents to save both money and resources.

Environmentally-friendly transportation is encouraged at JM’s head office in Frösunda. Bicycles, electric
powered cars and tickets for public transportation are available free of charge during working hours.
Daniel Olsson, a trainee at Region Stockholm North,borrows one of JM’s bicycles.
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Seven years have passed since JM formu-
lated its first environmental policy, the
only one in the European construction
industry at that time. Since then, environ-
mental work has evolved from the fledg-
ling stage into a fully integrated group-
wide system. JM is continuing to launch
cutting-edge projects in which environ-
mental solutions are tested and evaluated
on a manageable scale before being incor-
porated into general environmental re-
quirements and standard solutions.

Employee commitment is vital for suc-
cessful integration of environmental ac-
tivities. JM’s employees were previously
given basic environmental training in as-
sociation with The Natural Step. In 2000,

preparations were started for a more in-
depth environmental program for all
employees, with a focus on construction
industry-specific environmental aspects
and the methods JM has developed for
its quality and environmental work.

During the year, environmental reviews
were completed or started in all areas of
operation in order to identify which con-
siderations should be prioritized in
future environmental work. The reviews
have been based on the ISO 14001 envi-
ronmental management standard.

Regardless of the area of operation,
the opportunities to influence the fu-
ture environment are greatest at the
planning stage of each project, when the

total environmental impact of a building
or structure over its life cycle is deter-
mined. The land use is outlined. The
architecture and conditions for future
heating and electricity consumption are
determined. Building materials and
technical solutions are selected and sup-
pliers, contractors and consultants are
procured. The decisions made during
the planning process can have repercus-
sions for 60–70 years or more.

supplier requirements

In order to avoid use of environmentally
harmful substances, for several years JM
has examined and evaluated building
materials with the help of its own envi-
ronmental database. The evaluation in-
cludes energy and raw material consump-
tion during manufacturing, transports,
content of environmentally hazardous
substances, work environment risks,
emissions, other impact on the indoor
environment and the recyclability of the
material when discarded. The evalu-
ation results in a red “not approved”, a
yellow “approved” or a green “recom-
mended”. Only materials in which all of
the constituent elements can be individ-
ually approved are given the green light.

Environmental focus
at every stage

JM’s INFLUENCE ON THE PROCESS:

RESIDENTIAL

COMMERCIAL

CONTRACTING

TIME IN PROCESS:
MONTHS

TIME IN PROCESS:
1/2 YEAR – YEARS

TIME IN PROCESS:
1/2 YEAR – YEARS

TIME IN PROCESS:
50–100 YEARS

TIME IN PROCESS:
MONTHS

ACQUISITION PLANNING BUILDING SITE FINISHED BUILDING 

IMPACT ON THE ENVIRONMENT:

MINOR MODERATE

SCOPE TO PREVENT ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT: 

MAJOR MINOR

DEMOLITION

HEAVY
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At the same time, this routine generates
comprehensive documentation of the
materials used in JM’s buildings, infor-
mation that is given to the tenants/owners
in a special binder when they move in.

Another of the company’s tools is “The
Environmentally Adapted Home”, a doc-
ument outlining a number of methods
and technical specifications for applica-
tion in all of JM’s housing projects to,
among other things, ensure high stan-
dards for hypoallergenic environments
and energy efficiency.

During the year, JM raised its environ-
mental requirements for suppliers, con-
tractors and consultants. Routines for
integrating these requirements into agree-
ments have been established and evalua-
tions are carried out after project comple-
tion. These measures are important in
improving JM’s environmental perform-
ance and minimizing environmental
impact in the projects. For example, in
agreements with JM’s energy suppliers
this has resulted in use of green electric-
ity in all management properties and on
JM’s building sites. Green electricity is
also offered at attractive prices to ten-
ants/owners in buildings produced by JM
and to all of the company’s employees.

residual products
must be recycled

JM’s construction operations, like the
industry in general, generate a large
quantity of residual products. JM is col-
laborating with other players in the recy-
cling market to find ways of reducing the
amount of waste that is deposited. New
solutions are needed, particularly in the
Stockholm area, where in the summer of
2000 unsorted combustible waste was
deposited instead of being sent to the
region’s waste incineration plants. This
was the result of several interacting fac-
tors, primarily the high waste disposal
fees in other European countries. For the
waste incineration plants, it is more prof-
itable to accept imported waste than
materials like domestic scrap timber. An
ongoing effort is being made to establish

standard norms for what unsorted resid-
ual fractions may contain in order to be
recycled.

RESIDENTIAL

Residential project development is JM’s
largest and fastest growing area of opera-
tion. In 2000 an environmental review
was carried out to catalogue the unit’s
environmental impact. Not surprisingly,
the significant environmental aspects
were identified as energy use during the
tenant phase, certain materials, handling
of building waste, use of transports and
machinery, and remediation of contami-
nated land. The prioritization of these
aspects is reflected in the unit’s detailed
environmental targets and the environ-
mental requirements incorporated into
the operational control system.

world’s first fsc certified
multifamily dwelling

One of JM’s many cutting-edge projects
over the years is Solhöjden in the Stock-
holm suburb of Spånga. In 2000, Minis-
ter of the Environment Kjell Larsson and
Secretary-General of the WWF Lars
Kristoffersson inaugurated the world’s
first FSC certified multifamily dwelling,
built by JM in collaboration with the
World Wildlife Fund (WWF). The proj-
ect used timber grown according to the
criteria for responsible forestry drawn
up by the Forest Stewardship Council

(FSC). In the same project, the unit eval-
uated the economic and environmental
aspects of use of water pipes made of
copper, stainless steel and plastic in
association with the Royal Institute of
Technology (KTH). The project was
partly financed by the Development
Fund of the Swedish Construction
Industry (SBUF).

effective energy use

Reduced heating and electricity con-
sumption are a priority at JM. Among
other things, JM is conducting a devel-
opment project for need-based ventila-
tion in association with the Swedish
National Energy Administration and the
government’s Local Investment Program
(LIP). Around 700 kWh per apartment
and year can be saved, corresponding to
a 40 watt light bulb burning 24 hours a
day for two years. A roughly equal
amount of energy can be saved through
individual metering of hot water usage.
It is a well known fact that tenants who
can influence their costs for heating,
electricity and hot water consume less
than those with collective metering. In
Hammarby Sjöstad, JM is fine-tuning
methods for individual metering of hot
water use in multifamily dwellings.

Also in Hammarby Sjöstad, JM has
installed solar cells in a tenant-owner
cooperative in collaboration with LIP
and Birka Energi as a contribution to-
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wards technological development in this
field. One innovation in the project is
that the solar panels, which generate
electrical energy, also function as attrac-
tive elements of the architectural design.

PROPERTIES

Operations related to project develop-
ment of commercial and management
properties, like contracting operations,
will formulate their own detailed envi-
ronmental targets based on environmen-
tal reviews, and will develop the opera-
tional control system implemented in
2000.

JM’s property management refers pri-
marily to commercial space produced or
renovated by JM. JM’s experience from
property management, e.g. related to
heating and ventilation, is utilized in new
commercial projects.

Energy conservation is always a top
priority. During the past year, JM com-
pleted its head office in Frösunda, Solna
– a project that highlights JM’s image as a
quality and environmentally conscious
company. The project incorporates
numerous energy-efficient installations,
such as lighting fixtures with proximity
and daylight sensors. The office complex
is also connected to a district heating
system that is based primarily on renew-
able energy sources, and district cooling.

In order to minimize heating and elec-
tricity use throughout the management
properties, a bonus system for JM’s
property maintenance managers was
developed in 2000 and their activities
are coordinated to reduce transport dis-
tances. Petrol-driven cars are being suc-
cessively replaced with electric-pow-
ered vehicles.

Another key environmental measure
is the use of custom building materials
in new projects when possible in order
to avoid waste and reduce transports.
With new and precise measurement
methods, custom materials can be used
more extensively.

CONTRACTING

In the spring of 2001, contracting opera-
tions will formulate new detailed envi-
ronmental targets based on an environ-
mental review and will further develop
their own operational control system,
which was introduced in 2000.

When JM undertakes contracting assign-
ments on behalf of external clients,
work is carried out according to cus-
tomer requirements. In recent years the
clients’ quality and environmental de-
mands have become increasingly high
and JM is often selected for its environ-
mental know-how. In many cases, clients
have changed their choice of materials
on JM’s advice. JM sometimes plans a
project together with the client and
future user and then builds it to meet
the specific environmental specifica-
tions they have agreed on.

Remediation of contaminated soil is
an area where JM Anläggning has
acquired considerable skill and competi-
tive advantages. Thanks to this expert-
ise, JM is frequently asked to develop
attractive land areas. Legislation on soil
remediation is rigorous and this compli-
cated work is carried out in collabora-
tion with the relevant authorities. In
projects where contamination may be
present, all excavated material is in-
spected and handled appropriately. In
order to make the land developable, an
inspection is carried out to ensure that
the base of the pit is clean enough to
meet official requirements.

Transforming contaminated soil into
habitable residential areas is an environ-
mental achievement in itself.
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JM devotes considerable resources to
quality and environmental work because
it has both immediate and long-range
benefits. Conserving resources saves
money and high quality materials and
installations are more economical in the
long run. That environmental work makes
good business sense is the basic idea
behind the Robur Environmental Fund,
which invests in the companies that have
come farthest in gearing for sustainable
development. JM is the only representa-
tive for the construction industry to have
been included in the fund from the start

in 1996. JM is also part of the Swedish
Environmental Fund and the US-based
environmental fund Portfolio 21.

Quality and environmental activities
are driven primarily by customer needs
and demands. Attractive projects and sat-
isfied customers strengthen JM’s brand,
generating value growth and shareholder
returns. Other parts of society appreci-
ate that JM takes environmental issues
seriously in its role as project developer,
and even measures that are not visible to
the customers can pay off in a wider, or
more long-term, perspective.

JM’s environmental profile is a powerful
advantage for JM’s opportunities to
acquire and develop land in prime loca-
tions. Before these projects can even be
considered, the soil must be decontami-
nated, particularly on former industrial
sites. This is a complex process where
JM has accumulated considerable expe-
rience. A full 25 per cent of JM’s apart-
ments are built on decontaminated land.

The use of custom building materials
in production reduces purchasing costs
and the volume of waste sent to deposits.
Waste reduction and pre-sorting have
become increasingly profitable. In the
Stockholm area, waste tax and rising
handling fees have nearly doubled JM’s
waste management costs compared with
1999. JM is taking active measures to
minimize both waste and costs.

The foremost environmental aspect is
the properties’ consumption of heating
and electricity. Energy conservation pro-
vides both reduced emissions of green-
house gases and lower costs for the prop-
erty owner, which also enhances the value
of the property.

Environment and economy
go hand in hand

Anneli Svensson, Quality and Environmental Coordinator for Region Stockholm Central and Dick Cronwall,
Supervisor for the same region, inspect a building site.Through continuous internal audits, JM monitors envi-
ronmental and quality performance in its projects.
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Drivbänken:“We warmly
recommend plant filters” 

Why not get hummingbirds, a couple of snakes and
some colourful butterflies?

That’s what visitors usually suggest, but Folke
and Gunnel Hättmark prefer their ventilation sys-
tem the way it is. In the kitchen stands a large glass
case filled with leafy plants that clean and oxy-
genate the air.

“Visitors can’t help noticing it,or commenting on
it.Everyone finds it quite decorative”, says Folke.

Fresh air flows into the case and around the
plants, which are automatically showered with
water every 30 minutes.The air is then circulated

through the ground and out into the apartment,
cleaner and with a comfortable humidity.The con-
centration of pollen, smoke, exhaust fumes, mould
spores, mites and other contaminants is reduced,
but exactly how much will be determined in a study
by Lund Institute of  Technology.

Folke and Gunnel had tired of their oversized
house with its maintenance and repairs. After hear-
ing a lot of good things about JM, they went to look
at the Drivbänken project a couple of kilometres
from central Malmö.They liked the location, the
design and the innovative features, including mov-
able interior and exterior walls of light-weight
clinker concrete. Three of the area’s 44 tenant-
owned apartments are equipped with plant filters.

“We thought this little jungle sounded exciting, and
we’re very happy with it. Plant filters are something
we warmly recommend”, says Gunnel.

“It only costs around 100 Swedish kronor per
month, and the fresh air is well worth that price.
Sure, the plant filter takes up space – the fan
machinery is about the size of a broom closet and
the plants themselves around three times that size,
but it’s not a problem”, says Folke.

At first they were unaccustomed to the built-in
air ducts in the ceiling, but don’t notice them much
any more. On the whole, they are more than satis-
fied.

“The only thing we need now is a central vac-
uum”, says Folke.



In the Mälarklippan project in Gröndal, south of Stockholm, JM and its subsidiary Borätt are building 130 residential units in a former auto workshop and two office
buildings.The units include so-called warehouse apartments with a split-level floor plan,panorama windows overlooking the water and a ceiling height of close to five
meters.
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JM Group five-year summary
INCOME STATEMENT, MSEK 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
Net sales 6,849 5,825 4,776 3,989 4,557
Costs for production and management -5,519 -4,770 -3,857 -3,142 -3,672
Gross profit 1,330 1,055 919 847 885

Selling and administrative expenses -455 -395 -368 -298 -283
Gains on the sale of operations 30 – – – 35
Gains on the sale of properties 535 330 135 380 36
Surplus funds from SPP 78 – – – – 
Operating profit 1,518 990 686 929 673
Net financial items -309 -356 -351 -399 -475
Profit after net financial items 1,209 634 335 530 198
Tax on the year’s profit -364 -193 -94 -172 -42
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 845 441 241 358 156

INCOME STATEMENT BY FUNCTION,MSEK 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
Production
Recognized income 5,990 4,946 3,890 3,110 3,644
Production costs -5,146 -4,402 -3,488 -2,809 -3,333
Profit from production operations 844 544 402 301 311

Development properties
Rental revenue 189 137 75 4 5
Operating expenses -127 -80 -41 -8 -5
Profit from development properties 62 57 34 -4 –

Management properties
Rental revenue 660 711 769 811 813
Interest subsidies 10 31 42 64 95
Operating expenses -144 -163 -187 -184 -202
Property tax -43 -37 -43 -36 -29
Depreciation -59 -88 -98 -105 -103
Profit from management properties 424 454 483 550 574

Selling and administrative expenses -399 -318 -294 -247 -241

Property sales
Sales values 2,213 1,710 653 1,733 281
Book values -1,678 -1,380 -518 -1,353 -245
Gains on the sale of properties 535 330 135 380 36

Group-wide costs -56 -77 -74 -51 -42
Gains on the sale of properties 30 – – – 35
Surplus funds from SPP 78 – – – –
OPERATING PROFIT 1,518 990 686 929 673
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BALANCE SHEET,MSEK 31 Dec. 2000 31 Dec. 1999 31 Dec. 1998 31 Dec. 1997 31 Dec. 1996
Assets
Management properties (fixed assets) – 6,855 7,117 6,660 7,326
Other fixed assets 254 300 248 152 192
Management properties (current assets) 6,445 – – – – 
Development properties 3,105 2,611 2,020 813 480
Other current assets 930 894 691 622 812
Recognized income less progress billings 244 – – – – 
Liquid assets 446 390 396 359 505
TOTAL ASSETS 11,424 11,050 10,472 8,606 9,315

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Shareholders’ equity 3,770 3,144 2,812 2,622 2,331
Provisions 936 987 917 818 712
Interest-bearing liabilities 5,236 5,662 5,619 4,284 4,786
Progress billings in excess of recognized income – 28 85 30 368
Other liabilities 1,482 1,229 1,039 852 1,118
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS ’  EQUITY
AND LIABILITIES 11,424 11,050 10,472 8,606 9,315

OTHER,MSEK 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
Average number of employees 2,163 2,140 1,993 1,930 2,221
Management properties
Market value 9,619 9,202 9,177 8,358 8,834
Book value 6,445 6,855 7,117 6,660 7,326
Appreciation surplus before deferred tax 3,174 2,347 2,060 1,698 1,508

Vacancy rate on 31 Dec.
Share of total space 2% 3% 6% 7% 7%
Share of possible rental revenue 2% 2% 4% 4% 3%

Order backlog on 31 Dec. 6,603 3,819 2,950 2,467 2,488
Order bookings 8,774 5,780 4,355 3,089 3,442

KEY RATIOS,MSEK 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
Interest-bearing net debt 5,117 5,588 5,511 4,194 4,524
Debt/equity ratio 1.4 1.8 2.0 1.6 1.9
Interest coverage ratio 4.6 2.7 1.9 2.3 1.4
Equity ratio (visible) 33% 28% 27% 30% 25%
Return on total capital before tax 13.8% 9.3% 7.4% 10.6% 7.7%
Return on capital employed before tax 16.7% 11.4% 8.8% 12.9% 9.5%
Return on shareholders’ equity after tax 24.4% 14.8% 8.9% 14.4% 6.9%
EBIT multiple 8.0 11.2 14.1 8.7 12.6
Asset turnover rate 0.61 0.54 0.50 0.45 0.50

DATA PER SHARE,SEK 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
Earnings after tax
Total* 25.40 13.30 7.25 10.95 4.75
Of which:
Gains on the sale of operations 0.65 – – – 0.85
Gains on the sale of properties 11.25 6.90 2.90 7.85 0.85

Management properties
Market value 289 277 276 256 270
Book value 194 206 214 204 224

Shareholders’ equity (reported) 113.40 94.60 84.60 80.30 71.40
Dividend (for 2000,proposed) 10.00 6.75 3.25 3.25 ** 2.00
Number of shares (31 Dec.) 33,241,000 33,241,000 33,241,000 32,653,000 32,653,000

* Profit after tax upon full conversion. 25.10 13.20 – – –
** Of which,SEK 1.00 referred to an extraordinary dividend.
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new operational focus

Over the past five years, JM has succes-
sively shifted its business focus from tra-
ditional construction and real estate to
operations with a focus on residential
and commercial project development. A
few of the consequences of this are that: 
• All development properties were re-

classified as current assets at year-end
2000. The intention is no longer to
retain the properties for long-term
management. 

• The book value of the management
properties has decreased from SEK 7.3
billion to SEK 6.4 billion and the goal
is to reduce the portfolio of fully devel-
oped management properties to a level
of SEK 2.0 billion in book value.

At the end of the five-year period,
there has been a selective focus on
project development of commercial
properties concentrated in Stockholm
and as of year-end 2000, 91 per cent of
the properties were located in the
Stockholm area.

The reduced portfolio of manage-
ment properties led to a decrease in
rental revenue from MSEK 813 to
MSEK 660 and in operating profit
from MSEK 574 to MSEK 424.

• During the period, gains on the sale of
management properties were realized

in an average amount of MSEK 283 per
year. As a result of the new goals, sub-
stantial sales of management proper-
ties will be carried out in the next few
years.

Despite extensive sales of manage-
ment properties during the period,
appreciation surpluses in the real
estate portfolio grew from SEK 1.5 bil-
lion to SEK 3.2 billion.

• Holdings of development properties
primarily intended for residential proj-
ect development have grown dramati-
cally from SEK 0.5 billion to SEK 3.1
billion, an increase of SEK 2.6 billion.

project development operations

Recognized income in the projects has
risen from SEK 3.6 billion to SEK 6.0 bil-
lion, an increase primarily attributable
to residential project development. The
increase is partly explained by the acqui-
sition of operations in Norway in 1998
and 1999, and is otherwise attributable
to organic growth. 

The profit generated by the projects
(production-related) has steadily im-
proved from MSEK 311 to MSEK 844, an
increase of around 170 per cent. The dra-
matic growth in earnings is mainly
attributable to strong demand for hous-
ing in the markets where JM is active.

financing operations

Interest-bearing net debt during the
period rose from MSEK 4,524 to MSEK
5,117, an increase of around MSEK 600.
Changes in net debt during the period
were related to JM’s substantial real
estate and land transactions. However,
net debt in 2000 decreased by MSEK 471
compared with 1999, mainly due to
increased sales of fully developed man-
agement properties.

Net financial items improved by
MSEK 166 between 1996 and 2000. The
interest rate has gradually decreased
during the period, whereby the average
rate of interest on interest-bearing liabil-
ities has fallen from 9.0 to 5.8 per cent,
i.e. by 3.2 percentage points, which has
strengthened net financial items.

other

Total assets increased from MSEK 9,315
to MSEK 11,424 during the period, at
the same time that the visible equity
ratio rose from 25 till 33 per cent.

Return on shareholders’ equity has
improved from 6.9 to 24.4 per cent. The
average rate of return has been 14 per
cent, compared with JM’s target of 15
per cent over a business cycle. Earnings
per share improved from SEK 4.75 to
SEK 25.40.

Comments on
the five-year summary 
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The Board of Directors and the President of
JM AB (publ) hereby submit the Annual
Report and consolidated financial state-
ments for 2000.

GROUP

net sales

Net sales in 2000 amounted to MSEK
6,849, compared with MSEK 5,825 in
1999.

profit

The JM Group’s profit after financial
items in 2000 amounted to MSEK 1,209,
compared with MSEK 634 in the pre-
ceding year. Of this profit, MSEK 535
(330) comprised gains on the sale of fully
developed management properties. The
year’s profit also includes MSEK 78 com-
prising the total allocation of surplus
funds from SPP.

Net financial items improved by
MSEK 47 to MSEK -309 (-356).

The year’s profit after tax amounted

to MSEK 845 (441). Profit will be
charged with tax of MSEK 364 (193). 

Earnings per share after tax totalled
SEK 25.40 (13.30). Return on capital em-
ployed was 24 (15) per cent. Average
return on capital employed over the past
five calendar years has been 14 per cent.
The Group’s target is an average 15 per
cent return over a business cycle.

new objectives

In autumn 2000 JM adopted the follow-
ing overall objectives.
• To achieve an annual production rate

of 4,500 residential units within the
next few years, with an operating
margin of more than 12 per cent in
project development.

• The portfolio of fully developed man-
agement properties will be reduced to
a book value of SEK 2.0 billion.

• A high rate of turnover will be main-
tained in the remaining portfolio of
management properties.

As of year-end 2000, JM’s management
properties have been reclassified from
fixed assets to current assets as a result
of the Group’s strategic decision to focus
on project development of properties.

organization 

As of 1 January 2000, JM’s operations
are reported according to the new orga-
nization’s five business units – Stock-
holm Residential, Stockholm Commer-
cial, Sweden, Business Development/
Real Estate and International. Net sales

and profit by business unit are shown in
Note 6.

PROJECT DEVELOPMENT OPERATIONS

profit

Profit in project development rose by 92
per cent to MSEK 637 (332) and the
operating margin strengthened to 10.3
(6.5) per cent, to be compared with the
target of 12 per cent within a few years.
Both profit and the margin included
gains of MSEK 75 on property sales
directly attributable to project develop-
ment. In the future, property sales of
this type will cause a certain irregular-
ity in the margin. Profit from project
development, total and by business unit,
is shown in Note 6.

order bookings and backlog

The order backlog at year-end was
MSEK 6,603 (3,819). Order bookings
during the period amounted to MSEK
8,774 (5,780). Of the order backlog, the
bulk refers to residential project devel-
opment.

development properties

During the year, land was acquired in
central Gustavsberg for MSEK 350 and
included 1,550 hectares of land, 700
existing apartments and around 50,000
square meters of commercial space. The
acquisition could provide more than
1,000 building rights.

At the beginning of the year, 45,000
square meters of land were acquired on
Kungsholmen for a price of MSEK 295.
The site is primarily intended for resi-
dential development.

Other major acquisitions during the
year included land for 700 residential
units in Lomma harbour and several
properties in the Gothenburg area cor-
responding to around 550 units.

During the period, JM signed an
agreement with the City of Stockholm
to acquire the Lustgården 6 block on
western Kungsholmen for MSEK 262
with occupancy and payment in the

Board of Directors’ report
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third quarter of 2001. The project in-
cludes 35,000 square meters of office
and residential space.

The year’s acquisitions of development
land and project properties amounted to
MSEK 1,469 (819) and net investments
in development land and project proper-
ties to MSEK 632 (482). The portfolio
thus amounts to MSEK 3,105 (2,611).
These holdings are a prerequisite for
JM’s residential project development.

investments in project develop-
ment stockholm commercial

In the Frösunda area of Solna, by JM’s new
head office, JM is building another 10,000
square meters of office space to be com-
pleted in the third quarter of 2001.

On Vasagatan, by Stockholm Central
Station and the Arlanda Express termi-
nal, JM has carried out total renovation
of the former Norrmalm police station
and extension of a low-rise on the adja-
cent block, the so-called Mercedes
building. Together, these two units form
Nordic Hotel, Stockholm’s largest with
542 rooms. The hotel opened in January
2001.

machinery and equipment

Investments in machinery and equip-
ment amounted to MSEK 38 (32).

market

STOCKHOLM RESIDENTIAL Demand for
housing in the greater Stockholm area
has grown. For several consecutive years
the annual population influx has been
around 20,000 residents, compared with
only around 3,000 housing starts per
year. As a result, housing prices have
been forced up to exceptional levels and
there are no indications of a change in
the supply and demand situation in the
next few years.     

STOCKHOLM COMMERCIAL Investments in
office and commercial space in the
greater Stockholm area have shown
favourable development over the past
2–3 years. Demand for office space in

prime locations remains intense and the
vacancy rate in the inner city and sur-
rounding areas is expected to remain
low. Rents soared in 2000 and rates for
prime downtown locations in the so-
called “Golden Triangle” have surged to
more than SEK 4,500 per square meter,
while rents in the rest of downtown are
now in the range of SEK 3,500–4,500 per
square meter. In areas like Mörby Cen-
trum and Frösunda, leases have been
signed with rents of SEK 2,500–3,000
per square meter.

SWEDEN Demand for housing was strong
throughout the year in all areas of the
country where JM is active, particularly
the major university towns, and housing
prices have risen fiercely. There is no sign
that demand will slacken in the foresee-
able future. 

NORWAY Activities in Norway, JM’s
largest and most expansive international
market, are focused on residential proj-
ect development. Demand for housing is
strong and prices rose by an average of 10
per cent during the year. Despite some
uncertainty about future interest rates,
this robust growth is expected to con-
tinue. JM’s operations in Norway showed
excellent development during 2000 in
terms of both volume and profitability,
with net sales of around MSEK 700.

DENMARK Since 1999, JM conducts proj-
ect development in Denmark. JM Dan-
mark’s operations consist of residential
development in Copenhagen and the sur-
rounding areas. The housing market in
Copenhagen has entered a relatively sta-
ble period. Demand for JM Danmark’s
housing has been strong and net sales are
expected to increase.

BELGIUM Since 1998 the Group’s has
conducted project development in Brus-
sels, with a focus on both residential and
commercial properties. There is a keen
demand for high-quality housing in
Brussels. The residential project started

by JM during the first quarter of 2000 is
progressing according to plan. During
the year, JM sold a newly developed
office property with a high return on
investment.

PORTUGAL Operations in Portugal were
wound up as per year-end 2000.

building rights portfolio
and project status

JM started projects including 3,000
(2,300) residential units in 2000, with a
goal to produce 4,500 annually within a
few years. The number of residential
units sold was MSEK 1,799 (1,945). At
the end of 2000, JM held building rights
for around 27,000 (24,000) residential
units divided among the business units
as follows:

In addition, the Stockholm Commercial
business unit has building rights for
development of 200,000 square meters
of commercial space in preferred loca-
tions in Stockholm.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

property management
total group

The Group’s holdings of management
properties are found primarily in the
business units Business Development/
Real Estate and Stockholm Commercial.

JM’s total rental revenue amounts to
MSEK 670 (742), of which interest sub-
sidies account for MSEK 10 (31). Profit
from property management before
planned depreciation and before selling
and administrative expenses amounted
to MSEK 483 (542). The year’s invest-
ments in existing management proper-
ties totalled MSEK 979 (566). Manage-
ment properties were acquired for
MSEK 59 (753) during the period.

The vacancy rate in fully developed
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Number of building rights 2000 1999
Stockholm Residential 12,500 12,000
Sweden 9,000 8,000
International 5,200 3,800
Total 26,700 23,800



management properties at year-end cor-
responded to 2 (2) per cent of annual
rents and 2 (3) per cent of rentable space.

Total rentable space at the end of
2000 amounted to 586,000 (677, 000)
square meters.

sales of
management properties

Sales of fully developed properties are
now a vital part of JM’s operations where
resources are freed up for new projects
in the Group. In 2000 sales were carried
out for a total of SEK 2.2 billion, provid-
ing a combined capital gain of MSEK
535. Significant transactions during the
year included the sale of Hägern Större
on Drottninggatan in Stockholm (MSEK
385) and the property exchange with
Gyllenforsen (MSEK 339). In addition, a
large residential property by Jarlaplan
was sold to a tenant-owner cooperative
(MSEK 401).

market values of jm’s 
management properties

Through an appraisal in collaboration
with independent consultants, the mar-
ket value of JM’s portfolio of manage-
ment properties at year-end 2000 was
assessed at MSEK 9,619 (9,202). The
corresponding book value was MSEK
6,445 (6,855). The appreciation surplus
is thus SEK 3.2 (2.3) billion.

In line with JM’s focus on project
development, the Group’s management
properties have been classified based on
project status. The breakdown of values
in each category is as follows:

Nordic Hotel on Vasagatan has been
assigned to the category “properties
under construction”, and the develop-
ment properties by Sergels Torg (Adam &

Eva and Beridarebanan) to the category
“properties for further development”.

FINANCING OPERATIONS

net financial items

Net financial items showed a deficit of
MSEK 309 (-356), an improvement of
MSEK 47 compared with the preceding
year. The improvement is mainly attrib-
utable to a lower average interest on
loans and the fact that a higher propor-
tion of interest expenses were included
in the acquisition value of management
properties related to commercial project
development. Costs of MSEK 4 for early
redemption of loans and MSEK 9 for
mortgage deeds were charged to net
financial items, which also include a
capital gain of MSEK 10 on the sale of
shares in OM Gruppen.

interest-bearing liabilities

At year-end 2000, JM’s interest-bearing
net debt amounted to MSEK 5,117
(5,588).

Total interest-bearing loans at the end
of 2000 totalled MSEK 5,610 (6,014),
including PRI pension liabilities of MSEK
374 (352). The average interest-bearing
loan liability was marginally higher in

2000 than in the preceding year.
As per 31 December 2000, the aver-

age interest rate on total interest-bear-
ing loans was 5.8 (5.9) per cent. The
average fixed interest period for the
Group’s combined loan stock excluding
PRI pension liabilities was 1.6 (1.7)
years. 

The debt/equity ratio at year-end was
1.4 (1.8).

OTHER

cash flow

The year’s cash flow improved by MSEK
62. The cash flow from operating activi-
ties, which includes buying and selling
of properties, rose to MSEK 652 (123).
The improvement is mainly attributable
to a stronger cash flow from project
development operations of MSEK 196
and an increase in sales of fully devel-
oped properties to MSEK 313. See also
comments on the cash flow statement.

liquidity

The Group’s disposable liquidity on 31
December 2000 amounted to MSEK
2,182 (1,116). Aside from liquid assets
of MSEK 446 (390), this includes unuti-
lized overdraft facilities and committed
lines of credit amounting to MSEK
1,736 (725).

taxes

The total tax expense was MSEK 364
(193), of which paid tax accounted for
MSEK 326 (118) and deferred tax for
MSEK 38 (75). One explanation for the
increase in paid tax is that the percent-
age of completion method is also applied
in legal entities as of 2000, which meant
that tax was paid at an earlier stage.
Deferred tax was reduced by a corre-
sponding amount.

Property tax, which is treated as an
operating expense, was charge to profit
in the amount of MSEK 58 (45). 

return

Return on capital employed before tax
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Book Market
value, MSEK value, MSEK

Fully developed
properties 4,286 6,352
Properties under
construction 1,522 2,438
Properties for
further development 637 829
Total 6,445 9,619
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was 16.7 per cent (11.4). 
Return on shareholders’ equity after

tax was 24.4 (14.8) per cent. Over the
past five calendar years, return on capi-
tal employed after tax has averaged at 14
per cent. The Group’s return target over
a business cycle is 15 per cent.

interest coverage ratio

The interest coverage ratio was 4.6 (2.7)
times including property sales and 3.0
(1.8) times excluding property sales. 

equity/assets ratio

The visible equity ratio, i.e. reported
shareholders’ equity in relation to total
assets, amounted to 33 (28) per cent.

shareholders ’ equity

Consolidated shareholders’ equity as per
31 December 2000 amounted to MSEK
3,770 (3,144), divided between re-
stricted equity of MSEK 1,761 (1,502)
and unrestricted equity of MSEK 2,009
(1,642).

personnel

The number of employees in the Group
at year-end was 2,265 (2,266). The num-
ber of construction workers was 1,223
(1,336) and the number of salaried
employees was 1,042 (930).

The average number of employees dur-
ing the year was 2,163 (2,140), of whom
225 (231) were employed outside Swe-
den. Of total employees, 1,910 (1,915)
were men and 253 (225) were women.

Wages, salaries and social security

costs were paid in the amount of MSEK
928 (825), with social security costs
accounting for MSEK 290 (272).

board of directors’ activities
in 2000

JM’s Board of Directors consists of six
regular members elected by the Annual
General Meeting and two employee rep-
resentatives with two deputies. The
President is a regular Board Member.

During the year, the Board held one
statutory meeting, four regular meet-
ings and four extra meetings, plus one
meeting per capsulam. 

PARENT COMPANY

operations

The Parent Company’s core business is
project development of residential and
commercial properties.

After the fusion with the wholly
owned subsidiary JM Byggnads AB,
among others, the Parent Company, like
the Group, applies the percentage of
completion method for reporting of
financial results. A positive fusion dif-
ference of MSEK 574 was transferred to
unrestricted equity in the Parent Com-
pany.

net sales
and profit

The Parent Company’s net sales
amounted to MSEK 5,774 (472).

The Parent Company’s profit after
financial items was MSEK 1,075 (230). 

investments

The Parent Company’s investments in
management properties totalled MSEK
557 (964).

personnel

The average number of employees was
1,780 (91), of whom 1,564 (72) were
men and 216 (19) were women. Wages,
salaries and social security costs were
paid in the amount of MSEK 780 (56). A
specification of the number of employ-

ees and salaries/wages is provided in the
notes to the financial statements.

dividend policy

Over time, the dividend should reflect
the company’s profit trend in ongoing
operations, and should correspond to an
average 50 per cent of the Group’s profit
after tax over the course of a business
cycle. Gains on the sale of properties are
seen as a natural part of JM’s project
development operations, and are included
in calculation of dividends. Over the past
five years the average dividend has been
around 36 per cent.

repurchase of shares

In view of JM’s strong cash flow from the
sale of fully developed properties and
the growing project volume, the Board of
Directors has decided to propose that
the Annual General Meeting on 24
April 2001 authorize the Board to
repurchase up to 10 per cent of the com-
pany’s own shares. The proposed repur-
chase and dividend will result in a total
distribution of more than SEK 1 billion
to the shareholders.

The repurchase will be carried out on
OM Stockholm Stock Exchange over the
period extending until the next Annual
General Meeting, and the shares will be
purchased at the market price on the
acquisition date. The objective of the
repurchase is to adjust the company’s
capital structure and thereby increase
return on shareholders’ equity and earn-
ings per share.

Furthermore, the Board has decided
to propose that the Annual General
Meeting authorize the Board to sell the
repurchased shares, in a manner other
than over OM Stockholm Stock Ex-
change, as a means for financing acquisi-
tions.
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GROUP PARENT COMPANY

MSEK Note 2000 1999 2000 1999
Net sales 1,6 6,849 5,825 5,774 472
Costs for production and management 6 -5,519 -4,770 -4,679 -177
Gross profit 1,330 1,055 1,095 295

Selling and administrative expenses 6 -455 -395 -394 -54
Gains on the sale of operations 2 30 – 30 –
Gains on the sale of properties 3 535 330 579 155
Revaluation of properties 4 – – – 11 
Items affecting comparability 5 78 – 73 –
Operating profit 6 1,518 990 1,383 407

Result from financial items
Result from group companies 7 – – -28 93
Result from other financial fixed assets 8 13 3 50 39
Result from financial current assets 9 17 11 42 33
Interest expenses and similar profit/loss items 10 -339 -370 -372 -342
Profit after financial items 1,209 634 1,075 230

Appropriations in the Parent Company 11 -134 -47

Tax on the year’s profit 12 -364 -193 -274 -58
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 845 441 667 125

Income statement
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GROUP PARENT COMPANY

MSEK Note 31 Dec. 2000 31 Dec. 1999 31 Dec. 2000 31 Dec. 1999
ASSETS

Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets
Goodwill 13 82 92 – –

Tangible fixed assets
Operating properties 14 74 82 18 –
Buildings and land* 15 – 6,855 – 4,266
Machinery and equipment 16 49 71 35 2

123 7,008 53 4,268

Financial fixed assets
Participations in group companies 17 – – 2,070 952
Receivables from group companies 18 – – 806 828
Participations in associated companies 19 9 10 9 4
Other long-term securities 20 2 2 2 –
Other long-term receivables 21 38 43 18 1

49 55 2,905 1,785

TOTAL FIXED ASSETS 254 7,155 2,958 6,053

Current assets
Buildings and land* 22 6,445 – 3,683 –

Development properties 23 3,105 2,611 2,012 503

Participations in tenant-owner cooperatives,etc. 24 51 46 36 –

Current receivables
Accounts receivable,trade 566 692 451 10
Receivables from group companies – – 834 830
Recognized income less progress billings 25 244 – 164 –
Other current receivables 26 276 119 182 56
Deferred expenses and accrued income 27 37 37 19 13

1,123 848 1,650 909

Short-term investments 6 52 – – 

Cash and bank balances 440 338 327 124

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 11,170 3,895 7,708 1,536

TOTAL ASSETS 28 11,424 11,050 10,666 7,589

* As of closing day 2000, JM’s management properties were reclassified from fixed assets to current assets as a consequence of the Group’s strategic decision to focus on
project management of properties.

Balance sheet
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GROUP PARENT COMPANY

MSEK Note 31 Dec. 2000 31 Dec. 1999 31 Dec. 2000 31 Dec. 1999
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 133 133 133 133
Restricted reserves 1,628 1,369 687 687
Restricted shareholders’ equity 1,761 1,502 820 820

Profit carried forward 1,164 1,201 988 514
Net profit for the year 845 441 667 125
Unrestricted equity 2,009 1,642 1,655 639

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 29 3,770 3,144 2,475 1,459

Untaxed reserves in the Parent Company 30 830 426

Provisions
Provisions for pensions and similar commitments 31 375 353 375 173
Provisions for taxes 32 425 504 34 32
Other provisions 33 136 130 80 –

936 987 489 205

Liabilities 34,41
Liabilities to credit institutions 35,36 5,093 5,375 4,428 4,639
Accounts payable,trade 421 466 332 18
Liabilities to group companies – – 1,105 455
Income tax liability 37 371 – 317 –
Progress billings in excess of recognized income 38 – 28 – –
Other liabilities 39 403 652 368 272
Accrued expenses and deferred income 40 430 398 322 115

6,718 6,919 6,872 5,499

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 11,424 11,050 10,666 7,589

PLEDGED ASSETS
Pledges and equivalent collateral to secure 
own liabilities and provisions 41 3,971 4,467 2,724 3,232

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 41 2,367 1,596 2,304 1,784
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GROUP PARENT COMPANY

MSEK 2000 1999 2000 1999
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before financial items (excl.SPP surplus) 1,440 990 1,310 407
Depreciation and write-downs 108 138 89 43
Other items with no effect on cash flow 44 -573 -349 -659 -180

975 779 740 270
Interest received 20 5 85 64
Dividends received 22 – -11 93
Interest paid and other financial expenses -327 -380 -353 -336
Paid tax -31 -41 0 -57

659 363 461 34
Investments in development properties,etc. 45 -1,535 -745 -646 -75
Transfer (sale) of development properties,etc. 46 951 379 652 –

Increase/decrease in accounts receivable,trade 172 -400 177 -17
Increase/decrease in other current receivables -380 -47 -60 -214
Increase/decrease in accounts payable,trade -45 23 -42 -5
Increase/decrease in other current operating liabilities -146 -16 -132 101
Cash flow before investments and sales 
of management properties -324 -443 410 -176

Investments in management properties,etc. 47 -1,002 -1,099 -557 -730
Sales of management properties,etc. 48 1,978 1,665 1,794 396
Cash flow from operating activities 652 123 1,647 -510

INVESTING ACTIVITIES, OTHER
Investments in intangible fixed assets – -40 – 0
Investments in tangible fixed assets (machinery and equipment) -39 -31 -33 -1
Sale of fixed assets (machinery and equipment) 77 -2 62 0
Investments in subsidiaries – – -946 0
Sale of subsidiaries – – 1 475
Liquid assets taken over in connection with fusions 49 – – 106 –
Change in associated companies,other shares and participations 2 0 0 0
Cash flow from investing activities,other 40 -73 -810 474

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Loans raised 1,328 1,344 1,210 1,239
Amortization of loans -1,752 -1,300 -1,654 -973
Change in financial fixed assets 12 8 35 -20
Group contributions rendered – – -1 -15
Dividends rendered -224 -108 -224 -108
Cash flow from financing activities -636 -56 -634 123

Total cash flow for the year 56 -6 203 87
Liquid assets,1 January 390 396 124 37
Liquid assets,31 December 446 390 327 124

INTEREST-BEARING NET DEBT
Interest-bearing liabilities 5,610 6,014 5,998 5,415
Liquid assets -446 -390 -327 -124
Interest-bearing receivables -47 -36 -1,653 -1,658
Interest-bearing net debt,31 December 5,117 5,588 4,018 3,633

Cash flow statement
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The cash flow from operating activities
rose to MSEK 652 (123). Operating ac-
tivities before interest and tax have
contributed MSEK 975 (779), an im-
provement of MSEK 196 after reversal of
items with no effect on cash flow, of
which gains on the sale of properties in
the amount of MSEK 535 account for a
significant portion. 

The year’s increased sales of manage-
ment properties improved the cash flow
by MSEK 313 compared with the preced-
ing year. JM’s exchange transaction with
Gyllenforsen AB is reported gross under
the items “sale of management proper-

ties” in the amount of MSEK 339 and
“acquisition of development properties”
in the amount of MSEK 350. The re-
duced holdings of management proper-
ties have also decreased the rental rev-
enue portion of cash flow by around
MSEK 70. JM invested a total of MSEK
2,500 (1,800) in development and man-
agement properties, including MSEK 295
for land on Kungsholmen and MSEK 100
for land in Lomma, Malmö.

The somewhat lower average rate of
interest on the Group’s loans during the
year made a positive contribution of
around MSEK 50 to the year’s cash flow. 

The year’s paid tax decreased by MSEK
10 compared with 1999. Tax on the
year’s profit increased the Group’s tax
expense and payment of MSEK 300 was
made at the beginning of 2001. 

Of the year’s improved cash flow from
operating activities, MSEK 224 was used
to pay dividends to the shareholders and
a net amount of MSEK 424 to amortize
loans. Of the newly raised loans, MSEK
1,165 comprises short-term loans, of
which MSEK 900 was amortized during
the course of the year.

Comments on 
the cash flow statement

For the Silverräven tenant-owner cooperative, JM has built five “functional style” residential complexes on the
island of Lidingö outside Stockholm. All of the units feature high standards and carefully selected materials.
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Annual Accounts Act and 
industry recommendations
The annual report was prepared in accordance with the
Swedish Annual Accounts Act and with adaptation to the
Swedish Construction Federation’s industry comments.
The Federation’s recommendation for use of the percent-
age of completion method has been applied.

Changes
The following changes have been made:
• The percentage of completion method is applied even

in legal entities
• Management properties have been reclassified from

fixed assets to current assets
• Management properties have been divided into three

categories based on project status
• Management properties were depreciated by 1.0 per

cent in 2000, compared with the earlier 1.5 per cent
• The cash flow statement was further developed

according to recommendation no. 7 of the Swedish
Financial Accounting Standards Council and was
adapted to JM’s operations

Consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been pre-
pared in accordance with the recommendations of the
Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council (no. 1).
The consolidated financial statements include those com-
panies in which the Parent Company owns more than
50% of the voting rights directly or indirectly via a sub-
sidiary, or otherwise has a controlling interest.

The consolidated financial statements have been pre-
pared according to the purchase method,whereby share-
holders’ equity in the subsidiaries on the acquisition date,
designated as the difference between the net realizable
values of the assets and liabilities, is eliminated in full.Con-
solidated shareholders’ equity thus includes only that
portion of equity arising after the acquisition.

If the consolidated acquisition value of the shares
exceeds the company’s net asset value taken up in the
acquisition analysis, the difference is reported as consoli-
dated goodwill.

Companies acquired during the year are included in
the consolidated financial statements in an amount pro-
portionate to the period after the acquisition. Profit from
companies sold during the year is included in the consoli-
dated income statement until the date of sale.

Foreign subsidiaries are deemed to be independent
units and their accounts have therefore been translated
according to the current method,whereby all assets, pro-
visions and other liabilities are translated at the closing

day rate and all items in the income statement are trans-
lated at the average rate during the year.Translation differ-
ences thus arising are transferred directly to shareholders’
equity. In the event that hedging has been undertaken to
balance and prevent exchange rate differences on a net
investment in an independent subsidiary, the exchange
rate difference arising from translation of the hedging
instrument is transferred directly to shareholders’ equity.

In application of differing valuations of assets and liabil-
ities at the Group and company levels, the tax effect is
taken into account and is reported as an accrued tax
receivable and a deferred tax expense.See also section on
reporting of income taxes.

Intra-group profits are eliminated in full.
Intra-group invoicing that is included in the acquisition

value of the management properties is reported in net sales.

Joint ventures
Companies and other types of joint ventures that are
formed in order to carry out specific contracting assign-
ments in collaboration with other companies are reported
according to the proportional method.

Receivables and liabilities in foreign currency
Receivables and liabilities in foreign currency are valued at
the closing day rate. In the event that hedging has been
undertaken, the forward rate is used.

Percentage of completion method
The Swedish Construction Federation’s industry recom-
mendation for use of the percentage of completion method
has been applied.

The percentage of completion method is based on the
view that an assignment is carried out in pace with com-
pletion of the respective project.Revenue and profit in the
project are reported period by period, in pace with recog-
nition, providing a direct link between financial reporting
and the operations conducted during the period.

Revaluation of anticipated project revenues affect the
period’s profit in full.

Anticipated losses are charged to the period’s profit in
full.

The “first krona principle” is applied, whereby income
reporting is carried out according to the percentage of
completion method already at the preliminary stage and
continues according to the same principle until the project
is completed.

In residential project development, JM normally owns
the development property at the start of the project.

When production commences, the property is trans-
ferred to the project in book value and is included among

other production costs.The expensed cost of the prop-
erty thus affects profit recognized in the project at that
point in time.

JM’s activities refer primarily to project development
of properties for future sale.These operations consist of
projects on JM’s own land for production of housing to be
sold as apartments to tenant-owner cooperatives or tracts
of single-family homes directly to consumers.

However, reporting of revenue from JM’s own projects
for future sale must meet the following two basic criteria
with regard to reliability:

• Declarations or preliminary agreements must exist to
such an extent that the building contractor, based on
reliable experience, can assume that the full provision
of the end product (the future residential units) is
guaranteed.

• The building contractor’s decisions regarding the tech-
nical and financial framework, timetable and operating
organization for implementation of the project shall
meet the specifications made when the client relation-
ship was formalized through the transfer of land and
signing of a contracting agreement.

In the balance sheet, the arising project balance (receiv-
able or liability) is taken up as the difference between recog-
nized project revenue and the invoiced amount.The pro-
ject balance is reported under the separate item “recog-
nized income less progress billings” among current assets
or, alternatively, among liabilities as “progress billings in
excess of recognized income”.

The percentage of completion method was previously
applied only in the consolidated accounts, but with effect
from 2000 is also applied in the Parent Company.

Management properties
With effect from year-end 2000, JM’s management prop-
erties have been reclassified from fixed assets to current
assets as a result of the Group’s strategic decision to
focus on project development of properties.Such proper-
ties are not intended for long-term management. As a
result of this reclassification, management properties are
not depreciated as of 2001.

In 2000, management properties were depreciated in
the amount of 1.0 (1.5) per cent of the buildings’ acquisi-
tion values.

In line with JM’s focus on project development, the
Group’s management properties have classified based
project status as follows:

Accounting and 
valuation principles
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• Fully developed properties
• Properties under construction
• Properties for further development

Fully developed properties refer to properties fully devel-
oped by JM and properties to be sold without further
development. During the period until sale, the properties
are managed by JM and operating profit is reported as
profit from property management.

Properties under construction are properties undergoing
new construction, extension or renovation into fully
developed properties.Operating profit from rental activi-
ties during the construction, renovation or extension
period are reported as profit from property management.

Properties for further development are properties that
are currently rented and where plans for further develop-
ment are in progress. Operating profit here is also
reported as profit from property management.

Production costs for JM’s fully developed properties
include both direct costs and a reasonable share of indi-
rect costs.

Interest expenses pertaining to production to be held
for property management purposes are expensed in the
Parent Company. In the consolidated financial statements,
a corresponding amount has been reported in the acquisi-
tion value of management properties and the tax effect
has been taken into account.

Development properties
Properties, undeveloped or developed, that are intended
for production of tenant-owned apartments or single-
family homes and land for management properties are
reported as development properties.The properties are
normally sold immediately after production. Operating
profit from development properties is reported as profit
from project development operations.

Goodwill
Goodwill on the acquisition of Byggholt as and AS Pro-

sjektfinans in Norway is being amortized over 10 years.
The amortization period is motivated by the strategic and
long-term nature of the acquisitions and the companies’
solid reputations in the Norwegian market.

Machinery and equipment
The following depreciation rates are applied:
Construction machinery 10%
Computers and other equipment 20–33%
Vehicles 20%

Leasing
The Group has leasing agreements pertaining to office
equipment and company cars. These are reported as
operational leasing agreements.The leasing agreements
are of a limited scope.

Fusions
Fusions of wholly owned subsidiaries are reported
according to the consolidated value method, whereby all
assets and liabilities are taken over at values based on the
acquisition analysis carried out in connection with the
original acquisition of the subsidiary in question. The
fusion difference is transferred directly to shareholders’
equity.

Group contributions
Group contributions rendered and received in the Parent
Company are reported according to the special state-
ment issued by the Swedish Financial Accounting Stan-
dards Council task force, whereby Group contributions
rendered and received to minimize the Group’s tax
expense are reported as a decrease/increase in unre-
stricted equity.

Reporting of income taxes
Deferred tax on the difference between book values and
tax-based values is taken into account, for example in con-
nection with indirect acquisitions of properties through

companies.The basic assumption is application of full tax,
i.e. 28 per cent (the respective country’s current tax rate)
of the difference between the consolidated book value and
tax-based residual value.The acquisition analysis takes into
account whether the deferred income tax has been valued
at an amount below the nominal value, which is done to a
minor extent. In such cases, income tax will be adjusted to
nominal value during the period when deferral of income
tax is expected to take place.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement has been prepared according to
the indirect method according to the recommendation of
the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council
(RR7), and has been adapted to JM’s operations.The com-
parative figures for 1999 have been correspondingly
adjusted.

Since buying and selling of management and develop-
ment properties are part of JM’s ongoing activities, these
are reported under the corresponding sections of the
cash flow statement.The item “reversal of development
properties” refers mainly to utilization of properties for
production. Investments in and sales of properties are
reported gross without adjustment for any assumption or
redemption of loans.

Buying and selling of fixed assets not pertaining to
properties are reported under “Investing activities,other”.

Liquid assets are classified as cash and bank balances
and short-term financial investments that are traded on
the open market in known amounts and are associated
with only a marginal risk for value fluctuations. Liquid
assets also include short-term investments with a term of
less than 3 months from the acquisition date.

The year’s paid tax is reported in full under operating
activities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Amounts in MSEK unless otherwise stated.

Note 1 – Net sales by type of revenue, business 
unit and geographic market

2000 1999
Group
Net sales by type of revenue
Recognized income 5,990 4,946
Rental revenue, development properties 189 137
Rental revenue, management properties 660 711
Interest subsidies 10 31

6,849 5,825

Net sales by business unit
BU Stockholm Residential 2,421 1,658
BU Stockholm Commercial 1,626 1,470
BU Sweden 1,803 1,562
BU Business Development/Real Estate 550 668
BU International 761 627
Elimination -312 -160

Total net sales 6,849 5,825

Net sales by geographic market
Sweden 6,088 5,198
Norway 683 530
Belgium 22 11
Portugal 1 57
Denmark 55 29

Total net sales 6,849 5,825

Note 2 – Gains on the sale of operations

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Sale of machinery operations 30 – 30 –

JM Maskinservice has transferred all storage units, machinery and equipment sheds to
Cramo AB for MSEK 75, with a capital gain of MSEK 30.

Note 3 – Gains on the sale of properties

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Sales revenue 2,213 1,710 1,897 397
Book value -1,678 -1,380 -1,318 -242

535 330 579 155

For sold properties, the book value in the Group has been charged with interest expens-
es of MSEK 87 that were included in the acquisition value.

Note 4 – Revaluation of properties

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Write-downs – -16 – -5
Reversals – 16 – 16

– – – 11

Note 5 – Items affecting comparability

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Surplus funds from SPP 78 – 73 –

JM has received company-linked surplus funds with a nominal value of MSEK 78 from
SPP. A total of MSEK 17 was repaid in 2000.The remaining company-linked funds amount
to MSEK 61.

Note 6 – Net sales and operating profit by business unit

Business
Stockholm Stockholm Development/ Elimination/ Group

Group 2000 Residential Commercial Sweden Real Estate International Other total
Net sales 2,421 1,626 1,803 550 761 -312 6,849
Costs for production and management -1,958 -1,410 -1,595 -200 -668 312 -5,519
Selling and administrative expenses -126 -102 -84 -46 -41 -56 * -455

Gross profit 337 114 124 304 52 -56 875

Gains on the sale of operations – 30 – – – – 30
Gains on the sale of properties 41 2 14 458 20 – 535
Surplus funds from SPP – – – – – 78 78

Operating profit 378 146 138 762 72 22 1,518

Group 1999
Net sales 1,658 1,470 1,562 668 627 -160 5,825
Costs for production and management -1,396 -1,305 -1,420 -255 -554 160 -4,770
Selling and administrative expenses -82 -78 -70 -48 -40 -77 * -395

Gross profit 180 87 72 365 33 -77 660

Gains on the sale of properties – – – 330 – – 330

Operating profit 180 87 72 695 33 -77 990

* Refers to group-wide costs

Net sales from project development by business unit

Business
Stockholm Stockholm Development/ Elimination/ Group

Group 2000 Residential Commercial Sweden Real Estate International Other total
Net sales 2,421 1,626 1,803 – 761 -312 6,299
Less rental revenue from management properties – -104 – – – – -104

Net sales from project development 2,421 1,522 1,803 – 761 -312 6,195
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Cont’d Note 6

Profit from project development by business unit

Business
Stockholm Stockholm Development/ Elimination/ Group

Group 2000 Residential Commercial Sweden Real Estate International Other total
Gross profit 337 114 124 – 52 – 627
Less operating nets from management properties – -65 – – – – -65
Plus property sales 41 – ** 14 – 20 – 75

Profit from project development 378 49 138 – 72 – 637

** The year’s gains on the sale of properties in Stockholm Commercial are not attributable to property development and are therefore not included in profit from project development.

Note 7 – Result from group companies

Parent Company
2000 1999

Dividend 11 89
Capital gain on sale -12 4
Write-down -27 –

-28 93

Note 8 – Result from other financial fixed assets

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Dividend 1 0 1 0
Capital gain on the sale of securities 9 0 9 –
Interest income, group companies – – 39 38
Interest income, others 3 3 1 1
Exchange rate difference – – 0 –

13 3 50 39

Note 9 – Result from financial current assets

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Interest income, others 17 11 10 5
Interest income, group companies – – 32 17
Exchange rate difference – – – 11

17 11 42 33

Note 10 – Interest expenses and similar profit/loss items

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Interest expenses, group companies – – 41 19
Interest portion of the year’s
pension costs 15 13 15 7
Interest expenses, other 324 356 316 316
Exchange rate differences 
on liabilities 0 1 – 0

339 370 372 342

Note 11 – Appropriations in the Parent Company

2000 1999
Depreciation in excess/below plan:
Management properties 76 -20
Machinery 10 –
Equipment -34 –

Inventory reserve 78 –
Tax allocation fund -330 -28
Reversal of tax allocation fund (tax 1995) 66 –
Reversal of tax equalization fund (SURV) – 1

-134 -47

Note 12 – Tax on the year’s profit

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Current tax 326 118 274 58
Deferred tax 38 75 – –

364 193 274 58
See also Note 37.

Note 13 – Goodwill

Group
2000

Accumulated acquisition values
Opening balance, 1 January 115
New acquisitions 1
Reclassifications 0
Sales -3

Closing balance, 31 December 113

Accumulated planned depreciation
Opening balance, 1 January 23
The year’s depreciation 11
Sales -3

Closing balance, 31 December 31

Planned residual value on 31 December 82

The reported goodwill pertains primarily to goodwill arising from the acquisition of
Byggholt as and AS Prosjektfinans in Norway.

Note 14 – Operating properties

Group Parent Company
2000 2000

Accumulated acquisition values
Opening balance, 1 January 85 –
New acquisitions 5 0
Fusion of group companies – 29
Reclassifications -10 -10
Sales -1 –

Closing balance, 31 December 79 19

Accumulated planned depreciation
Opening balance, 1 January 3 –
The year’s depreciation 2 0
Fusion of group companies – 1

Closing balance, 31 December 5 1

Planned residual value, 31 December 74 18

Tax assessment value 20 20

Note 15 – Buildings and land

Management properties owned by the Group and the Parent Company have been
reclassified from fixed assets to current assets (Note 22) as a result of the Group’s
strategic decision to focus on project development of properties. See information
about management properties under accounting and valuation principles.
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Note 16 – Machinery and equipment

Group Parent Company
2000 2000

Accumulated acquisition values
Opening balance, 1 January 244 6
New acquisitions 37 33
Corporate acquisitions 1 –
Fusions of group companies – 196
Sales and disposals -148 -136

Closing balance, 31 December 134 99

Accumulated planned depreciation
Opening balance, 1 January 173 4
The year’s depreciation 27 22
Fusion of group companies – 142
Sales and disposals -115 -104

Closing balance, 31 December 85 64

Planned residual value, 31 December 49 35

Note 17 – Shares and participations in wholly owned 
group companies

Shares and participations in wholly owned Parent Company
group companies, MSEK 2000
Accumulated acquisition values
Opening balance,1 January 952
Fusion of group companies 200
New acquisitions 946
Sales -1
Write-downs -27

Book value,31 December 2,070

Cont’d Note 17
No. of

Company shares and Total Book
Parent Company, SEK 000s reg. no. Domicile votes par value Currency value
AB Brukscentralen 556048-6788 Stockholm 1,000 100 900
AB Garantihus 556073-0524 Stockholm 5,000 5,000 1,000
AB Hem på Landet 556003-4505 Stockholm 61,390 6,131 52,393
JM Cityfastigheter AB 556355-8179 Stockholm 17,000,000 170,000 369,501
Byggnadsfirman Gottfrid Lindgren AB 556062-8249 Uppsala 420 420 4,577
Månstrålen Holding AB 556496-6546 Stockholm 1,000 100 50
Lunds Byggmästergille AB 556058-9888 Lund 180 180 327
AB Lidingö Nya Centrum 556339-0839 Lidingö 1,000 100 100
Mörbysvärdet AB 556471-2601 Danderyd 1,000 100 18,083
Förvaltningsbolaget Sicklaön HB 916619-0992 Stockholm 10,000 101,095
Brf Östra Leran 716456-8706 Borlänge 47 0 483
Imedaka AB 556161-6599 Uppsala 5,000 500 6,525
KB Lidingö Nya Centrum 916624-5663 Stockholm 38,800 41,375
HB Mörby Fastighetsförvaltning 1) 916505-6798 Stockholm 2,000 23,480
Mercator Gestäo Lda, Portugal Lisbon 380 PTE 44,543
JM Värmdöstrand Holding AB 556275-4696 Stockholm 3,300,120 100 293,342
AB Stockholms Badmintonhall 556037-3655 Stockholm 2,520 126 11,540
AB Borätt 556257-9275 Stockholm 500 500 1,978
AB Citybyggen 556031-2596 Stockholm 15,000 1,500 1,800
AB Projektgaranti 556077-1841 Stockholm 1,000 100 104
JM Stombyggnad AB 556173-0564 Stockholm 1,000 100 113
Entr.AB Emanuelsson & Gullberg 556081-4567 Karlstad 1,000 100 397
JM Seniorfastigheter AB 556029-5726 Stockholm 1,000 100 5,110
GL Bodservice AB 556161-8025 Stockholm 250,000 25,000 56,524
JM Byggservice AB 556257-9325 Stockholm 100 100 100
Seniorgården AB 556359-9082 Stockholm 1,000 100 100
Svensk Skadeservice i Sthlm AB 556038-7747 Stockholm 100 100 2,887
ÖB Fastigheter AB 556060-4737 Linköping 1,000 100 0
Fastighetsbolaget Bohusmark KB 916443-1125 Gothenburg 1 120 120
JM Inredning i Stockholm AB 556202-8653 Stockholm 1,000 100 50
Fastighets AB Bollstastrand 556411-8806 Stockholm 102 102 9,687
Kons Studentbostadsbygg i K-stad HB 969620-3042 Karlstad 2 0
Sekå AB 556298-5605 Gothenburg 1,000 100 6,350
JM Bruket i Kallhäll AB 556464-7997 Stockholm 50,000 5,000 26,500
Bruket i Kallhäll Exploaterings KB 969653-9122 Järfälla 20,500

Bruket i Kallhäll Exploaterings AB 556561-0184 Järfälla 500 50 50
Järfälla Fasad AB 556476-4222 Järfälla 10,000 100 2,350
Fundament AS Norge Oslo 1,000 1,000 NOK 849
JM Construction SA Belgien Brussels 10,000,000 10,000 BEF 33,816
AB Saltsjö Dufnäs Villatomter 556007-4691 Stockholm 5,000 500 475
Fastighetsbolaget Svanen HB 916619-5496 Stockholm 100 100 100
Mr Chip Hotel AB 556243-7151 Stockholm 100 100 103
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Cont’d Note 17
No. of

Company shares and Total Book
Parent Company, SEK 000s reg. no. Domicile votes par value Currency value
Mr Chip Hotel AB & Co KB 916604-9321 Stockholm 1,000 1,000 1,500
Fastighetsbolaget Göta Ark HB 916600-1082 Stockholm 1,200 60,000 413,000
Olle Timblads Målerifirma AB 556072-9492 Stockholm 5,000 500 4,939
Byggholt as Oslo 101 52 NOK 127,687
JM Danmark AS Copenhagen DKK 47,593
HB Kojan Fastighetsförvaltning 916634-1334 Stockholm 294,944
W& S Fastigheter i Lomma HB 916470-0057 Lomma 41,439

2,070,479
1) The holding amounts to 56% of the share capital.The remaining 44% is held by the wholly owned subsidiary Mörbysvärdet AB.

Specification of the Group’s other holdings of shares and participations in wholly owned group companies, SEK 000s

Company No. of Total Book
reg. no. Domicile shares par value value

Riksgästeri AB 556046-2409 Uppsala 1,000 100 56
Brf Östra Leran 716456-8706 Borlänge 1 11
Norrlands Handelshus AB 556264-2198 Stockholm 9,000 9,000 19,735
JM Cityfastigheter i Helsingborg AB 556044-6766 Helsingborg 1,000 1,000 250,358
JM Cityfastigheter i Stockholm AB 556063-5988 Stockholm 3,800 38,000 250,358
HB Mörby Fastighetsförvaltning 916505-6798 Stockholm 880 483
KB Lidingö Nya Centrum 916624-5663 Stockholm 50 50 50
Outstanding Hotels-
Hotel & Restaurang AB 556265-4607 Stockholm 600 100 72
GL Bodtjänster AB 556154-1581 Stockholm 1,000 100 3,400
Fastighets AB Strandpromenaden 556164-5523 Stockholm 25,000 2,500 9,236
KB Pelarbacken Mindre 23 916635-8920 Stockholm 1 260,100 260,101
GL Boduthyrning AB 556044-4936 Stockholm 4,800 480 260,000
AB Solna Målerifirma 556444-8248 Stockholm 10,000 100 1,300
Sekå Fastighets AB 556079-1328 Gothenburg 2,500 250 1,668
Bruket i Kallhäll Exploaterings AB 556561-0184 Järfälla 500 50 50
Bruket i Kallhäll Exploaterings KB 969653-9122 Järfälla 1 5 5
JM Värmdöstrand AB 556001-6213 Stockholm 4,400 5,000 250,000

Group companies fusioned Company
during the year reg. no. Fusion date
JM Byggnads AB 556101-9539 00-01-03
Fastighets AB Svartbäcken 556061-8224 00-12-11 (fusioned with JM Fastigheter Liljeholmen AB)
JM Fastigheter Liljeholmen AB 556024-7644 00-12-13 (fusioned with Fastighets AB Månstrålen)
Fastighets AB Månstrålen 556026-9796 00-12-14
Borätt Mark AB 556089-8420 00-12-14
Fastighets AB Palladium 556012-7655 00-12-14
Fastighets AB Spången 556022-4965 00-12-14
Lands-Bygge AB 556045-5817 00-12-14
Richters Förvaltnings AB 556008-9236 00-12-14
Målerigruppen JM Byggnads AB 556212-6648 00-12-14
Norö Exploaterings AB 556515-1163 00-12-14
Fastighets AB Gredelby 556014-3181 00-12-14

For additional information about fusioned group companies, see Note 49.
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Note 18 – Receivables from group companies

Parent Company
2000

Opening balance, 1 January 828
Receivables arising during the year 68
Receivables settled during the year -90

Book value, 31 December 806

Note 19 – Participations in associated companies

Shares and participations Group Parent Company
in associated companies, MSEK 2000 2000
Accumulated acquisition values
Opening balance, 1 January 10 4
Fusions – 5
New acquisitions 4 4
Sales -5 -4

Book value, 31 December 9 9

Cont’d Note 19

Parent Company Company No. of shares % of Par Book
and Group, SEK 000s reg. no. Domicile and votes capital value value
AB Hälsingborgsbostäder 556105-9196 Helsingborg 500 50 50 50
HB Terminalgruppen T * 916762-0443 Helsingborg 30 33 0
AB Ramlösa Brunnsanläggning 556031-6274 Helsingborg 625 50 63 75
Momentum Software AB 556474-2103 Falun 31,686 6 1 3,472
Glasberga Fastighets AB 556361-0707 Södertälje 1,000 25 100 100
Högmora Exploaterings AB 556395-0707 Stockholm 1,000 25 100 100
Masmobergets Exploaterings AB 556395-0442 Stockholm 1,000 25 100 100
SMÅA AB 556497-1322 Stockholm 3,500 33 3,500 3,500
Fastighetsbolaget Glasberga KB 916643-1842 Stockholm 1 25 101 101
Handelsbolaget Energibyggarna 916619-7435 Stockholm 1 50 250 380
Olunda Terminal HB * 916629-6948 Järfälla 1 50 500 800
Exploateringsbolaget Högmora KB 916643-6258 Stockholm 1 25 1 1
Exploateringsbolaget Masmoberget KB 916643-6213 Stockholm 1 25 1 1
Sickla Sjöstad AB 556535-1680 Stockholm 1,000 33 100 100
Adolfsbergs Brunns AB 556303-8685 Örebro 340 33 34 34
HB Jordbrokrossen * 969611-4868 Danderyd 100 50 100 100
Kranen Exploatering AB 556594-2645 Malmö 333 33 100 36

Book value, 31 December 8,950

*) Unlimited liability

Note 20 – Other long-term securities

Other long-term Group Parent Company
securities, MSEK 2000 2000
Accumulated acquisition values
Opening balance, 1 January 2 0
Investments – 2
Sales 0 –

Book value, 31 December 2 2

No. of
shares % of Par Book

Parent Company, SEK 000s and votes capital value value
Svenskt Fastighetsindex SFI ek.för 1 8 50 50
CGC Centralgalaxen Bygg AB 150 20 30 20
Haninge Turism AB 100 1 10 10
Parkerings AB Dukaten 1,245 4 1,245 1,245
Garbo AB 2 70
Sverigehuset i Göteborg AB 250 100
Other shares 54

1,549
Added for the Group, SEK 000s
Trygg Eiendomsmegling 500
Other 2

502
Book value, 31 December 2,051

Note 21 – Other long-term receivables

Group Parent Company
2000 2000

Opening balance, 1 January 43 1
Fusions – 21
Receivables settled during the year -5 -4

Book value, 31 December 38 18

Note 22 – Buildings and land (Management properties)

Fully Properties Properties
Group*) developed under con- for further
2000 properties struction development Total
Accumulated acquisition values
Opening balance, 1 January 6,252 602 628 7,482
New acquisitions 59 979 – 1,038
Reclassifications 151 -29 18 140
Sales -1,725 – – -1,725

Closing balance, 31 December 4,737 1,552 646 6,935

Accumulated planned depreciation
Opening balance, 1 January 508 – 3 511
Reclassifications -30 30 – 0
Sales -172 – – -172
The year’s planned depreciation 53 – 6 59

Closing balance, 31 December 359 30 9 398

Accumulated write-downs
Opening balance, 1 January 116 – – 116
Sales -24 – – -24

Closing balance, 31 December 92 – – 92

Planned residual value,
31 December 4,286 1,522 637 6,445

Tax assessment value 2,535 765 460 3,760

On closing day 2000, management properties owned by the Group and the Parent
Company have been reclassified from fixed assets to current assets as a result of the
Group’s strategic decision to focus on project development of properties. See infor-
mation about management properties under accounting and valuation principles.

*) Interest expenses added to the acquisition value of management properties
amounted to MSEK 147 (195).
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Cont’d Note 22

Fully Properties Properties
Parent Company developed under con- for further
2000 properties struction development Total
Accumulated acquisition values
Opening balance, 1 January 4,111 51 542 4,704
New acquisitions 59 498 – 557
Reclassifications 363 -241 18 140
Fusion of group companies 31 – – 31
Sales -1,435 – – -1,435

Closing balance, 31 December 3,129 308 560 3,997

Accumulated planned depreciation
Opening balance, 1 January 350 – 2 352
Reclassifications -5 5 – 0
Fusion of group companies 8 – – 8
Sales -153 – – -153
The year’s depreciation 34 – 6 40

Closing balance, 31 December 234 5 8 247

Accumulated write-downs
Opening balance, 1 January 86 – – 86
Sales -19 – – -19

Closing balance, 31 December 67 – – 67

Planned residual value,
31 December 2,828 303 552 3,683

Tax assessment value 1,388 112 370 1,870

Note 23 – Development properties

Group Parent Company
2000 2000

Accumulated acquisition values
Opening balance, 1 January 2,617 504
New acquisitions 1,469 590
Reclassifications -134 -130
Fusion of group companies – 1,624
Sales -147 -17
Transferred to production -690 -558

Closing balance, 31 December 3,115 2,013

Accumulated planned depreciation
Opening balance, 1 January 6 1
Reclassifications -6 –
The year’s depreciation 10 –

Closing balance, 31 December 10 1

Book value, 31 December 3,105 2,012

Tax assessment value 1,701 890

Note 24 – Participations in tenant-owner cooperatives, etc.

Group Parent Company
2000 2000

Accumulated acquisition values
Opening balance, 1 January 48 –
Fusion of group companies – 41
Purchases 66 56
Sales -61 -61

Closing balance, 31 December 53 36

Accumulated write-downs
Opening balance, 1 January 2 –

Closing balance, 31 December 2 –

Book value, 31 December 51 36

Note 25 – Recognized income less progress billings

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Accumulated on account 
invoicing for work in progress -6,594 – -6,267 –
Recognized income in
work in progress 6,838 – 6,431 –

244 – 164 –

A large number of projects where construction started early in the year were classi-
fied as work in progress over year-end. Since utilization of building loans was not car-
ried out at the initial phase of the projects, this balance is reported on the asset side,
i.e. accumulated recognized income in the projects exceeds invoicing on account.
Construction has been started on all projects classified as work in progress.

Note 26 – Other current receivables

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Tax receivable – 34 – 48
Promissory notes receivable, etc. 14 3 – –
Receivables, property sales 32 – 32 –
Other 230 82 150 8

276 119 182 56

Note 27 – Deferred expenses and accrued income

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Accrued interest 0 4 0 3
Accrued rents 0 3 – –
Other deferred expenses 21 22 18 5
Deferred rents 0 1 – 0
Deferred interest 1 0 1 –
Other accrued income 15 7 – 5

37 37 19 13

Note 28 – Interest-bearing and non interest-bearing assets

Group Parent Company
2000 2000

Interest- Non interest- Interest- Non interest-
bearing bearing bearing bearing

Intangible fixed assets – 82 – –
Tangible fixed assets – 123 – 53
Financial fixed assets 33 16 819 2,086
Management properties – 6,445 – 3,683
Development properties, etc. – 3,156 – 2,048
Current receivables 14 1,109 834 816
Cash and bank balances 446 – 327 –

Book value, 31 December 493 10,931 1,980 8,686
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Note 29 – Shareholders’ equity

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Share capital
Opening balance, 1 January 133 133 133 133

Closing balance, 31 December 133 133 133 133

Restricted reserves (legal reserve in the Parent Company)
Opening balance, 1 January 1,369 1,533 687 687
Translation difference 5 -1 – – 
Transfer between restricted and 
unrestricted equity 254 -163 – – 

Closing balance, 31 December 1,628 1,369 687 687

Unrestricted equity
Opening balance, 1 January 1,642 1,146 639 637
Group contributions rendered – – -2 -21
Tax effect on group contributions – – 1 6
Transfer between restricted and 
unrestricted equity -254 163 – – 
Change due to fusion of 
group companies – – 574 –
Dividends -224 -108 -224 -108
Net profit for the year 845 441 667 125

Closing balance, 31 December 2,009 1,642 1,655 639

Total shareholders’ equity 3,770 3,144 2,475 1,459

Share capital
Distribution by class of shares, 31 December 2000:

333,000 class A shares (10 votes/share)
32,908,000 class B shares (1 vote/share)

33,241,000

The shares have a par value of SEK 4 each.

Upon full conversion of the subscribed convertibles, the number of B shares will

increase by 532,988.The total number of shares after full conversion of outstanding

convertibles will amount to 33,773,988.

Note 30 – Untaxed reserves in the Parent Company

Parent Company
2000 1999

Accumulated excess depreciation:
Buildings and land 204 275
Machinery and equipment 35 –
Tax allocation funds:
Provision for tax assessment in 1996 78 43
Provision for tax assessment in 1997 6 2
Provision for tax assessment in 1998 94 65
Provision for tax assessment in 1999 19 13 
Provision for tax assessment in 2000 64 28
Provision for tax assessment in 2001 330 –

830 426

The year’s net provisions to year-end appropriations amounted to MSEK 134 (see Note
11). In addition, untaxed reserves of MSEK 270 were taken over in connection with the
fusions.

Note 31 – Provisions for pensions and similar commitments

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

PRI 374 352 374 172
Other 1 1 1 1

375 353 375 173

Note 32 – Provisions for taxes

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Deferred tax on untaxed 
reserves 309 280 – –
Other deferred tax 74 181 – –
Other provisions for tax 42 43 34 32

425 504 34 32

See also Note 37.

Note 33 – Other provisions 

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Provisions for guarantees 90 76 80 –
Other provisions 46 54 – –

136 130 80 –

Note 34 – Interest-bearing and non interest-bearing liabilities

Group Parent Company
2000 2000

Non Non 
Interest- interest- Interest- interest-
bearing bearing bearing bearing

Liabilities to credit institutions 5,093 – 4,428 –
Tax liabilities – 371 – 317
Accounts payable, trade – 421 – 332
Liabilities to group companies – – 1,105 –
Accrued expenses and deferred 
income – 430 – 322
Other liabilities 143 260 143 225

5,236 1,482 5,676 1,196

Note 35 – Liabilities to credit institutions

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Due within 1 year from closing day 85 439 67 416
Due within 1–5 years from 
closing day 250 168 67 57
Due later than 5 years from 
closing day 4,758 4,768 4,294 4,166

Book value, 31 December 5,093 5,375 4,428 4,639

Note 36 – Liabilities to credit institutions, confirmed credits

Group Parent Company
Overdraft facilities 2000 1999 2000 1999
Granted credit ceiling 433 128 415 100
Unutilized portion -425 -114 -415 -100

Utilized credit 8 14 – –

Group Parent Company
Credit agreement 2000 1999 2000 1999
Granted credit agreement 3,732 2,550 3,475 2,550
Unutilized portion -1,293 -612 -1,093 -612

Utilized credit 2,439 1,938 2,382 1,938

Group Parent Company
Building loans 2000 1999 2000 1999
Granted loans 233 – 233 –
Unutilized portion -18 – -18 –

Utilized credit 215 – 215 –
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Note 37 – Tax liabilities

The increase in paid tax is partly attributable to the fact that the percentage of com-
pletion method is also applied to legal entities as of 2000, which has resulted in earlier
payment of tax. Deferred tax will be decreased by a corresponding amount.

Note 38 – Progress billings in excess of recognized income

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Accumulated on account 
invoicing for work in progress – 3,967 – – 
Recognized income in
work in progress – -3,939 – – 

– 28 – – 

Note 39 – Other liabilities

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Due within 1 year from 
closing day 145 444 99 121
Due within 1–5 years from 
closing day 131 75 125
Convertible debenture loan 83 81 100 100

Due later than 5 years from 
closing day 44 52 44 51

403 652 368 272

Convertible debenture loan
The employees were offered a convertible debenture loan in 1999 and have sub-
scribed for MSEK 83 to date. In addition, MSEK 17 has been subscribed for by the
wholly owned subsidiary AB Garantihus for allotment to future employees.The dura-
tion of the convertible debenture is 15 June 1999 – 15 June 2003, i.e. four years.The
loan carries interest equivalent to STIBOR minus 0.8 percentage points. Conversion
to class B shares may take place during the period 1 June 2001 – 1 June 2003, with
the exception of the period from 1 January to the record date for payment of the
respective year’s dividend.The exercise price is SEK 155.

The number of shares prior to conversion amounts to 33,241,000. Upon full con-
version of the subscribed convertibles, the number of shares will increase by 532,988
and the share capital by SEK 2,132,000, corresponding to 1.6 per cent of the share
capital and 1.5 per cent of the votes in the company.

The total number of shares after full conversion of outstanding convertibles will be
33,773,988.

Note 40 – Accrued expenses and deferred income

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Vacation reserve, etc. 94 106 92 8
Social security fees, etc. 126 98 101 11
Accrued rents 3 1 – – 
Accrued interest 38 44 36 31
Deferred rents 98 54 62 48
Deferred interest 0 12 – –
Accrued expenses/
deferred income 71 83 31 17

430 398 322 115

Note 41 – Assets pledged and contingent liabilities

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Assets pledged to secure own 
provisions and liabilities
Assets pledged to secure provisions 
for pensions and similar 
commitments:
Corporate mortgages 109 104 100 –
Property mortgages 3,862 4,363 2,624 3,232

3,971 4,467 2,724 3,232

Contingent liabilities
Guarantees on behalf of 
group companies – – 599 1,268
Guarantee commitments, others 2,064 1,484 1,542 503
Assets pledged in connection 
with assignments 214 26 155 8
Other contingent liabilities 89 86 8 5

Total contingent liabilities 2,367 1,596 2,304 1,784

Furthermore, the Group has obligations to purchase unsold participations in tenant-
owner cooperatives formed by JM. The Parent Company has guarantee commitments to
AB Bostadsgaranti pertaining to completed housing projects.The parent Company and
the Group have guarantee commitments pertaining to long-term management contracts.

Note 42 – Fees and remuneration

Group Parent Company
2000 2000

Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers
Auditing assignments 1.8 1.0
Other assignments 3.2 3.1

5.0 4.1

Note 43 – Employees and payroll expenses

Average number Of whom, Of whom,
of employees 2000 men 1999 men
Parent Company
Sweden 1,780 88% 91 79%
Subsidiaries
Sweden 166 99% 1,818 91%
Belgium 7 57% 6 50%
Denmark 7 57% 4 50%
Norway 203 87% 213 87%
Portugal 0 – 8 50%

Total in subsidiaries 383 91% 2,049 90%

Total Group 2,163 88% 2,140 89%

Salaries, other remuneration Group Parent Company
and social security costs 2000 2000

Salaries/ Social Salaries/ Social 
wages and security wages and security

remuneration costs remuneration costs

Parent Company 523 257 34 22
(of which, pension costs) – 50 1) – 3
Subsidiaries 115 33 519 250
(of which, pension costs) – 2 – 37

Total Group 638 290 553 272

(of which, pension costs) – 52 2) – 40

1) Of the Parent Company’s pension costs, MSEK 2.2 (1.3) pertains to the Board of
Directors and President.The company’s outstanding pension commitments to these
individuals amounts to MSEK 16.4 (15.5).

2) Of the Group’s pension costs, MSEK 2.7 (3.8) pertains to the Board of Directors
and President.The company’s outstanding pension commitments to these individuals
amounts to MSEK 25.6 (35.1).
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Cont’d Note 43 – Salaries and other remuneration by country and
distribution between the Board and President
and other employees

2000 1999
Board and Other Board and Other
President employees President employees

Parent Company
Sweden 7 516 4 30
(of which, bonuses, etc.) 2 20 1 2
Subsidiaries
Sweden 1 41 5 453
(of which, bonuses, etc.) – – 1 9
Belgium 2 2 1 1
(of which, bonuses, etc.) 1 0 – – 
Denmark 1 1 1 –
Norway 2 63 1 55
(of which, bonuses, etc.) 0 2 – – 
Portugal – 2 0 2

Total subsidiaries 6 109 8 511
(of which, bonuses, etc.) 1 2 1 9

Total Group 13 625 12 541
(of which, bonuses, etc.) 3 22 2 11

Salaries and benefits of senior executives reported according to the
recommendation of Näringslivets Börskommittée (NBK).

Chairman of the Board:
The Chairman of the Board received salary and other benefits amounting to a total of
SEK 200,000 (200,000). Other board members not employed by the company
received total fees of SEK 400,000 (325,000).

President & CEO:
In 2000, salary and other benefits were paid in a total amount of SEK 4,055,000
(3,669,000), including bonuses of SEK 960,000 (800,000).The President is entitled to
retire at the age of 60 with pension in an amount corresponding to 70 per cent of
salary until the age of 65.The period of notice is 12 months in the event of termina-
tion by the company and 6 months in the event of termination by the President. If no
other employment has been secured by the end of the notice period, severance pay
shall be awarded in an amount corresponding to one year’s salary.

Other senior executives:
A few of the senior executives are entitled to retire at the age of 60 with pension in
an amount corresponding to 70 per cent of salary until the age of 65.The period of
notice is 24 months in the event of termination by the company and 12 months in the
event of termination by the employee.

Note 44 – Items with no effect on cash flow

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Gains on the sale of properties -535 -330 -579 -155
Gains on other sales -44 -1 -30 -4
Change in pension liability 22 15 22 -1
Other provisions, etc. -16 -33 -72 -20

-573 -349 -659 -180

Note 45 – Investments in development properties

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Investments in development 
properties -1,469 -819 -590 -75
Acquisition of participations in
tenant-owner cooperatives -66 -57 -56 –
Financing via short-term 
promissory notes – 131 – –

Effect on liquid assets -1,535 -745 -646 -75

Note 46 – Reversal of development properties, tenant-owner
cooperatives

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Reversal of development 
properties to production 690 337 558 –
Sale of development properties 200 – 33 –
Sale of participations in 
tenant-owner cooperatives 61 42 61 –

Effect on liquid assets 951 379 652 –

Note 47 – Investments in management properties

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Investments in management 
properties -1,038 -1,319 -557 -639
Investments in operating 
properties -5 -35 – -326
Adjustment for capitalized interest 41 20 – –
Financing via short-term 
promissory notes – 235 – 235

Effect on liquid assets -1,002 -1,099 -557 -730

Note 48 – Sale of management properties

Group Parent Company
2000 1999 2000 1999

Sale of properties 2,010 1,712 1,826 396
Receivables -32 -47 -32 –

Effect on liquid assets 1,978 1,665 1,794 396

Note 49 – Fusioned companies

2000
Assets
Tangible fixed assets 82
Financial fixed assets 228
Buildings and land 23
Development properties, etc. 1,665
Receivables from group companies 300
Other current receivables 697
Liquid assets taken over 106

3,101

Liabilities
Provisions 246
Long-term liabilities 228
Liabilities to group companies 671
Progress billings in excess of recognized income 142
Current liabilities 970
Change in shareholders’ equity due to fusions 574
Untaxed reserves taken over 270

3,101

At the beginning of the financial year, JM Byggnads AB was fusioned with JM AB. During
the year, another nine companies were fusioned with the Parent Company. Profit in
the group companies prior to the fusion date is negligible.The opening balance of
fusioned assets and liabilities is shown above.The liquid assets of MSEK 106 that were
taken over is the only amount from the fusioned companies that is reported in the
Parent Company’s cash flow.
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The Group’s unrestricted shareholders’ equity amounts to MSEK 2,009. No
transfer to restricted reserves is required. 

The Board of Directors and the President propose that the Parent Company’s
reported profit for the year of SEK 667,404,246 and profit carried forward of
SEK 988,013,186, a total of SEK 1,655,417,432, be distributed to the sharehold-
ers as a dividend of SEK 10 per share SEK 1,332,410,000
carried forward to new account SEK 1,323,007,432

SEK 1,655,417,432

Proposed disposition of earnings

stockholm, 20 february 2001

Per Westlund
Chairman

Monica Lindstedt Anders Nyrén Per Olofsson

Bertil Tiusanen Leif Lundell Lennart Nordlinder

Carl Eric Stålberg
President & CEO
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to the annual
general meeting of jm ab (publ)
company reg. no. 556045-2103

We have examined the annual report,
the consolidated financial statements,
the accounting records and the adminis-
tration by the Board of Directors and the
President of JM AB (publ) for the year
2000. These accounts and the adminis-
tration of the Company are the responsi-
bility of the Board of Directors and the
President. Our responsibility is to ex-
press an opinion on the annual report, the
consolidated financial statements and
the administration based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accord-
ance with generally accepted accounting
standards in Sweden. These standards
require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance
that the annual report and the consoli-
dated financial statements are free of

material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence sup-
porting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting princi-
ples used and their application by the
Board of Directors and the President, as
well as evaluating the overall presenta-
tion of information in the annual report
and consolidated financial statements.
We have examined significant decisions,
actions taken and circumstances of the
Company in order to determine the pos-
sible liability, if any, to the Company of
any Board member or the President or
whether they have in some other way
acted in contravention of the Swedish
Companies Act, the Swedish Annual
Accounts Act or the Articles of Associ-
ation. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion set
out below.

In our opinion, the annual report and
the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with
the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and
thereby provide accurate picture of the
profit and position of the Company and
the Group in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards in Sweden.

We recommend to the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting that the income statement
and the balance sheet of the Parent Com-
pany and the Group be adopted, that the
unappropriated earnings of the Parent
Company be dealt with in accordance
with the proposal in the Board of Direc-
tors’ Report and that the members of the
Board of Directors and the President of
both the Parent company and of the
group companies fusioned during the
year according to Note 17 of the annual
report be discharged from liability for
the financial year.

Auditors’ report

stockholm, 20 february 2001

öhrlings pricewaterhousecoopers ab

Bertil Johanson Ulf Westerberg
Authorized Public Accountant Authorized Public Accountant

JM AB  Annual Report 2000
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The following conditions apply to the
schedule of real estate: All commercial
rents are index-linked and the correla-
tion with CPI is between 75 and 100 per
cent. In the column for “breakdown of
rental revenue”, the approximate values
are stated since certain leases include
several different types of space. In the
“term of lease” column, residential leases

are included in the percentage for 2001.
The average operating expense is SEK

190/sq.m. for properties with office
space and SEK 240/sq.m. of rentable
space for predominantly residential
properties. Operating expenses do not
include costs for central administration
or tenant modifications. The discrep-
ancy relative to the income statement is

attributable to properties sold and ac-
quired during the year.

The selection of development proper-
ties has been made based on the size of
the projects and the time aspect – all
have been started or will be started in
the next few years.

The JM Group’s management properties and a
selection of development properties per 31 December 2000

MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES, FULLY DEVELOPED

No. Area Property Age Tax assess./ Total Rentable space, Revenue 2000 Rental revenue, Term of lease Possible rental Major tenants
Site lease rentable breakdown breakdown revenue

Municipality Year built/ rent 2000 space Hotel Residential Rental revenue Hotel/Office 2001 Fully rented 2001
Address renovated Tax ass. value Office Other Interest Retail 2002 Of which, leased
Description Site lease rent Retail Garage subsidies Residential 2003

Other/Garage >=2004
MSEK/TSEK Sq.m. Sq.m. Sq.m. MSEK % % MSEK

1 A Boken 13 1988 72.8 3,323 0 0 7.8 86% 36% 9.2 Invest in Sweden

Stockholm 2,538 28 13% 51% 7.9 MISTRA

Gamla Brogatan 36 382 375 0% 13% Swe Rail Italia

Office 1% 0% TC Development

2 A Boken 16 1884 93.6 4,058 1,421 0 9.0 69% 53% 11.6 Turistdelegationen

Stockholm 1978 1,428 484 31% 19% 9.5 Lundqvist Inredn.

Vasagatan 42, 44 1999 725 0 0% 27% Adlon Hotell

Office, retail 0% 0%

3 A Glaucus 4 and 5 1647 22.7 2,417 0 0 3.8 91% 9% 4.6 march FIRST

Stockholm 2000 1,652 556 6% 10% 4.6 Börsinsikt

Skeppsbron 32 209 0 0% 50%

Office 3% 31%

4 A Göta Ark 1984 215.3 20,123 0 0 32.6 89% 9% 40.5 Frango

Stockholm 2,691 17,078 889 5% 36% 40.5 SLL

Medborgarpl. 25 681 1,475 0% 39% Stockholms Stad

Office 6% 17% Lif Service AB

5 A Kräftan 5 1997 75.7 7,403 0 5,578 8.7 0% 100% 9.9 74 residential units

Stockholm 276 0 0 0% 0% 9.9

Olof Dalins v. 16–20 0 1,825 90% 0%

Residential 10% 0%
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No. Area Property Age Tax assess./ Total Rentable space, Revenue 2000 Rental revenue, Term of lease Possible rental Major tenants
Site lease rentable breakdown breakdown revenue

Municipality Year built/ rent 2000 space Hotel Residential Rental revenue Hotel/Office 2001 Fully rented 2001
Address renovated Tax ass. value Office Other Interest Retail 2002 Of which, leased
Description Site lease rent Retail Garage subsidies Residential 2003

Other/Garage >=2004
MSEK/TSEK Sq.m. Sq.m. Sq.m. MSEK % % MSEK

6 A Lagern 12 1987 159.1 6,688 0 0 16.3 95% 1% 16.7 Swedish Insurance

Stockholm 5,713 75 0% 42% 16.2 Federation

Klara N. Kyrkog. 31 0 900 0% 57% Knowledge Found.

Office 5% 0% Akadem. Erkända 

Arbetslöshetskassa

7 A Lagern 13 1890 41.6 1,997 0 0 4.5 100% 100% 7.5 Economic

Stockholm 1987 1,787 210 0% 0% 3.6 Crimes Authority

Olof Palmes g. 23 0 0 0% 0%

Office 0% 0%

8 A Läraren 4 1904 49.1 4,240 0 451 6.1 72% 6% 6.1 Know It

Stockholm 1975 2,483 37 19% 74% 6.0 FIAB

Torsgatan 2 1997 1,269 0 8% 0%

Office 1% 19%

9 A Paradiset 23 1970 108.1 15,162 0 0 14.7 82% 12% 16.5 Adena Pickos

Stockholm 8,212 3,480 4% 47% 15.7 Birka

Nordenflychtsv. 66 620 2,850 0% 18% Pharmacia

Office, warehouse 14% 22% Electrolux

10 A Pilen 30 1988 175.8 6,363 3,003 0 19.5 92% 11% 21.5 Freys Hotell

Stockholm 3,184 2,683 66 6% 13% 20.6 Sigma

Vasagatan 36 361 250 0% 75% C Technologies

Hotel, retail 2% 1% Eurofutures

11 A Spelbomskan 14 1950 0.0 2,400 0 0 2.1 100% 0% 2.4 Stift. Docendo 

Stockholm 2,400 0 0% 100% 2.4 Discimus

Sandåsgatan 2 0 0 0% 0%

School 0% 0%

12 B Bulten 7 1992 6.3 1,839 0 0 1.6 78% 58% 2.0 Datagrossisten i 

Danderyd 992 847 0% 15% 1.6 Danderyd

Rinkebyvägen 11 0 0 0% 27%

Office, warehouse 22% 0%

13 B Sofieberg 6 1991 26.5 3,219 0 3,219 3.3 0% 100% 3.3 42 residential units

Danderyd 0 0 0% 0% 3.3

Berga Backe 6–14 0 0 100% 0%

Residential 0% 0%

14 B Svärdet 8, etc. 1983–88 490.3 55,933 0 0 84.0 91% 41% 86.3 Acando, Sign On

Danderyd 35,338 3,870 1% 27% 86.3 Medea 

Svärdvägen 0 16,725 0% 15% Cornerstone

Office 9% 16% Netwise

15 B Svärdet 7 1985 12.9 1,350 1,350 0 1.3 100% 0% 1.2 Danderyds Gästeri

Danderyd 0 0 0% 0% 1.2

Svärdvägen 31 0 0 0% 100%

Restaurant, hotel 0% 0%

16 B Jakobsberg 2:2719 2000 0.0 4,341 0 1,761 5.4 0% 0% 5.4 Municipality of

Järfälla 0 2,580 0.8 0% 0% 5.4 Järfälla

Vibblabyvägen 97–99 0 0 100% 0%

Senior housing 0% 100%

17 B Breviks Gård 2, etc. 1991 34.0 3,917 0 2,238 4.2 0% 3% 4.3 City of Lidingö 

Lidingö 0 0 0.1 45% 0% 4.3 D-Fastigheter

S. Kungsvägen 240 1,429 250 48% 47% 28 residential units

Residential, retail 7% 50%

18 B Fjällräven 1 1963 0.0 6,861 0 2,561 7.0 100% 0% 7.0 SSSB

Lidingö 1998 4,300 0 0% 0% 7.0 Fjällrävens School

Vesslevägen 3–7 0 0 0% 0%

Private school 0% 100%

19 B Oden 20, 21, 22 1993–96 267.4 24,047 0 6,666 36.8 11% 28% 37.9 Pharmacy, H&M,

Lidingö 180 3,049 1,349 1.1 64% 31% 37.2 Lindex, Handels-

Lidingö C 11,008 1,975 22% 4% banken, SEB,Vivo,

Retail, residential 3% 35% SF Bio, Library

83 residential units

20 B Äpplet 1–5 1992 51.0 5,806 0 5,797 6.2 0% 99% 6.2 74 residential units

Lidingö 0 9 0% 1% 6.2

S. Kungsv. 228–330, etc. 0 0 100% 0%

Residential 0% 0%
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No. Area Property Age Tax assess./ Total Rentable space, Revenue 2000 Rental revenue, Term of lease Possible rental Major tenants
Site lease rentable breakdown breakdown revenue

Municipality Year built/ rent 2000 space Hotel Residential Rental revenue Hotel/Office 2001 Fully rented 2001
Address renovated Tax ass. value Office Other Interest Retail 2002 Of which, leased
Description Site lease rent Retail Garage subsidies Residential 2003

Other/Garage >=2004
MSEK/TSEK Sq.m. Sq.m. Sq.m. MSEK % % MSEK

21 B Sigtuna 2:161 1990 0.0 247 0 0 0.7 0% 100% 0.7 Municipality of

Sigtuna 0 247 0% 0% 0.2 Sigtuna

Väringavägen 57 0 0 0% 0%

Daycare centre 100% 0%

22 B Sigtuna 2:164 1992 0.0 769 0 520 1.3 24% 76% 1.3 Municipality of

Sigtuna 204 45 0% 24% 1.3 Sigtuna

Rektor Cullbergs v. 9 0 0 76% 0%

Senior housing 0% 0%

23 B Sigtuna 2:167 1990 4.1 775 775 0 0.9 100% 0% 0.9 Kristina Konferens

Sigtuna 0 0 0% 0% 0.9 & Hotell

Rektor Cullbergs v. 3 0 0 0% 0%

Hotel & conference 0% 100%

24 B Sigtuna 2:169 1990 0.0 702 0 0 0.7 0% 100% 0.7 Parents association

Sigtuna 0 702 0% 0% 0.2 Harberget  

Rektor Cullbergs v. 8 0 0 0% 0% preschool

School building 100% 0%

25 B Sigtuna 2:170 1990/91 9.6 1,866 1,866 0 2.1 100% 0% 2.2 Kristina Konferens 

Sigtuna 0 0 0% 0% 2.2 & Hotell

Rektor Cullbergs v. 1 0 0 0% 0%

Hotel & conference 0% 100%

26 B Sigtuna 2:171 1993 0.0 1,355 0 0 1.3 0% 0% 1.3 Stockholm County

Sigtuna 1,013 342 0% 0% 1.3 Council

Väringavägen 11 0 0 0% 0%

Healthcare building 100% 100%

27 B Centrum 13 1986 49 5,166 0 0 6.8 67% 26% 7.6 Baan Nordic

Sollentuna 3,502 254 30% 31% 6.8 PriceWaterhouse

Aniaraplatsen 4–6 860 550 0% 19% Coopers

Office, retail 3% 24%

28 B Ekplantan 2 1988 19.2 4,396 0 0 3.7 99% 0% 3.8 Snickers Original

Sollentuna 2,548 1,848 0% 99% 3.7

Djupdalsv. 13–15 0 0 0% 0%

Office, warehouse 1% 1%

29 B Nattvakten 3, etc. 1985–89 74.8 13,916 0 0 13.2 94% 10% 14.3 Projektgaranti

Sollentuna 717 11,991 1,925 3% 26% 12.0 Swerock

Sjöängsvägen 0 0 0% 33% Eldean

Office, warehouse 4% 13%

30 B Reglaget 1 1987–90 16.6 3,292 0 0 2.7 17% 28% 2.7 Hydraulprodukter

Sollentuna 1,212 530 78% 0% 2.4 Endress & Hauser

Bergkällavägen 24 1,550 0 0% 13%

Office, warehouse 4% 59%

31 B Ritmallen 1 1990 25.6 4,655 0 0 4.2 63% 32% 4.3 Healthcare center

Sollentuna 2,942 711 35% 25% 3.6 Pharmacy

Kung Hans väg 4–12 1,002 0 0% 16% Fujitsu Nordic

Office, retail 2% 23%

32 B Träkolet 16 1982 70.9 13,943 0 0 12.0 96% 14% 14.6 Primecorde

Sollentuna 1988 11,588 630 0.0 0% 42% 13.6 Cramo

Turebergsv. 3–7, 11 0 1,725 0% 18%

Office 4% 17%

33 B Hilton 1 (part of) 1999 236.1 28,502 0 0 30.3 94% 59% 36.1 JM AB

Solna 17,587 1,490 0% 0% 36.1 Sigma

Telegrafgatan 4 0 9,425 0% 10%

Office 6% 31%

34 B Skogskarlen 1 1971 96.4 12,140 0 0 14.6 100% 0% 14.7 Assi Domän

Solna 12,140 0 0% 0% 14.7

Pipers väg 2 0 0 0% 0%

Office, warehouse 0% 100%

35 B Gunnebo 15 1992 27.7 4,135 0 0 3.7 100% 0% 3.8 Sony

Stockholm 4,135 0 0% 0% 3.8

Salagatan 42–44 0 0 0% 100%

Office 0% 0%
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No. Area Property Age Tax assess./ Total Rentable space, Revenue 2000 Rental revenue, Term of lease Possible rental Major tenants
Site lease rentable breakdown breakdown revenue

Municipality Year built/ rent 2000 space Hotel Residential Rental revenue Hotel/Office 2001 Fully rented 2001
Address renovated Tax ass. value Office Other Interest Retail 2002 Of which, leased
Description Site lease rent Retail Garage subsidies Residential 2003

Other/Garage >=2004
MSEK/TSEK Sq.m. Sq.m. Sq.m. MSEK % % MSEK

36 B Holar 1 1982 57.8 5,626 0 0 8.2 100% 0% 8.2 ÅF-Industriteknik

Stockholm 190 5,606 20 0% 0% 8.2

Skalholtsgatan 2 0 0 0% 0%

Office 0% 100%

37 B Knarrarnäs 7 1984 72.2 5,517 5,517 0 12.8 100% 0% 13.4 Mr Chip Hotel

Stockholm 337 0 0 0% 0% 13.4

Färögatan 9 0 0 0% 0%

Hotel 0% 100%

38 B Norrmalm 5:1,part of 1992 6.3 2,125 0 0 1.6 0% 0% 1.8 Italian automobiles

Stockholm 528 0 0 93% 6% 1.8

Björnäsvägen 2 2,125 0 0% 94%

Auto showroom, workshop 7% 0%

39 B Muraren 2 1946 1.4 1,569 0 1,254 1.4 0% 67% 1.4 Synsam

Sundbyberg 0 0 34% 0% 1.4 20 residential units

Sturegatan 31 315 0 65% 0%

Residential, retail 1% 32%

40 B Degeln 2 1983 63.9 12,964 0 0 11.8 95% 19% 12.6 Medilab

Täby 1987 12,158 806 0% 7% 10.1 Neles

Nytorpsvägen 2–34 0 0 0% 67% Nexus

Office, warehouse 5% 7% Cavena

41 B Fuxen 3 1978 16.5 4,412 0 0 4.1 78% 0% 4.1 ABB Tekniska 

Täby 1984 3,067 1,345 0% 0% 4.1 Röntgencentralen

Kemistvägen 5 0 0 0% 0%

Office, x-ray lab 22% 100%

42 B Stansen 1 1962 16.5 5,322 0 0 1.6 100% 0% 3.5 Deluxe

Täby 1995 1,980 3,342 0% 0% 2.4

Maskinvägen 1–3 0 0 0% 100%

Office 0% 0%

43 B Husby 4:25, etc. 1988 27.5 6,282 0 0 5.5 100% 5% 5.9 Armada Fastighet

Österåker 1992 6,143 139 0% 62% 5.2 Maxitech

Företagsallén 0 0 0% 5% RK Konsult

Office, warehouse 0% 19% SENEA

44 C Sicklaön 37:13 1967 12.5 2,669 0 0 2.7 100% 0% 2.7 Point

Nacka 2,669 0 0% 0% 2.7

Finnbodavägen 13 0 0 0% 100%

Office 0% 0%

45 C Sicklaön 37:9 1670 9.6 2,019 0 1,811 1.3 0% 95% 1.3 27 residential units

Nacka 1970 0 208 0% 5% 1.3 2 studios

Finnbodavägen 9A–D 0 0 95% 0%

Residential, etc. 5% 0%

46 C Rosteriet 5 1956 21.6 3,261 0 0 1.8 100% 32% 3.6 Carl Hansson Rör

Stockholm 140 3,194 67 0% 0% 1.8

Lövholmsvägen 9 0 0 0% 12%

Office, industrial 0% 55%

47 C Sjöstöveln 1 1977 0.0 12,302 0 7,442 12.7 0% 0% 12.7 Älvsjö SDN

Stockholm 1997 0 4,642 0% 0% 12.7

Folkparksvägen 148 41 177 90% 8%

Senior housing/Healthcare 10% 92%

48 C Isbrytaren 1 1976 20.0 17,650 0 0 6.8 0% 0% 6.4 Astra Zeneca

Södertälje 0 17,650 0% 55% 6.4 Kungsholms 

Framnäsvägen 0 0 0% 0% Express

Warehouse 100% 43% Scania

49 C Kryssaren 8 1976 29.8 28,953 0 0 7.4 16% 21% 8.3 Go Kart Center

Södertälje 2,100 26,753 0% 40% 6.3 Boat Marin

Hansavägen 5–9 0 100 0% 9% Plåtbyggarna

Warehouse 84% 22% JO Andersson

50 C Sågverket 1 and 2 1985 0.0 8,113 0 0 3.3 25% 0% 7.8 Municipality of 

Södertälje 1989 2,035 6,078 0% 0% 7.7 Södertälje 

Korpuddsvägen 0 0 0% 25% Stockholm County

School, office 75% 75% Council
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No. Area Property Age Tax assess./ Total Rentable space, Revenue 2000 Rental revenue, Term of lease Possible rental Major tenants
Site lease rentable breakdown breakdown revenue

Municipality Year built/ rent 2000 space Hotel Residential Rental revenue Hotel/Office 2001 Fully rented 2001
Address renovated Tax ass. value Office Other Interest Retail 2002 Of which, leased
Description Site lease rent Retail Garage subsidies Residential 2003

Other/Garage >=2004
MSEK/TSEK Sq.m. Sq.m. Sq.m. MSEK % % MSEK

51 D Östra Leran 1990 17.4 6,174 0 4,949 3.6 0% 100% 3.6 51 residential units

Borlänge 0 0 0% 0% 3.6

Siljansvägen 16, etc. 0 1,225 100% 0%

Residential 0% 0%

52 D Valhalla 2:21 1980 849.0 712 0 0 0.5 100% 0% 0.5 Gunnarssons 

Eskilstuna 303 409 0% 0% 0.5 Måleri

Fraktgatan 7 0 0 0% 100%

Office, warehouse 0% 0%

53 D Generalen 7 1946 3.2 4,707 0 0 1.9 75% 46% 2.3 Municipality of 

Linköping 1991 2,314 2,393 0% 25% 0.7 Linköping

Generalsgatan 4 0 0 0% 8% JM AB

Office, industrial 25% 0%

54 D Östermalm 6:16 1992 41.4 6,490 0 0 7.5 100% 0% 6.9 National Road

Luleå 6,265 0 0% 0% 6.9 Administration

Terminalgatan 2–4 0 225 0% 0%

Office 0% 100%

55 D Kapellet 2 1980 0.0 728 0 0 0.5 0% 0% 0.5 Europaskolan

Strängnäs 0 728 0% 0% 0.5

Storgatan 2 0 0 0% 100%

Office 100% 0%

56 D Dragarbrunn 9:4 2000 0.0 4,020 0 4,020 1.4 0% 0% 4.7 Municipality of 

Uppsala 0 0 0% 0% 4.7 Uppsala 

Kungsgatan 18, etc. 0 0 0% 0%

Office 100% 100%

57 D Fjärdingen 28:4 1984 0.0 9,351 0 0 8.8 70% 12% 9.2 SF bio

Uppsala 5,825 1,971 0% 9% 8.8 Sveriges radio/ 

V. Ågatan 16 0 1,555 0% 21% Radio Uppland

Office 30% 55%

58 D Fjärdingen 35:1 1983 8.3 1,619 0 0 2.6 0% 57% 2.6 Svenssons Grill 

Uppsala 18 1,094 96% 0% 2.6 and Orient

S:t Eriks Torg 507 0 0% 22%

Market hall 4% 21%

59 D Kvarngärdet 14:5 2000 0.0 3,585 0 3,585 1.0 0% 0% 4.3 Municipality of 

Uppsala 0 0 0.0 0% 0% 4.3 Uppsala 

Torkelsgatan 42 0 0 0% 0%

Office 100% 100%

60 D Kvarngärdet 62:2 1988 0.0 1,482 0 0 1.0 98% 51% 1.4 Uppsala County

Uppsala 1,482 0 0% 16% 1.0 Council

Portalgatan 4 B 0 0 0% 18%

Office 2% 0%

61 D Sävja 56:1 1992 0.0 3,176 0 0 4.5 94% 1% 4.5 Uppsala County

Uppsala 3,017 0 4% 5% 4.5 Council

Västgötaresan 64 159 0 0% 0% Municipality of 

Healthcare center, office 1% 94% Uppsala 

62 D Årsta 78:1 1982 12.9 2,922 0 0 1.3 100% 62% 2.6 JM AB

Uppsala 2000 2,922 0 0% 38% 2.0

Sylveniusgatan 2 0 0 0% 0%

Office 0% 0%

63 D Vedbo 60 1977 0.0 10,800 0 10,800 9.9 0% 0% 9.9 Municipality of 

Västerås 1999 0 0 5.9 0% 0% 9.9 Västerås 

Hörntorpsvägen 20 0 0 100% 0%

Senior housing/Healthcare 0% 100%

64 D Campo Grande 380 2000 5.3 2,804 0 0 0.6 100% 0% 6.4 SAS Institute

Lisbon, Portugal 2,804 0 0% 0% 4.8

0 0 0% 0%

Office 0% 75%

Total 3,825.0 454,700 13,932 62,652 501.3 59% 26% 562.2

1,858 222,417 90,849 8.0 9% 16% 532.4

23,243 41,607 16% 22%

17% 36%
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MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES, UNDER CONSTRUCTION

No. Area Property Scheduled occupancy Total rentable space Rentable space, breakdown Possible rental rev. Major tenants
Municipality Hotel Residential Fully rented 2001
Address Office Other Of which, leased
Description Retail Garage

Sq.m. Sq.m. Sq.m. MSEK

80 A Barnhuset 6 Q2 2001 2,827 0 790 6.6 Nord Pool

Stockholm 1,877 160 5.1 Augur

Barnhusg. 4 0 0 Stroede

Office, retail

81 A Barnängen 4 Q2 2002 15,750 0 0 Vacant during

Stockholm 13,600 0 renovation

Barnängsg. 21 400 1,750

Office, printing works

82 A Kortbyrån 17 Q1 2001 24,434 6,330 0 73.2 Swedish Industrial 

Stockholm 11,580 2,060 60.1 Dev. Fund, Nordic 

Vasagatan 11 1,014 3,450 Hotel, IBM,Third 

Office, hotel National Pension Fund

83 A Pennfäktaren 10 Q1 2001 14,164 13,089 0 36.0 Nordic Hotel

Stockholm 0 0 36.0

Vasaplan 125 950

Hotel

84 B Sigtuna 2:227 Q2 2001 1,629 0 0 2.8 Parent association 

Sigtuna 0 1,629 2.8 Harberget preschool

Skolbacken 61 0 0

Preschool

85 B Hilton Hus 4 Q3 2001 13,350 0 0 20.4 Agresso

Solna 9,100 0 10.1

Telegrafgatan 0 4,250

Office

86 D Kvarngärdet 33:1 Q1 2001 2,500 0 0 4.0 Systeam AB

Uppsala 2,500 0 4.0

S:t Persgatan 23, etc. 0 0

Office

87 D Rickomberga 9:14 Q1 2001 3,200 0 3,200 4.6 Municipality of Uppsala 

Geijersgatan 61 0 0 4.6

Uppsala 0 0

Senior housing

Total 77,854 19,419 3,990 147.6

38,657 3,849 122.7

1,539 10,400
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MANAGEMENT PROPERTIES, FOR FURTHER DEVELOPMENT

No. Area Property Age Site lease Total rent- Rentable space, Rental revenue Rental revenue, Planned Planned Planning Develop-
rent 2000 able space breakdown 2000 breakdown use use process ment

Municipality Year built/ Hotel Residential Hotel/Office Description period
Address renovated Office Other Retail
Description Retail Garage Residential

Other/Garage No. of apts/
TSEK Sq.m. Sq.m. Sq.m. MSEK % BTA sq.m.

90 A Adam&Eva 16 1963 2,175 23,858 0 0 26.3 20% Extension, approx. Detail plan 2000–2003

Stockholm 1,748 65 49% office 11,000 sq.m.

Drottningg. 56–58, etc. 6,175 15,870 0%

Office, retail, park 31%

91 A Beridarebanan 13 1962 1,250 6,654 0 0 13.1 5% Extension, around Detail plan 2000–2003

Stockholm 278 287 82% residential 30 apts.

Sergelg. 11–15, etc. 3,660 2,429 0%

Office, retail, park 13%

92 B Viksjö 6:370 around 1960 850 0 387 0.9 0% Residential around 8–10 General plan 2003–2004

Järfälla 0 463 0% construction detached 

Skulpturvägen 1 0 0 100% homes

Senior housing 0%

93 C Sicklaön 260:1 1959 17,321 0 0 13.0 94% Office approx. Detail plan 2003–2005

Nacka 1976 14,823 2,498 3% 10,000 sq.m.

Sickla Allé 5 0 0 0%

Office 4%

94 D Annedal 4 1970 840 0 0 0.4 0% Office approx. Detail plan 2004–2005

Lund 0 100 100% 2,000 sq.m.

Annedalsvägen 8 740 0 0%

Retail 0%

95 D Töebacken 7 1952 4,264 0 0 4.0 90% Office approx. Detail plan 2002–2003

Lund 1978 2,886 487 10% 4,500 sq.m.

Åldermansg. 13, etc. 891 0 0%

Office, retail 0%

Total 3,425 53,787 0 387 57.7 35%

19,735 3,900 41%

11,466 18,299 17%

8%
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A SELECTION OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

No. Country Property/project Planned Planned Development Present rent- Rental Planning process
use use period able space revenue 2000

Municipality Planning stage
Location

No. of apts/BTA sq.m. Sq.m. MSEK Production

100 Sweden Kojan Residential 450 apts 2002–2005 0 0 Detail plan

Stockholm Revised detail plan 2001

Kungsholms Strand Production start 2002

101 Sweden Årsta/Liljeholmskajen Residential 2,200 apts 2001–2007 138,200 31.6 General plan

Stockholm Detail plan 2001

Årstadal Production start Q2 2001

102 Sweden Långbro Residential 650 apts 2000–2007 45,000 25.0 General plan

Stockholm Detail plan 2001

Älvsjö Production start Q4 2001

103 Sweden Essinge Udde Residential 600 apts 2000–2005 0 0.0 General plan

Stockholm Detail plan 2001

Lilla Essingen Production start Q3 2001

104 Sweden Hammarby Sjöstad Residential 400 apts 2000–2003 0 0.0 Detail plan

Stockholm

Södermalm Under construction

105 Sweden Östbergahöjden Residential 200 apts 2000–2002 0 0.0 Detail plan

Stockholm

Årsta Under construction

106 Sweden Vallgossen Residential 125 apts 2000–2002 0 0.0 Detail plan

Stockholm

Kungsholmen Under construction

107 Sweden Lustgården* Office/residential 26,500 sq.m. 2001–2004 0 0.0 General plan

Stockholm 100 apts Detail plan 2002

Lindhagens gata

108 Sweden Karet* Office/residential 12,000 sq.m. 2001–2002 0 0.0 General plan

Stockholm 90 apts Detail plan 2001

Liljeholmstorget

109 Sweden Frösunda* Residential 650 apts 2001–2006 0 0.0 General plan

Solna Detail plan 2001

Frösundavik Production start Q3 2001

110 Sweden Norra Frösunda* Office 44,000 sq.m. 2002–2005 0 0.0 General plan

Solna Detail plan 2001

Frösundavik

111 Sweden Skogskarlen, part of Office 13,800 sq.m. 2001–2002 0 0.0 Detail plan

Solna

Pipers väg Production start Q1 2001

112 Sweden Signalen Office 12,000 sq.m. 2001–2002 0 0.0 Detail plan

Solna Revised detail plan 2001

Kolonnvägen

113 Sweden Silverdal, phase 1 Office approx. 26,000 sq.m. 2001–2003 0 0.0 Detail plan

Sollentuna 190 apts

Sollentunavägen Production start Q3 2001

114 Sweden Silverdal, phase 2* Office approx. 24,000 sq.m. 2004–2005 0 0.0 General plan

Sollentuna Detail plan 2002

Sollentunavägen

115 Sweden Bolinders Strand Residential 600 apts 2001–2007 30,000 11.5 General plan

Järfälla Detail plan 2001

Fabriksvägen Production start Q3 2001

116 Sweden Daggkåpan Residential 230 apts 2000–2002 0 0.0 Detail plan

Nacka

Järlasjön Under construction

117 Sweden Hagbyhöjden Residential 250 apts 2000–2005 0 0.0 Detail plan

Österåker

Åkersberga Under construction

118 Sweden Bällstaberg Residential 500 apts 2001–2008 0 0.0 Detail plan

Vallentuna 

Bällstabergsvägen Under construction

119 Sweden Kungsängen Residential 300 apts 2002–2008 22,000 0.0 Detail plan Q1 2002

Uppsala

Central Production start 2002
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No. Country Property/project Planned Planned Development Present rent- Rental Planning process
use use period able space revenue 2000

Municipality Planning stage
Location

No. of apts/BTA sq.m. Sq.m. MSEK Production

120 Sweden Rickomberga Residential 200 apts 2001–2008 1,093 1.5 Detail plan

Uppsala

Central

121 Sweden Kviberg Residential 375 apts 2002–2010 0 0.0 Detail plan

Gothenburg

By Säveån

122 Sweden Sannegården Residential 125 apts 2001–2003 0 0.0 Detail plan spring 2001

Gothenburg

Eriksberg, N. älvstranden Production start 2001

123 Sweden Masthugget Residential 85 apts 2001–2003 0 0.0 Detail plan spring 2001

Gothenburg

Central, Linnéstaden Production start 2001

124 Sweden Kranen* Residential 400 apts 2002–2006 0 0.0 General plan

Malmö Detail plan Q4 2001

Western harbour Production start 2002/03

125 Sweden Lomma Residential 700 apts 2003–2008 approx. 33,000 3.0 General plan

Lomma  Detail plan Q4 2002

Lomma harbour Production start 2003

126 Sweden Sandbäcken Residential/office 200 apts 2001–2005 approx. 10,000 5.0 General plan

Karlstad Detail plan Q1 2001

Central Office under constr./residential 2002

127 Sweden Elefanten & Ekorren Residential 180 apts 2001–2004 4,800 1.9 Detail plan

Linköping

Central Production start 2001

128 Sweden Parklyckan Residential 170 apts 2000–2004 0 0.0 Detail plan

Örebro

Adolfsberg Production start 2001

129 Sweden Jokern Residential 110 apts 2001–2003 0 0.0 Detail plan

Halmstad

Central by Nissan Production start 2001

130 Norway Grefsen statsjon* Residential 700 apts 2001–2008 0 0.0 Control plan 2001–2003

Oslo

Central/northern Oslo Production start 2004

131 Norway Rolvsrud skog Residential 450 apts 2001–2005 0 0.0 Control plan

Lørenskog

Central Production start 2001

132 Norway Kjørbokollen Residential 320 apts 2001–2004 0 0.0 Control plan

Bærum

Central Sandvika Production start Q4 2001

133 Norway Hovenga Residential 210 apts 2001–2005 0 0.0 Control plan

Porsgrunn

Central Production start 2001

134 Norway Trulsrudmarka Residential 200 apts 2001–2005 0 0.0 Control plan

Bærum

Close to nature Production start 2001

135 Belgium R.Theodore De Cuyper Residential 120 apts 2001–2003 0 0.0

Woluwe-St-Lambert

Central Production start Q1 2001

136 Belgium Avenue des Arts 21 Office Office 2001–2003 5,000 0.0

Brussels

Central Production start 2001

137 Denmark Amsterdamhusene Residential 55 apts 2001–2001 0 0.0 Control plan

Fredrikssund Sales in progress

Central by harbour Under construction

138 Denmark Havnestad Residential 520 apts 2001–2006 0 0.0 Control plan

Copenhagen Sales Q2 2001

By harbour Production start 2001

139 Denmark Trekronor Residential 80 apts 2001–2003 0 0.0 Control plan

Roskilde Sales Q2 2003

By S-train station Production start Q3 2001

140 Denmark Greve Midtby* Residential 90 apts 2001–2004 0 0.0 Control plan

Greve  Sales Q3 2001

Central Production start Q4 2001

* Refers to properties where JM has not yet taken over possession.
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Per Westlund,born 1944,
M.Sc.Eng. and M.B.A.
Vice President of Skanska AB.
Will leave his post in connection with
retirement on 15 September 2001.
Chairman and member of the JM Board
since 1998.Member of the Royal Swedish
Academy of Engineering Sciences, IVA.
Shareholding in JM:1,000 shares

Carl Eric Stålberg,born 1951,
M.B.A.President and CEO of JM AB.
Member of the JM Board since 1996.
Deputy Chairman of the First National
Pension Fund.Board member of the
Federation of Swedish Building Contractors
and Max Matthiessen AB.
Shareholding in JM:32,000 shares
Convertibles corresponding to 9,660 shares

Bertil Tiusanen,born 1949,
M.B.A.President and CEO of 
Protegrity Incorporated,USA.
Member of the JM Board since 1998.
Board member of Apoteket AB.
Shareholding in JM:300 shares

Anders Nyrén,born 1954,
M.B.A.President and CEO of  AB Industri-
värden as of 3 May 2001 (former Executive
Vice President of Skanska  AB).
Member of the JM Board since 1998.
Board member of Mynta AB.
Shareholding in JM:1,000 shares

Per Olofsson,born 1940,
B.Sc.Trade and Industry Coordinator in
connection with Sweden’s Chairmanship of
the EU Council as of 31 December 2000
(former President of the Swedish Federa-
tion of Industries).
Member of the JM Board since 1998.
Board member of Askus AB,MPI Teknik AB
Bestino and Webanalys.
Shareholding in JM:300 shares

Monica Lindstedt,born 1953,
M.B.A,President and founder of Hemfrid 
i Sverige AB.
Member of the JM Board since 1999.
Board member of Systembolaget,Malmbergs 
Elektriska AB and Capio AB.
Shareholding in JM:200 shares

Leif Lundell,born 1939,
Electrician, employee representative.
Member of the JM Board since 1977.
Shareholding in JM:400 shares
Convertibles corresponding to 644 shares

Lennart Nordlinder,born 1936,
Structural engineer,employee representative.
Member of the JM Board since 1977.
Shareholding in JM:0 shares
Convertibles corresponding to 3,225 shares

Evert Johansson,born 1938,
Carpenter, employee representative.
Deputy member of the JM Board since 1986.
Shareholding in JM:5 shares
Convertibles corresponding to 322 shares

Ingrid Bäck,born 1945,
Accountant, employee representative.
Deputy member of the JM Board since 1990.
Shareholding in JM:250 shares
Convertibles corresponding to 1,610 shares

BOARD SECRETARY
Urban Lilja,
Senior Legal Advisor at JM AB.
Shareholding in JM:30,000 shares
Convertibles corresponding to 9,660 shares

AUDITORS
Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB
Bertil Johanson,
Head auditor, Authorized Public Accountant

Ulf Westerberg,
Authorized Public Accountant

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Shareholdings pertain to personal holdings of shares and shares owned by immediate family member as per 28 February 2001.

JM AB  Annual Report 2000
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Carl Eric Stålberg 

Urban Lilja 

Göran Malmberg

Sten Hamberg

Magnus Key 

Lennart Henriz

Lars Fränne

Ragnar Hedin

Claes Magnus Åkesson 

Peggy Häggqvist 

Johan Skoglund
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REGIONAL AND SUBSIDIARY MANAGERS
BUSINESS UNIT STOCKHOLM RESIDENTIAL
Sten Lindberg, Stockholm Central
Åke Nilsson, Stockholm Inner City
Magnus Berg, Stockholm North
Sören Bergström,Stockholm South
Mats Åkerlind, JM Stombyggnad AB
and JM Inredning AB

REGIONAL AND SUBSIDIARY MANAGERS
BUSINESS UNIT STOCKHOLM COMMERCIAL
Göran Sjöborg,Project Development/Real Estate
Olle Lång,Contracting Stockholm
Ove Sandin,Civil Engineering
Nils-Erik Häggström,Olle Timblads Målerifirma AB
Jan Olov Sundström, AB Projektgaranti

REGIONAL MANAGERS,
BUSINESS UNIT SWEDEN
Zdravko Markovski,Uppland
Sture Emanuelsson,Central
Mats Karlsson,Eastern
Leif Larsson,Mälardalen
Anders Lundberg,Western
Anders Wahrer, Southern

REGIONAL AND SUBSIDIARY MANAGERS
BUSINESS UNIT BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT/
REAL ESTATE
Eva Eriksson,Transaction and Analysis
Bo Jacobsson,Property Management and
JM Seniorfastigheter AB
Birgitta Seman, AB Borätt
Christer Lindmark, Seniorgården AB
Sten Hamberg,New Business Concepts

SUBSIDIARY MANAGERS
BUSINESS UNIT INTERNATIONAL
Eilert Flågan,Byggholt as,
Oslo,Norway
Thor Olaf Askjer, AS Prosjektfinans,
Tønsberg,Norway
Morten G.Fossum, JM Danmark A/S,
Copenhagen,Denmark
Thure Landell, JM Construction S.A.,
Brussels,Belgium

FINANCE – TREASURY
Peter Kindstrand,Financial Manager
Eva Nilsson,Group Treasurer

Carl Eric Stålberg
President and CEO.
Shareholding in JM:32,000 shares
Convertibles corresponding 
to 9,660 shares

Magnus Key
Executive Vice President and Head of 
Business Unit Stockholm Commercial.
Shareholding in JM:36,000 shares
Convertibles corresponding 
to 9,660 shares

Claes Magnus Åkesson
Chief Financial Officer
Shareholding in JM:31,000 shares
Convertibles corresponding 
to 9,660 shares

Urban Lilja
Legal Affairs/Land Development
Shareholding in JM:30,000 shares
Convertibles corresponding 
to 9,660 shares

Lennart Henriz
Business Support (IT/Purchasing/
Quality and Environment).
Shareholding in JM:800
Convertibles corresponding 
to 6,439 shares

Peggy Häggqvist
Corporate Communications
Shareholding in JM:0
Convertibles corresponding 
to 2,576 shares

Göran Malmberg
Human Resources
Shareholding in JM:0 
Convertibles corresponding 
to 2,576 shares

Lars Fränne
Business Unit Stockholm Residential
Shareholding in JM:5,050 shares
Convertibles corresponding 
to 1,288 shares

Johan Skoglund
Business Unit Sweden
Shareholding in JM:0 shares
Convertibles corresponding 
to 3,200 shares

Sten Hamberg
Business Unit Business Development/Real Estate
Shareholding in JM:0 
Convertibles corresponding 
to 16,080 shares

Ragnar Hedin
Business Unit International
Shareholding in JM:1,000 shares
Convertibles corresponding 
to 8,000 shares

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

OTHER SENIOR EXECUTIVES
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GROUP

Appreciation surpluses before deferred tax 
in management properties

The difference between the market val-
ues and book values of the management
properties.
Result 2000: MSEK 3,174

Asset turnover rate

The year’s net sales divided by average
total assets.
Result 2000: 6,849/11,237 = 0.61 times

Capital employed

Total visible shareholders’ equity plus
interest-bearing liabilities and provisions.
Result 2000: 3,770+5,610 = MSEK 9,380

Debt/equity ratio

Interest-bearing net debt in relation to
reported shareholders’ equity.
Result 2000: 5,117/3,770 = 1.4 times

Development properties

See section on development properties
under accounting and valuation princi-
ples.
Result 2000: MSEK 3,105

Earnings per share after tax

Profit after tax divided by the average
number of shares outstanding.
Result 2000: 844,875/33,241,000 x 1,000
= SEK 25.40

EBIT – multiple

Total market capitalization and interest-
bearing net debt divided by operating
profit (profit before financial items).
Result 2000: (6,947+5,117)/
1,518 = 7.9 times

Interest-bearing net debt

Interest-bearing liabilities and provisions
less liquid assets and interest-bearing
receivables.
Result 2000: MSEK 5,610–446–47=
MSEK 5,117 

Interest coverage ratio

Profit after depreciation and financial in-
come (including property sales) in relation
to financial expense.
Result 2000: (1,518+30)/339 = 4.6 times

Management properties 

See section on management properties
under accounting and valuation princi-
ples.
Result 2000: MSEK 6,445

Net sales

Total recognized income according to the
percentage of completion method, plus
rental revenue and interest subsidies.
Result 2000: 5,990+849+10 = 
MSEK 6,849

Profit from project development

Profit after selling and administrative
expenses and property sales in the busi-
ness units Stockholm Residential, Swe-
den, Stockholm Commercial and Inter-
national. Operating nets from manage-
ment properties in Stockholm Commer-
cial are eliminated.
Result 2000: MSEK 637

Progress billings in excess of recognized income

Invoicing less recognized income.
Result 2000: – 

Project development margin

Profit from project development divided
by net sales (excluding rental revenue
from management properties in the busi-
ness units Stockholm Commercial and
Business Development/Real Estate).
Result 2000: 637/6,195 = 10.3 per cent

Recognized income according to the
percentage of completion method

Production costs incurred plus recog-
nized net contribution.
Result 2000: MSEK 5,990
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Recognized income less progress billing

Recognized income less invoicing.
Result 2000: MSEK 244

Return on capital employed before tax

Profit before tax with reversal of financial
expenses in relation to average capital
employed. 
Result 2000: 1,548/9,269 = 16.7 per cent

Return on shareholders’ equity after tax

Profit after tax in relation to average
shareholders’ equity.
Result 2000: 845/3,457 = 24.4 per cent

Return on total capital before tax

Profit before tax with reversal of finan-
cial expenses in relation to average total
assets.
Result 2000: 1,548/11,237 = 13.8 per cent

Shareholders’ equity

Reported shareholders’ equity according
to the balance sheet.
Result 2000: MSEK 3,770

Visible equity ratio

Visible shareholders’ equity in relation to
total assets.
Result 2000: 3,770/11,424 = 33 per cent

BUSINESS UNITS

Margin per business unit

Profit before property sales divided by
net sales.

Operating capital

Total book values of management prop-
erties, development properties, good-
will and accounts receivable minus ac-
counts payable and plus/minus project
balances.

Profit

Profit in the business units is reported
before financial items.

Return on operating capital

Profit before financial items divided by
average operating capital.
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“To create attractive living and working

environments that satisfy individual

needs both today and in the future.”

jm’s business concept
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